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INDIA CARBON LIMITED
Regd. Office: Noonmati, Guwahati -781020, Assam

CIN: L23101AS1961PLC001173
Tel: (033)22487856/9; Fax: 91-33-2230-7507

Email: icl@indiacarbonltd.com • Website: www.indiacarbonltd.com

NOTICE

NOTICE is hereby given that the 63rd Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Members of INDIA 
CARBON LIMITED will be held on Thursday, 18th September, 2025 at 11.00 A.M. (IST) through Video 
Conferencing (“VC”) or other Audio-Visual Means (“OAVM”) to transact the following business: -

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1.	 Adoption of Financial Statements:

	 To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Balance Sheet of the Company as at 31st March, 2025, 
the Profit & Loss Statement and Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31st March, 2025 & notes on 
financial statements together with the Reports of the Board of Directors and Auditors thereon.

2.	 Appointment of Mr. Gordon Kenneth Mcintosh as a Director, liable to retire by rotation:

	 To appoint Mr. Gordon Kenneth Mcintosh (DIN: 02244237), who retires by rotation and being eligible, 
offers himself for re-appointment. 

3.	 Appointment of Mr. Tony William Grims as a Director, liable to retire by rotation:

	 To appoint Mr. Tony William Grims (DIN: 07590220), who retires by rotation and being eligible, offers 
himself for re-appointment. 

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

4.	 To ratify the remuneration of Cost Auditor for the Financial Year ending 31st March, 2026:

	 To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an ORDINARY RESOLUTION:

	 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 148 and read with Section 141 of the Companies Act, 2013, M/s 
BSS & Associates (Firm Regd. No - 001066), Cost Accountants, be and is hereby appointed as the Cost 
Auditors of the Company to conduct audit of cost accounting records maintained by the Company 
for products(s) /services(s) for the financial year ending on 31st March, 2026, at a remuneration of 
Rs.27,000/- plus applicable taxes and out of pocket expenses, if any;

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any of the Directors/Company Secretary/CFO be and are hereby severally 
authorized to sign and submit the necessary application and file forms and to do all such acts as may 
be necessary and ancillary in this regard and also to issue a certified copy of the resolution to anyone 
concerned or interested in the matter.”

5.	 Appointment of Secretarial Auditors:

	 To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an ORDINARY RESOLUTION:

	 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and other applicable provisions, 
if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) and the Companies (Appointment & Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 (‘the Rules’), including any statutory modification(s) or re-
enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force, Regulation 24A of the Securities and Exchange 
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Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as amended from 
time to time and SEBI Circular no.: SEBI/LAD-NRO/GN/2024/218 dated 12th December, 2024 and 
based on the recommendation made by the Board of Directors, M/s. Mahata Agarwal & Associates, 
Practicing Company Secretaries (Unique No. P2021WB088100) be and are hereby appointed as 
Secretarial Auditor of the Company, who shall hold office from the conclusion of the 63rd Annual 
General Meeting till the conclusion 68th Annual General Meeting i.e. for a term of five consecutive 
years at a remuneration as may be mutually agreed to, between the Board of Directors and M/s. 
Mahata Agarwal & Associates,  plus applicable taxes and reimbursement of travelling and out of 
pocket expenses in connection with the work of audit to be carried out by them;

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the Company, be and are hereby authorized 
to revise/ alter/ modify/ amend the terms and conditions and/or remuneration, from time to time, as 
may be mutually agreed with the Secretarial Auditor, during the tenure of their appointment;

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any of the Directors/Company Secretary/CFO be and are hereby severally 
authorized to sign and submit the necessary application and file forms and to do all such acts as may 
be necessary and ancillary in this regard and also to issue a certified copy of the resolution to anyone 
concerned or interested in the matter.”

Kolkata, 8th August, 2025	 On behalf of the Board of Directors,
Registered Office: 	 Sd/- 
Noonmati, Guwahati 781 020, Assam 	 Rakesh Himatsingka
CIN: L23101AS1961PLC001173 	 (DIN: 00632156)
Email: icl@indiacarbonltd.com  	 Chairman & Managing Director                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                                                                                                  

NOTICE (Contd.)
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NOTES: (Forming part of Notice convening the said 63rd Annual General Meeting):

1.	 As per the guidelines issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) vide Circular No. 14/2020 
dated April 8, 2020, Circular No.17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 
2020 and Circular No 02/2021 dated January 13,2021 and circular no. 02/2022 dated May 05,2022, 
Circular No. 10/2022 dated December 28, 2022, circular no.09/2023 dated September 25, 2023  and by 
issuing the latest Circular no. 09/2024 dated September 19, 2024, MCA has extended the time period 
for conducting AGM / EGM or passing of Ordinary/ Special Resolution through “Video Conferencing” 
till 30th September 2025. The forthcoming AGM will thus be conducted through video conferencing 
(VC) or other audio-visual means (OAVM). Hence, members can attend and participate the ensuing 
AGM through VC/OAVM. 

2.	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the 
Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended) and Regulation 44 of SEBI 
(Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (as amended), and MCA Circulars 
dated April 08, 2020, April 13, 2020, May 05, 2020, May 05, 2022, December 28, 2022 , September 25, 
2023 and September 19, 2024 the Company is providing facility of remote e-voting to its Members 
in respect of the business to be transacted at the ensuing AGM. For this purpose, the Company has 
entered into an agreement with Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) for facilitating 
voting through electronic means, as the authorized e-Voting’s agency. The facility for casting votes 
by a member through remote e-voting and as well as the facility for e-voting system on the date of 
the AGM will also be provided by CDSL.

3.	 The Members can join the AGM through VC/OAVM mode prior to 15 minutes of the scheduled time of 
the commencement of the AGM by following the procedure mentioned in this Notice. The facility of 
participation at the ensuing AGM through VC/OAVM will be made available to at least 1000 members 
on first come first served basis. This will not include large Shareholders (Shareholders holding 2% 
or more shareholding), Promoters, Institutional Investors, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, the 
Chairpersons of the Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, CSR Committee 
and Stakeholders Relationship Committee, Auditors etc. who are allowed to attend the AGM without 
any restriction on account of first come first served basis.

4.	 The attendance of the Members attending the AGM through VC/OAVM will be counted for the 
purpose of ascertaining the quorum under Section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013.

5.	 Pursuant to MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, the facility to appoint proxy to attend and 
cast vote for the members is not available for this AGM. However, in pursuance of Section 112 and 
Section 113 of the Companies Act, 2013, representatives of the members such as the President of 
India or the Governor of a State or Body Corporate can attend the AGM through VC/OAVM and cast 
their votes through e-voting.

6.	 In line with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) Circular No. 17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, the 
Notice calling the AGM has been uploaded on the website of the Company at www.indiacarbonltd.
com. The Notice calling AGM can also be accessed from the websites of the Stock Exchanges i.e. The 
Calcutta Stock Exchange Ltd at www.cse-india.com.  The AGM Notice is also disseminated on the 
website of CDSL (agency for providing the Remote e-Voting facility and e-voting system during the 
AGM) i.e., www.evotingindia.com.

7.	 The AGM has been convened through VC/OAVM in compliance with applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 8, 2020 and MCA Circular No. 

NOTICE (Contd.)
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17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, MCA Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020 and MCA Circular No. 
02/2022 dated May 05,2022, Circular No 10/2022 dated December 28, 2022, Circular No 09/2023 
dated September 25, 2023 and 09/ 2024 dated September 19, 2024.

7.	 In accordance with the latest being circular no. 09/2024 dated September 19, 2024, which allowed 
Companies whose AGMs are due in the year 2025, can conduct their AGM through video conferencing 
till 30th September, 2025. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (‘SEBI’) also vide its Circular 
No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD2/ CIR/P/2022/62 dated 13th May, 2022 (“SEBI Circulars) had provided the 
relaxation up to 31st December, 2022. This date has been further extended up to 30th September, 
2025 vide its SEBI/HO/CFD/CFD-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/133 dated October 03, 2024 for complying of 
Regulation 36(1)(b) and Regulation 44(4) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”). In light of the aforesaid Circulars, provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (LODR) Regulation, 2015, the 63rd AGM of the Company is being 
conducted through VC/OAVM, which does not require physical presence of members at a common 
venue. The Members can attend and participate in the AGM through VC/OAVM and no physical copy 
of Annual Report 2024-25 will be sent to the members/shareholders.

INTRUCTIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS FOR E-VOTING AND FOR JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS ARE AS 
UNDER:

Step 1	 : Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL e-Voting system in case of individual shareholders 
holding shares in demat mode. 

Step 2	 : Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical                     
mode and non-individual shareholders in demat mode. 

(i)	 The voting will begin on 15th September, 2025, Monday at 9:00 a.m. (IST) and ends on 17th 
September, 2025, Wednesday at 5:00 p.m. (IST). During this period shareholders of the Company, 
holding shares either in physical or dematerialized form as on cut-off date (record date) i.e., 11th 
day of September, 2025 may cast their vote electronically. The e-voting module will thereafter be 
disabled by CDSL for voting.

(ii)	 Shareholders who have already voted prior to the meeting date would not be entitled to vote at the 
meeting venue.

(iii)	 Pursuant to SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated 09.12.2020 read 
with Regulation 44 of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, listed entities are required to provide remote e-voting facility 
to its shareholders, in respect of all shareholders’ resolutions. However, it was observed that the 
participation by the public non-institutional shareholders/retail shareholders is at a negligible level. 
There were multiple e-voting service providers (ESPs) providing e-voting facility to listed entities 
in India. This necessitates registration on various ESPs and maintenance of multiple user IDs and 
passwords by the shareholders. 

	 Hence, for increasing the efficiency of the voting process, it was decided to enable e-voting to all 
the demat account holders, by way of a single login credential, through their demat accounts/ 
websites of Depositories/ Depository Participants. Demat account holders would be able to cast 
their vote without having to register again with the ESPs, thereby, not only facilitating seamless 
authentication but also enhancing ease and convenience of participating in e-voting process. 

NOTICE (Contd.)
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Step 1: Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL e-Voting system in case of individual shareholders 
holding shares in demat mode. 

(i)	 In terms of SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated December 9, 2020, e-Voting 
facility provided by Listed Companies for Individual shareholders holding securities in demat mode 
are allowed to vote through their demat account maintained with Depositories and Depository 
Participants. Shareholders are advised to update their mobile number and email Id in their demat 
accounts in order to access e-Voting facility.

	 Pursuant to the above Circular, Login method for e-Voting and for joining virtual meetings by 
Individual shareholders holding securities in Demat mode CDSL/NSDL is as follows:

Type of 
shareholders

  Login Method

Individual 
Shareholders 
holding 
securities in 
Demat mode 
with CDSL 
Depository

1)	 Users who have opted for CDSL Easi / Easiest facility, can login through their existing 
user id and password. Option will be made available for reaching the e-Voting page 
without any further authentication. The URL for users to login to Easi / Easiest are 
https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/home/login or you may also visit  www.cdslindia.
com and click on Login icon and select New System Myeasi.

2) 	 After successful login the Easi / Easiest user will be able to see the e-Voting option for 
eligible Companies where the e-voting is in progress as per the information provided 
by Companies. On clicking the e-voting option, the user will be able to see e-Voting 
page of the e-Voting service provider for casting vote during the remote e-Voting 
period or for joining virtual meeting & voting during the AGM. Additionally, links are 
also been provided to access the system of all e-Voting Service Providers i.e., CDSL/
NSDL/KARVY/LINKINTIME, so that the user can visit the e-Voting service providers’ 
website directly.

3)	 If the user is not registered at Easi/Easiest then option for registering is available at 
https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/Registration/EasiRegistration.

4)	 Alternatively, the user can directly access the e-Voting page by providing Demat 
Account Number and PAN No. through an e-Voting link available at  www.cdslindia.
com home page or you may also click on https://evoting.cdslindia.com/Evoting/
EvotingLogin. The system will authenticate the user through an OTP to be sent at 
your registered Mobile & Email Id as recorded in the Demat Account. After successful 
authentication, user will be able to see the e-Voting option where the e-voting is in 
progress and also be able to directly access the system of all e-Voting service providers.

Individual 
Shareholders 
holding 
securities in 
demat mode 
with NSDL 
Depository

1)	 If you are already registered at NSDL IDeAS facility then please visit the e-Services 
website of NSDL. Open the web browser by typing the following URL: https://
eservices.nsdl.com either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once the home 
page of e-Services is launched, click on the “Beneficial Owner” icon under “Login” 
which is available under ‘IDeAS’ section and a new screen will be opened. You will 
have to enter your User ID and Password. After successful authentication, you will 
be able to see a tab as e-Voting services. Please click on “Access to e-Voting” under 
e-Voting services and you will be directed to the e-Voting page. Click on company 
name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be re-directed to e-Voting 
service provider website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or 
for joining virtual meeting and as well for voting during the AGM.

NOTICE (Contd.)
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2)	 If you are not registered at IDeAS e-Services then the option for registering is available 
at https://eservices.nsdl.com.  Select “Register Online for IDeAS Portal” or click   at 
https://eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/IdeasDirectReg.jsp. 

3)	 Please visit the e-Voting website of NSDL by typing the following URL: https://www.
evoting.nsdl.com/ either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once the home 
page of e-Voting system is launched, click on the icon “Login” which is available 
under ‘Shareholder/Member’ section and a new screen will be opened. You will 
have to enter your User ID (i.e., your sixteen-digit demat account number hold with 
NSDL), Password/OTP and a Verification Code as shown on the screen. After successful 
authentication, you will be redirected to NSDL Depository site wherein you can see 
the e-Voting page. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name and 
you will be redirected to e-Voting service provider website for casting your vote 
during the remote e-Voting period or for joining virtual meeting & for voting during 
the AGM.

Individual 
Shareholders 
(holding 
securities 
in demat 
mode) login 
through their 
Depository 
Participants 
(DP)

1) 	 You can also login using the login credentials of your demat account through your 
Depository Participant registered with NSDL/CDSL for e-Voting facility.  After Successful 
login, you will be able to see e-Voting option. Once you click on e-Voting option, 
you will be redirected to NSDL/CDSL Depository site after successful authentication, 
wherein you can see e-Voting feature. Click on company name or e-Voting service 
provider name and you will be redirected to e-Voting service provider website for 
casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & 
voting during the meeting.

Important note: Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget User 
ID and Forget Password option available at abovementioned website.

Helpdesk for Individual Shareholders holding securities in demat mode for any technical issues 
related to login through Depository i.e., CDSL and NSDL

Login type Helpdesk details
Individual Shareholders holding 
securities in Demat mode with CDSL

Members facing any technical issue for logging in can contact 
CDSL helpdesk by sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@
cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 22 55 33.

Individual Shareholders holding 
securities in Demat mode with NSDL

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact NSDL 
helpdesk by sending a request at evoting@nsdl.co.in or call at 
toll free no.: 022 - 4886 7000 and 022 - 2499 7000.

Step 2: Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical mode 
and non-individual shareholders in demat mode.

(i)	 Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for Physical shareholders and shareholders 
other than individual holding shares in Demat form.

	 a)	 The shareholders should log in to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com.
	 b)	 Click on “Shareholders” module.
	 c)	 Now enter your User ID. 

		  i)	 For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID.

NOTICE (Contd.)
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		  ii)	 For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID.
		  iii)	 Shareholders holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with the 

Company.

	 d)	 Thereafter, enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.

	 e) 	 If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted 
on an earlier e-voting of any Company, then your existing password is to be used. 

	 f ) 	 If you are a first-time user then follow the steps given herein below:

Particulars For Physical shareholders and other than individual shareholders holding 
shares in Demat.

PAN Enter your 10-digit alpha-numeric *PAN issued by Income Tax Department 
(Applicable for both demat shareholders as well as physical shareholders).

•		  Shareholders who have not updated their PAN with the Company/Depository 
Participant are requested to use the sequence number sent by Company/RTA 
or contact Company/RTA.

Dividend 
Bank Details

OR Date of 
Birth (DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as 
recorded in your demat account or in the company records in order to login.

•		  If both the details are not recorded with the depository or Company, please 
enter the member id / folio number in the Dividend Bank details field.

		  (ii)	 After entering these details appropriately, click on the “SUBMIT” tab.

		  (iii)	 Shareholders holding shares in physical form will then directly reach the Company selection 
screen. However, shareholders holding shares in demat form will now reach at ‘Password 
Creation’ menu wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their login password in the 
new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be also used by the demat holders for 
voting for resolutions of any other Company on which they are also eligible to vote, provided 
that the Company opts for e-voting through CDSL platform. It is strongly recommended not 
to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your password 
confidential.

		  (iv)	 For shareholders holding shares in physical form, the details can only be used for e-voting on 
the resolutions contained in this Notice.

		  (v)	 Click on the EVSN for relevant with “India Carbon Ltd” and on which you choose to vote. 

		  (vi)	 On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against which the 
option for “YES/NO” will be available for voting. Select the option YES or NO as desired. The 
option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution and option NO implies that you dissent 
to the Resolution.

		  (vii)		Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire resolution in detail.

		  (viii)	After selecting the resolution, you have decided to vote on, please click on “SUBMIT” tab. 
A confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “OK”, else to 
change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and you may modify your vote accordingly.

		  (ix)		 Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your 
vote.

NOTICE (Contd.)

http://www.evotingindia.com


Notice Statutory Report Financial Section

Annual Report 2024-25 || 9

		  (x)		 You can also take a print of the votes cast by clicking on “CLICK HERE TO PRINT” option on 
the Voting page.

		  (xi)		  If a demat account holder has forgotten the login password then Enter the User ID and 
the image verification code and click on “FORGOT PASSWORD” tab & enter the details as 
prompted by the system.

		  (xii)		There is also an optional provision to upload BR/POA if any uploaded, which will be made 
available to scrutinizer for verification.

		  (xiii)	Additional Facility for Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians –For Remote 
e-Voting only

			   •	 Non-Individual shareholders (i.e., other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodians 
are required to log on to www.evotingindia.com and register themselves in the 
“CORPORATES” module. Non-Individual shareholders (i.e., other than Individuals, HUF, 
NRI etc.) and Custodians are required to log on to www.evotingindia.com and register 
themselves in the “CORPORATES” module.

			   • 	 A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity should 
be emailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.

			   • 	 After receiving the login details a Compliance User should be created using the admin 
login and password. The Compliance User would be able to link the account(s) for which 
they wish to vote on.

			   • 	 The list of accounts linked in the login will be mapped automatically & can also be 
delinked, in case of any wrong mapping.

			   • 	 It is Mandatory that a scanned copy of the Board Resolution (BR) and Power of Attorney 
(POA) which they have issued in favor of the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in 
PDF format in the system for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

			   • 	 Alternatively, Non Individual shareholders are required mandatory to send the relevant 
Board Resolution/ Authorization letter etc. together with attested specimen signature 
of the duly authorized signatory who are authorized to vote, to the Scrutinizer and to 
the Company at the email address viz; compliance@indiacarbonltd.com, if they have 
voted through individual tab & not uploaded same in the CDSL e-voting system for the 
scrutinizer to verify the same.

NOTICE (Contd.)
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS ATTENDING THE AGM THROUGH VC/OAVM & E-VOTING 
DURING AGM ARE AS UNDER:

1.	 The procedure for attending AGM & e-Voting on the day of the AGM is same as the instructions 
mentioned herein above for e-voting.

2.	 The link for VC/OAVM to attend meeting will be available where the EVSN of Company will be displayed 
after successful login as per the instructions mentioned herein above for e-voting. Shareholders who 
have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the meeting. However, they will not 
be eligible to vote at the AGM. 

3.	 Shareholders are encouraged to join the AGM through Laptops / IPads for better experience.

4.	 Shareholders will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good speed to avoid any 
disturbance during the meeting.

5.	 Please note that Participants Connecting through Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop 
connecting via Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss due to fluctuation in their respective 
network. It is therefore recommended to use Stable Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to mitigate any kind of 
aforesaid technical glitches.

6.	 Shareholders who would like to express their views/ask questions during the meeting may register 
themselves as a speaker by sending their request in advance at least 10 days prior to meeting 
mentioning their name, demat account number/folio number, email id, mobile number at 
compliance@indiacarbonltd.com. The shareholders who do not wish to speak during the AGM but 
have queries may also send their queries in advance 10 days prior to meeting mentioning their 
name, demat account number/folio number, email id, mobile number at compliance@indiacarbonltd.
com. These queries will be duly replied by the company by email. 

7.	 Those shareholders who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be allowed to express 
their views and for asking questions during the AGM.

8.	 Only those shareholders, who are present in the AGM through VC/OAVM facility and have not casted 
their vote on the Resolutions through remote e-Voting and are otherwise not barred from doing so, 
shall be eligible to vote through e-Voting system available during the AGM.

9.	 If any Votes are cast by the shareholders through the e-voting available during the AGM and if the 
same shareholders have not participated in the meeting through VC/OAVM facility, then the votes 
cast by such shareholders may be considered as invalid in view of that the facility for e-voting during 
the AGM is only available for those shareholders attending the AGM.

PROCESS FOR THOSE SHAREHOLDERS WHOSE EMAIL/MOBILE NO. ARE NOT REGISTERED WITH 
THE COMPANY/DEPOSITORIES:

1. 	 For Physical shareholders, please provide necessary details like Folio No., Name of shareholder, 
scanned copy of the share certificate (front and back), PAN (self-attested scanned copy of PAN card), 
AADHAR (self-attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) by email to the Company/RTA email id.

2. 	 For Demat shareholders, please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository 
Participant (DP).

3. 	 For Individual Demat shareholders, please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective 
Depository Participant (DP) which is mandatory for e-Voting & joining virtual meetings through 
Depository.

NOTICE (Contd.)
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If you have any queries or issues regarding attending AGM & e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting 
System, you can write an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or may contact at toll free no. 
1800 22 55 33.

All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be addressed to Mr. 
Rakesh Dalvi, Sr. Manager, (CDSL, ) Central Depository Services (India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, 
Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill Compounds, N M Joshi Marg, Lower Parel (East), Mumbai - 400013 or 
send an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com  or call  at toll free no.1800 22 55 33.

Other Information:

1. 	 Those persons, who have acquired shares and have become members of the Company after the 
dispatch of Notice of the AGM by the Company and whose names appear in the Register of Members 
or Register of beneficial holders as on the cut-off date i.e., Thursday, 11th September, 2025 shall view 
the Notice of the 63rd AGM on the Company’s website or on the website of CDSL. Such persons may 
obtain the login ID and password by sending an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com. However, 
if he/she is already registered with CDSL for remote e-voting then he/she can cast his/her vote by 
using existing User ID and password and by following the procedure as mentioned above or by 
voting at the AGM.

2. 	 Voting rights of the members shall be in proportion to their shares in the paid-up equity share capital 
of the Company as on the cut-off date i.e., Thursday, 11th September, 2025. A person who is not a 
member as on the cut-off date should treat this Notice for the purposes of information only.

3. 	 Every Client ID No./ Folio No. will have one vote, irrespective of number of joint holders.

Scrutinizer’s Report and Declaration of results:

1. 	 M/s. Mahata Agarwal & Associates (Unique No.-P2021WB088100), Practicing Company Secretaries of 
Kolkata, have been appointed as Scrutinizer for conducting the process of e-voting of the 63rd Annual 
General Meeting of the Company in a fair and transparent manner. The Scrutinizer shall, after the 
conclusion of e-voting at the AGM, first count the votes cast vide e-voting at the AGM and thereafter 
shall, unblock the votes cast through remote e-voting, in the presence of at least two witnesses not 
in the employment of the Company. He shall submit a Consolidated Scrutinizer’s Report of the total 
votes cast in favor or against, not later than 2 (two) working days of the conclusion of the AGM, to the 
Chairman or a person authorized by him in writing who shall countersign the same and declare the 
result of the voting forthwith.

2. 	 The results declared along with the Scrutinizer’s Report shall be placed on the Company’s website 
www.indiacarbonltd.com and on the website of CDSL i.e., www.evotingindia.com. The Company 
shall simultaneously forward the results to The Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited, where the shares of 
the Company are listed.

3. 	 In terms of the provisions of Sections 124 and 125 of the Act, dividend which remains unpaid/ 
unclaimed for a period of 7 (seven) years from the date of declaration is required to be transferred to 
the Investor Education and Protection Fund (“IEPF”) established by the Central Government. Further, 
in terms of the provisions of Section 124 of the Act read with the Investor Education and Protection 
Fund Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016 (“IEPF Rules”), Equity Shares, in 
respect of which dividend has not been paid or claimed for 7 (seven) consecutive years or more from 
the date of declaration, are also required be transferred to an account i.e., IEPF Suspense Account, 
which is operated by the IEPF Authority pursuant to the IEPF Rules. All equity shares of the Company 
on which dividend has not been paid or claimed for 7 (seven) consecutive years or more, shall be 
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transferred by the Company to the IEPF from time to time. Details of unpaid / unclaimed dividend 
and equity shares transferred to IEPF are uploaded on the website of the Company as well as that of 
the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India (“MCA”), if any. No claim shall lie against the 
Company in respect of unclaimed dividend amount and equity shares transferred to the IEPF and 
IEPF Suspense Account, respectively, pursuant to the IEPF Rules. Shareholders can however claim 
both the unclaimed dividend amount and the equity shares from the IEPF Authority by making an 
online application in e- Form No. IEPF-5, the details of which are available at www.iepf.gov.in.

	 • 	 In terms of the provisions of Regulation 40 of SEBI Listing Regulations and various notifications 
issued in that regard, requests for effecting transfer of securities (except in case of transmission 
or transposition of securities) could not be processed since 1 April, 2019 unless the securities 
are held in the dematerialized form with the depositories. In view of the same, Shareholders are 
requested to take action to dematerialize their Equity Shares in the Company promptly.

	 • 	 SEBI has mandated the submission of Permanent Account Number (PAN) by every participant in 
securities market. Shareholders holding shares in dematerialized form are, therefore, requested 
to submit their PAN to the Depository Participants with whom they maintain their demat 
accounts. Shareholders holding shares in physical mode should also submit their PAN to the 
Company/ RTA.

	 • 	 Shareholders are requested to intimate changes, if any, pertaining to their name, postal address, 
Email ID, telephone / mobile numbers, PAN, mandates, nominations, power of attorney, bank 
details (such as name of the bank and branch details, bank account number, MICR code, IFSC 
code, etc.), with necessary documentary evidence, to their Depository Participants in case the 
shares are held by them in dematerialized form and to the Company/ RTA, in case the shares are 
held by them in physical mode.

	 • 	 In terms of the provisions of Section 72 of the Act, the facility for making nomination is available 
for the shareholders in respect of the shares held by them in the Company. Shareholders who 
have not yet registered their nomination are requested to register the same by submitting Form 
No. SH-13. Shareholders holding shares in dematerialized form are requested to submit the 
said details to their respective Depository Participant(s) and the Shareholders holding shares in 
physical form, are requested to submit the said details to the RTA/Company.

	 • 	 Shareholders are requested to quote their Folio No. or DP ID – Client ID, as the case may be, in all 
correspondence with the Company/RTA.

NOTICE (Contd.)
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 102 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013:

ITEM NO. 4

As per Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, the 
Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014 and any changes/ modifications in the Act, Rules, 
Circulars, Notifications thereafter the Audit Committee has made a recommendation to the Board for 
appointment of M/s BSS & Associates (Firm Regd. No- 001066), Cost Accountants as Cost Auditor of 
the Company for the financial year ending on 31st March 2026 at a remuneration of Rs.27,000/- plus 
applicable taxes and out of pocket expenses, if any. The Board based on the recommendation of the 
Audit Committee appointed M/s. BSS & Associates (Firm Regd. No- 001066), Cost Accountants as Cost 
Auditor of the Company for the financial year ending 31st March 2026. As per Rule 14 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 the remuneration recommended by the Audit Committee which was 
considered and approved by the Board of Directors needs to be subsequently ratified by the shareholders.

The Board of Directors recommends the Ordinary Resolution, as set out at Item No.4 of the Notice, for 
approval by the Members.

Memorandum of Interest:

None of the Directors of the Company and Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives are concerned or 
interested in the above resolution financial or otherwise.

ITEM NO. 5 

As per Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Appointment & Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014 including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force 
and  Regulation 24A of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as amended from time to time and SEBI Circular no.: SEBI/LAD-NRO/
GN/2024/218 dated 12th December, 2024, M/s. Mahata Agarwal & Associates, Practicing Company 
Secretaries (Unique No. P2021WB088100) appointed by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 
14th May, 2025, for a period of 5 consecutive years, commencing from the conclusion of the 63rd Annual 
General Meeting until the conclusion of 68th Annual General Meeting of the Company, at a remuneration 
as may be mutually agreed to, between the Board of Directors and M/s. Mahata Agarwal & Associates,  
plus applicable  taxes and reimbursement of travelling and out of pocket expenses in connection with 
the work of audit to be carried out by them.

They being eligible has given their consent to continue at their office if appointed for a period of 5(Five) 
consecutive years.

The Board of Directors recommends the Ordinary Resolution, as set out at Item No.5 of the Notice, for 
approval by the Members.

Memorandum of Interest:

None of the Directors of the Company and Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives are concerned or 
interested in the above resolution financial or otherwise.

NOTICE (Contd.)
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ANNEXURE TO NOTICE OF AGM

BRIEF PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS PROPOSED FOR APPOINTMENT/ REAPPOINTMENT

The details of the Directors seeking appointment/re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting in pursuance of the SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015

Name of the Director Mr. Tony William Grims  
(DIN: 07590220)

Mr. Gordon Kenneth 
McIntosh (DIN: 02244237)

Date of Birth 29th June, 1973 9th August, 1967
Date of Appointment 11.11.2016 29.06.2007
Expertise in Specific functional areas Accounting & Management Marketing
Qualifications Bachelor’s degree (4- year college 

degree) in Accounting from Lamar 
University in Texas.

B.A. Industrial Relations & 
Economics

Names of the listed Company in 
which he holds directorship

Nil Nil

Chairman/Member of the 
Committee of other Companies in 
which he is a director:

a.	 Audit Committee
b.	 Stakeholders’relationship 

Committee
c. Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Shareholding in the Company as on 
31.03.2025

Nil Nil

Disclosure of relationship between 
Directors inter-se

None None

Note:

•	 Directorship in Pvt. Ltd. Co.’s, Foreign Co.’s & Companies U/s 8 of the Companies Act, 2013 are 
excluded.

•	 Chairmanship/Membership of the Audit Committee, Stakeholder relationship Committee and 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee alone has been considered.

Kolkata, 8th August, 2025	 On behalf of the Board of Directors,
Registered Office: 	 Sd/- 
Noonmati, Guwahati 781 020, Assam 	 Rakesh Himatsingka
CIN: L23101AS1961PLC001173 	 (DIN: 00632156)
Email: icl@indiacarbonltd.com  	 Chairman & Managing Director                                                                                                                 

NOTICE (Contd.)
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FOR THE FINANCIAL  YEAR ENDED ON 31ST MARCH, 2025

To The Members,

Your directors are pleased to present the 63rd Annual Report on the business and operations of the 
Company along with Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the Financial Year ended 31st 
March, 2025 as follows:

1.	 FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE COMPANY:   

FINANCIAL RESULTS Financial Year
Ended 

31.03.2025
(Rs. in Lakh)

Financial Year
Ended 

31.03.2024
(Rs. in Lakh)

Revenue from Operations 17,452.97 42,039.12
Other Income 1,634.77 3,709.25
TOTAL INCOME 19,087.74 45,748.37
TOTAL EXPENSES 20,194.19 43,054.03
Profit / (Loss) Before Tax (1,106.44) 2,694.34
Less: Tax Expenses (Including Deferred Tax) 167.73 (333.91)
Profit / (Loss) After Tax (1274.18) 3,028.25
Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Tax 2,598.77 5,849.65
Total Comprehensive Income for the year 1,324.59 8,877.90

2.	 STATE OF COMPANY’S AFFAIRS:

	 During the financial years ended 31st March, 2025, your Company has achieved gross revenue from 
operations amounting to Rs. 17,452.97 Lakh, as against Rs. 42,039.12 Lakh in the previous financial 
year. This shows a decrease in the sales by 58.48% as compared to the previous financial year, majorly 
due to the following reasons:

	 ➢ 	 Sales volume was down by 33.32 % (Rs. - 146.64 crores). 

	 ➢ 	 Sales realisation was lower by 37.74 % (Rs. - 99.22 crores). 

	 Production of Calcined Petroleum Coke (CPC) & Electrode Carbon Paste (ECP) during the financial 
year under review is 46,743 MT & 4531 MT, as against 76,705 MT & 5335 MT in the previous financial 
year. This exhibits a decrease(-) in the production of CPC & ECP by 39.06% & 15.07% respectively, as 
compared to the previous financial year. 

	 Sales of CPC & ECP during the Financial Year under review are 41,989 MT & 4,672 MT, as compared to 
64,576 MT & 5,044 MT respectively in the previous financial year. This shows a decrease in the sales of 
CPC & ECP by 34.97% and 7.38% respectively.

	 Net worth as on financial year ended on 31.03.2025 is Rs. 534.50 Crores, as compared to Rs. 521.78 
Crores as on 31.03.2024.  This shows an increase by Rs. 12.72 crores, majorly due to:

	 Increase in: 

	 ➢	 Unrealised gain on Shares of M/s. Amines & Plasticizers Limited Rs. 25.99 crores (Rs 214.20 /Share 
Vs Rs. 165.40/ Share).

	 ➢ 	 Investment Gains and other Income Rs. 15.7 crores (Includes Unrealised Gain of Rs. 9.9 crores).

DIRECTORS OF THE REPORT
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	 Decrease in: 

	 ➢	 Operating Profit Before Tax (PBT) Negative Rs. -26.8 crores.

	 ➢	 Dividend Payment of Rs -0.53 crores during the financial year.

	 ➢	 Income tax includes Deferred Tax Rs. -1.68 crores.

	 The Operating loss during the financial year under review increased by Rs. 18.3 crores, majorly due to 
the net loss of Rs -5098/MT, as compared to Rs -1066/MT in the previous financial year. 

	 All of the above has resulted in a loss after tax amounting to (Rs.-12.74 Crores) during the financial 
year under review, as against a profit after tax Rs.30.28 Crores earned by the Company in the previous 
financial year.

3.	 OPERATION & FUTURE OUTLOOK:

	 The Guwahati plant operated for 130 days during the financial year 2024-2025, as against 234 days in 
the previous financial year. Budge Budge plant operated for 245 days during the year under review, 
as against 311 days in the previous financial year. 

	 India has overtaken Japan to become the world’s  4th largest economy, with its GDP surpassing 
$4 trillion and is expected to become the third-largest by 2028. This is a significant milestone in 
India’s economic journey, positioning it behind only the United States, China, and Germany. Morgan 
Stanley’s latest report forecasts India to maintain its position as the fastest-growing economy, 
projecting real GDP growth at 5.9% in 2025 and 6.4% in 2026. 

	 Despite a predicted global economic slowdown, with growth declining from 3.5% in 2024 to 2.5% 
in 2025, India is expected to outperform. This growth is fueled by strong domestic reforms and a 
positive global positioning, particularly under the “Aatmanirbhar Bharat” vision. The Union Budget 
2025–2026, highlights the Government of India’s commitment to fostering economic growth 
and enhancing the global competitiveness of Indian enterprises. With a strong focus on boosting 
private sector investments, empowering MSMEs, and advancing infrastructure development, the 
budget introduces transformative reforms across taxation, financial regulation, exports, and urban 
development. Prime Minister Narendra Modi’s government remains focused on the broader goal of 
positioning India as a global economic powerhouse. The Budget also focuses on bolstering domestic 
manufacturing capacities to align with global supply chain demands.

	 Further to the order dated 15.02.2024 issued by the Commission for Air Quality Management (CAQM), 
the import quota of Raw Petroleum Coke (RPC) for calciners such as ours has been increased from 
1.4 million MTs to 1.9 million MTs, effective from the financial year 2024–25. Additionally, the import 
quota of Calcined Petroleum Coke (CPC) for the aluminium industry has been enhanced from 0.5 
million MTs to 0.8 million MTs, effective from the financial year 2025–26.

	 Whilst, both our Budge Budge as well as Guwahati units are eligible for availing RPC import quota, 
but we have never imported even a single kg for our Guwahati unit due the massive logistical 
disadvantage as compared to port-based units. Even for our BB unit, due to additional freight cost 
from the port we are uncompetitive as compared to our competitors, and now this recent increase in 
the import quota for RPC will benefit only the port-based units, making us even more uncompetitive.

	 While port-based calciners are now positioned to import and process significantly higher volumes 
of RPC, gaining a clear competitive edge, our operations are being pushed into an increasingly 
vulnerable position. Our Budge Budge (West Bengal) facility, already modest in scale, lacks the 
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infrastructure needed to handle large volumes of imports. Unlike larger players, we are unable to 
capitalise on the policy shift, leaving us at a structural and economic disadvantage.

	 The situation is even more dire for our Assam unit, where import of RPC has always been logistically 
unfeasible. With the expanded quotas now leading to an oversupply of RPC in the domestic market, 
our operations especially in Assam are suffering severe consequences. The market imbalance is 
eroding our competitiveness and threatening the long-term viability of both our units.

	 Furthermore, the increase in CPC import quota for the aluminium industry has directly contributed 
to a reduced dependency on CPC manufactured by Indian calciners, thereby adversely impacting 
domestic demand and market share for producers like us.

	 The same CAQM order has also permitted unrestricted import of RPC and CPC by Rain Carbon’s SEZ 
unit located in Vizag, further intensifying competitive pressures and creating an uneven playing field 
for domestic calciners.

	 Despite these challenges, we remain cautiously optimistic. The demand for CPC in India is expected 
to grow, driven by the expansion of the aluminium, steel, and cement industries. While certain 
forecasts suggest a possible moderation in growth rates, the overall outlook remains positive, fuelled 
by continued industrialization, urbanization, and rising energy requirements.

	 In view of the above, your directors remain confident in the long-term business prospects and are 
optimistic about the Company’s growth going forward.

4.	 COMPLIANCE WITH INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD:

	 The Company has complied with all relevant Provisions of Indian Accounting Standards notified 
by the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, while preparing the 
Financial Statements.

5.	 CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS:

	 There has been no change in the nature of business of the Company during the F.Y. 2024-2025. 

6.	 DIVIDEND:

	 In view of loss incurred by the Company during the reporting financial year, your directors did not 
recommend any dividend for the F.Y. 2024-2025.

7.	 RESERVES:

	 During the year no amount has been transferred to reserve.

8.	 CHANGE OF NAME:

	 The Company has not changed its name during the F.Y. 2024-25.

9.	 CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL:

	 There have not been any changes in share capital of the Company during the F.Y. 2024-2025.  

10.	 DIRECTORS & KEY MANAGERIAL PERSON:

	 a)	 DIRECTORS:

		  There have been changes in the composition of the Board of Directors during the financial year 
under review. Mr. Soumendra Mohan Basu (DIN: 011254090, Mr. Manoj Mohanka (DIN: 00128593) 

DIRECTORS OF THE REPORT (Contd.)



India Carbon Limited

18 || Annual Report 2024-25

and Mr. Hemant Kumar Khaitan (DIN: 00220049) retired due to completion of tenure for the 2nd 
term of 5 years on 4th September, 2024. Mr. Sunirmal Talukdar (DIN: 00920608) also retired due 
to completion of tenure for the 2nd term of 5 years on 11th November, 2024.

		  Dr. Santanu Mitra (DIN: 06553939), Dr. Anuradha Lohia (DIN: 00599122) and Mr. Avijit Mukerji 
(DIN: 03534116) were appointed  as Independent Directors by the Board at its meeting held on 
9th August, 2024 and subsequently approved by the members at the Annual General Meeting 
held on 4th September, 2024.

		  Mr. Gordon Kenneth Mcintosh (DIN: 02244237) & Mr. Tony William Grimes (DIN: 07590220) 
Directors retire by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-appointment.  

	 b)	 KEY MANGERIAL PERSONNEL:

		  The following employees were designated as whole –time key managerial personnel by the 
Board of Directors during the year 2024-2025, pursuant to Section 203 of Companies Act, 2013 
and Rules made thereon:

		  •	 Mr. Bhaskar Rakshit, as Company Secretary of the Company.

		  •	 Mr. Vinod Kumar Agarwal, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

11.	 NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS:

	 During the Financial Year 2024-25, four Board Meetings were held on 18th May, 2024, 9th August, 
2024, 4th November, 2024 and 29th January, 2025.

12.	 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION:

	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 17(10) of SEBI 
(Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015, as amended, the Board has carried 
out an annual performance evaluation of its own performance, the Directors individually as well as 
the evaluation of the working of its Audit, Nomination & Remuneration and Stakeholder Relationship 
Committee. 

	 According to the SEBI Listing Regulation, 2015 and as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with Rules and Schedules thereon, a meeting of the Independent Directors was held wherein 
the performance of Non-Independent Directors, including Chairman was evaluated and found 
outstanding. 

	 The Nomination & Remuneration Committee is of the view that the Board is versatile and diversified 
and all members have vast exposures which enhances the integrity of the Company.

13.	 DECLARATION BY THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR(S):

	 The Independent Directors have confirmed and declared that they are not disqualified to act as an 
Independent Director in compliance with the provisions of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 
& SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015. 

	 The Board is also of the opinion that the Independent Directors fulfill the conditions as specified in 
the Companies Act, 2013 & SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015 
for making them eligible to act as Independent Directors.
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14.	 REMUNERATION POLICY:

	 The Board has framed a Policy on the recommendation of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
for selection and appointment of Directors, Senior Management and their remuneration. This Policy 
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is available on the website of the Company (www.
indiacarbonltd.com).

15.	 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARY, JOINT VENTURE OR ASSOCIATES:

	 The Company does not have any subsidiary, Joint Venture or Associates during the financial year 
under review.

16.	 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT:

	 Consolidation of Financial Statements is not applicable, as your Company did not have any Subsidiary/
Associate/Joint venture Company during the financial year under review.

17.	 ISSUE OF EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS:

	 Your Company has not granted any Stock Option to its employee during the Financial Year under 
review, as provided in the Rule 12 (9) of The Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014, 
as amended.

18.	 STATUTORY AUDITORS & AUDITORS’ REPORT:

	 M/s. S. Samanta & Co., Chartered Accountants of Kolkata (Firm Registration No. 305020E), have been 
appointed as Statutory Auditor of the Company at the 60th Annual General Meeting for a term of 
5(Five) years.

	 The Report of the Statutory Auditor for the Financial Year ending on 31.03.2025, forming part of this 
Annual Report is Self-Explanatory by nature and does not call for any further comments.

19.	 SECRETARIAL AUDITOR:

	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 and SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 
2015 as amended and SEBI Circular no.: SEBI/LAD-NRO/GN/2024/218 dated 12th December, 2024, 
your Company has appointed M/s. Mahata Agarwal & Associates (Unique No.-P2021WB088100), 
Practicing Company Secretaries of Kolkata for a term of 5 years, to undertake the Secretarial Audit of 
the Company for the financial year 2025-26 till 2029-2030. 

	 The Report of the Secretarial Auditor for the financial Year ended on 31.03.2025, is enclosed in the 
report as Annexure-I. 

	 The Report of the Secretarial Auditor is Self-Explanatory by nature and does not call for any further 
comments.

20.	 INTERNAL AUDITOR:

	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 138 of The Companies Act, 2013 and The Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014, as amended, your Company had appointed M/s. J Kumar Jain & Associates (Firm 
Registration Number- 330168E), Chartered Accountants of Kolkata, to undertake the Internal Audit 
of the Company for the financial year ending on 31.03.2026. 

	 There stood no serious adverse finding & reporting by the Internal Auditor in his Internal Audit Report 
for the Financial Year under review. 
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21.	 COST AUDITORS:

	 M/s. BSS & Associates (Firm Regd. No- 001066), Cost Accountants have been appointed as the Cost 
Auditor of your Company to conduct audit of Cost Accounting Records maintained by the Company 
for Products(s) / Services(s) for the Financial Year ending on 31st March, 2026. 

	 The remuneration of Cost Auditor is subject to approval by the Shareholders at the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting.

	 Your Company submits the Cost Audit Report with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs within the 
prescribed time period.

22.	 INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND THEIR ADEQUACY:

	 The details in respect of Internal Financial Controls and their adequacy are included in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis Report.

23.	 RISK AND AREA OF CONCERN:

	 The Company has laid down a well-defined risk management mechanism covering the risk mapping 
and trend analysis, risk exposure, potential impact and risk mitigation process. 

	 A detailed exercise is being carried out to identify, evaluate, manage and monitor non-business risks 
from time to time. 

	 The Audit Committee and the Board periodically review the risks and suggest steps to be taken to 
manage/ mitigate the same through a properly defined framework.

24.	 VIGIL MECHANISM: 

	 In pursuance of the provisions of Section 177(9) & (10) of the Companies Act, 2013, as amended, a 
Vigil Mechanism for Directors and Employees to report genuine concerns has been devised. 

	 The Vigil Mechanism Policy has been uploaded on the website of the Company at www.indiacarbonltd.
com.

25.	 CODE OF CONDUCT:

	 The Board of Directors has approved a Code of Conduct which is applicable to the Members of the 
Board and all Employees in the course of day-to-day business operations of the Company. 

	 The Company believes in “Zero Tolerance” against bribery, corruption and unethical dealings / 
behaviors of any form and the Board has laid down the directives to counter such acts. 

	 The Code laid down by the Board is known as “Code of Business Conduct” and posted on the 
Company’s website . 

	 The Code defines the standard procedure of business conduct which is expected to be followed by 
the Directors and the Designated Employees in their business dealings and in particular on matters 
relating to integrity of the workplace, in business practices and in dealing with Stakeholders. 

	 The Code also gives guidance through examples on the expected behavior from an employee in a 
given situation and the reporting structure. 

	 All the Board Members and the Senior Management Personnel have confirmed compliance with the 
Code. 
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26.	 ANNUAL RETURN:

	 The Annual Return as on 31st March, 2025 has been posted on the Company’s website at  www.
indiacarbonltd.com.

27.	 MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENT IF ANY AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY OCCURED BETWEEN THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR TO WHICH THIS FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS RELATE AND THE DATE OF THE REPORT:

	 No material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the Company occurred 
between the ends of the Financial Year to which this financial statement relates on the date of this 
report.

28.	 SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS OR COURT OR TRIBUNALS 
IMPACTING THE GOING CONCERN STATUS AND COMPANY’S OPERATION IN FUTURE:

	 There is no significant material orders passed by the Regulators/Courts/Tribunals which could impact 
the going concern status of the Company and its future operations.

29.	 DETAILS IN RESPECT OF ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS WITH REFERENCE TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

	 The Board has devised a system and Procedures for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its 
business, including adherence to the Company’s Policies, safeguarding the assets, the prevention 
and detection of fraud and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records and 
timely preparation of the reliable Financial Data.  

30.	 DEPOSITS:
	 The Company has not accepted any Deposit as covered under the Chapter V of Companies Act, 2013, 

as amended.
31.	 PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES:

	 There were no materially significant transactions with related parties during the year under review 
which were in conflict with the interest of the Company. 

	 All the transactions entered into by the Company with Related Parties during the financial year under 
review were at arms-length basis and in ordinary course of business not material under the Act and 
SEBI Regulations. Hence, the prescribed Form AOC-2 does not form a part of this report. Suitable 
disclosure as required under the Accounting Standard has been made to the notes to the financial 
statement.

	 Pursuant to Regulation 23 of the Listing Regulations, the Company has formulated a Policy on 
Materiality of Related Party Transactions and on dealing with Related Party Transactions which is 
available on the website of the Company .

32.	 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS:

	 Management Discussion & Analysis Reports forms part of this Annual Report for the Financial Year 
ended on 31.03.2025.

33.	 OBLIGATION OF COMPANY UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE 
(PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013:

	 In order to prevent Sexual Harassment at workplace, your Company has followed adequate Policy 
for prevention of Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace and has set up a committee for 
implementation of the said Policy. 
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	 During the Financial Year under review, your Company has not received any Complaints in connection 
with Sexual Harassment at workplace.

34.	 PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES:

	 Details of remuneration of Directors, KMPs and employees as per Section 197 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014, as amended, forms part of this Annual Report as Annexure II. 

	 However, as per the provisions of Section 136 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Annual Report is 
being sent to the Members and others entitled thereto, excluding the information on employees’ 
remuneration particulars as required under Rule 5 (2) & (3) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014. The disclosure is available for inspection by the 
members at the registered office of your Company during business hours on all working days of the 
Company up to the date of the ensuing AGM. Any Member interested in obtaining a copy thereof, 
may write an email to compliance@indiacarbonltd.com.

35.	 HUMAN RESOURCES:

	 Your Company treats its “Human Resources” as one of its most important assets. Your Company 
continuously invests in retention and development of talents on an ongoing basis.

36.	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY:

	 The brief outline of the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy of the Company and the 
initiatives undertaken by the Company on CSR activities during the year are set out in Annexure-III 
of this Annual Report in the format prescribed under The Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility 
Policy) Rules, 2014, as amended. 

	 The CSR Policy is available on the website of the Company at www.indiacarbonltd.com.

37.	 CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY, ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS 
AND OUTGO:

	 The details of Energy, Technology, Absorption, Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo are as under:
a)	 Conservation of Energy:

Steps taken for conservation Constant efforts are on to conserve and reduce energy consumption. 

Energy consumption for each activity is recorded by individual 
meters and monitored by daily recording of the actual consumption 
and energy audit has also been introduced. 

Your Company is actively studying various proposals for installing 
Solar Power Panels and converting at least part of its energy 
requirement to Solar. 

Steps taken for utilizing 
alternate sources of energy

Various studies have been made to examine usage of alternate 
energy sources, but regrettably no workable alternative could be 
identified till date. 

Efforts are on and the Company expects to move into some Solar 
Power Generation at its Guwahati Factory.

Capital Investment on Energy 
Conservation Equipment’s

NIL
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b)	 Technology Absorption:

Efforts made for Technology Absorption N/A
Benefits derived N/A
Expenditure on Research & Development, if any N/A
Details of technology imported, if any N/A
Year of import N/A
Whether imported technology fully absorbed N/A
Areas where absorption of imported technology has not taken place, if any N/A

c)	 Foreign Exchange Earnings/ Outgo:

Earnings  Rs. 1,35,82,450.84/-
Outgo  Rs. 24,01,38,513.17/-

38.	 DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT:
	 In accordance with the provisions of Section 134(3)(c) and Section 134(5) of the Companies Act 2013, 

as amended, your Directors confirm that:

	 a)	 in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial year ended 31st March, 2025, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures;

	 b)	 the directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March, 2025 and of the Profit /Loss of the Company 
for that period;

	 c)	 the directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

	 d)	 the directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis;

	 e)	 the directors have laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the Company and that 
such internal financial controls are adequate and were operating effectively; 

	 f)	 the directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively. 

39.	 TRANSFER OF AMOUNTS TO INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND:

	 Pursuant to the applicable provisions of Companies Act, 2013, relevant amounts which remain 
unpaid or unclaimed for a period of Seven Years from the date of transfer to the unpaid dividend 
account have been transferred by your Company from time-to-time on due dates to the Investor 
Education and Protection Funds (IEPF).
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40.	 LISTING OF SHARES AT THE STOCK EXCHANGES AND TRADEABILITY IN   DEMATERIALISATION 
FORM:

	 The Equity Shares of the Company continue to be listed with The Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited. 

	 The annual listing fees for the Financial Year 2024-25 have already been paid. Your Company is 
having connectivity with both the Depositories, i.e., National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) & 
Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL).  

	 In view of the numerous advantages offered by the Depository System, Members are requested to 
avail of the facility of Dematerialization of the Company’s Equity Shares on either of the Depositories 
as aforesaid. 

	 The ISIN number allotted to the Company is INE743B01015. Presently, M/s. C B Management 
Services Pvt. Ltd is acting as Registrar and Share Transfer Agent of our Company. 

	 Members are requested to send their Communications/ Correspondences/ Queries regarding Share 
related matters at the following address:

	 C B Management Services (P) Limited
	 Rasoi Court, 5th Floor, 20 R N Mukherjee Road, Kolkata 700 001,
	 Phone No. (033) 69066200
	 E mail: souravcb@cbmsl.com.

41.	 COMMITTEES:

	 With a view to have a more focused attention on business and for better governance and 
accountability, and in accordance with The Companies Act, 2013, as amended, your Board has 
constituted the following mandatory Committees viz. Audit Committee, Stakeholders’ Relationship 
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee in accordance with the prescribed statue. 

	 •	 AUDIT COMMITTEE:

		  The Audit Committee acts as a link between the Statutory and Internal Auditors and the Board of 
Directors. Its purpose is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities of monitoring 
Financial Reporting processes, reviewing the Company’s established systems and processes for 
Internal Financial Controls, Governance and reviewing the Company’s Statutory and Internal 
Audit activities and disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report. 

		  The Committee is governed by its terms of reference which is in line with the Regulatory 
requirements mandated by The Companies Act, 2013 and The SEBI (Listing Obligation and 
Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015, as amended. 

		  Further, the Board has recorded all the recommendations of the Audit Committee and accordingly 
has proceeded with their recommendations.

	 •	 NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE:

		  Pursuant to Section 178 of Companies Act 2013 and The SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure 
Requirement) Regulation, 2015, as amended, the Company has formed a Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee. 

		  The details of terms and the details of meetings held during the year are disclosed in the Corporate 
Governance report. The Nomination & Remuneration Committee has framed Remuneration 
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Policy as per Section 178 (3) of Companies Act, 2013 and The SEBI (Listing Obligation and 
Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015. 

		  The summary of the Remuneration policy and appointment of Directors and Key Managerial 
Personnel is stated in the Corporate Governance Report.

		  The detailed criteria for Performance Evaluation as laid down by the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report, which forms parts of this Annual 
Report.

	 •	 STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE:

		  Pursuant to Section 178(5) of The Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing Obligation and 
Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015, as amended, the Company has formed a Stakeholder 
Relationship Committee. 

		  The detailed terms of the said Committee are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report 
which forms parts of this Annual Report.

	 •	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE:

		  Pursuant to Section 135 of Companies Act, 2013, as amended, your Company has constituted a 
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee. 

	 The details of terms are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report, which forms a part of this 
Annual Report.

42.	 HEALTH AND SAFETY:

	 Your Company is wholeheartedly committed to health and safety of its employees and all 
Stakeholders. Safety measures have been designed and circulated at the plant site to the responsible 
person. Training is periodically organized for the employees in order to follow these safety measures. 
Senior Personnel of the Company have been deputed to enforce safety plans and whose primary 
responsibility is to look after:

	 	 Developing measures to assure personnel safety.

	 	 Correct unsafe acts or conditions through the regular line of authority.

	 	 May exercise emergency authority to prevent or stop unsafe acts when immediate action is 
required.

	 	 Maintain awareness of active and developing situations.

	 	 Protect employees, customers and the environment at any cost. 

	 Your Company has also taken group Personal Accident Policy for the employees and has on its rolls 
a well-qualified full-time officer to monitor, control and advice and as well implements its Policy on 
Health, Safety and Environment.

43.	 ENVIRONMENT:

	 Your Company is continuing with its Floriculture Division and has identified a portion of a land in 
Guwahati unit as Green Area. 

	 The Company has a place at both of its Plants, State of the Art Pollution Control Systems which 
improves the emission norms further and enables a cleaner environment. 
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	 Your Company continuously strives on Environmental Management.

44.	 INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS:

	 The relation of the Company with the employees and workers continued to be cordial and peaceful 
during the Financial Year under review. 

	 Your directors record their sincere appreciation to the employees & workers at large for their 
continued cooperation for maintaining harmonious Industrial Relation in and around the Plants.

45.	 FAMILIARIZATION PROGRAMMES FOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS:

	 Your Company undertakes a familiarization program for the Independent Directors of the Company 
to familiarize themselves with the code of conduct and working of the Company. 

	 The details of such familiarization program are available on the website of the Company .

46.	 PARTICULARS OF LOAN, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS UNDER SECTION 186 OF THE 
COMPANIES ACT, 2013:

	 Details of Loans/Guarantees/Investments covered under the provisions of Section 186 of The 
Companies Act, 2013, as amended, are given in the notes to this Financial Statement.

47.	 CREDIT RATING:

	 CARE assigns “CARE A-” ratings to the Long-Term Bank facilities and “CARE A1” rating to the Short-
Term Bank facilities of India Carbon Limited for the financial year ended on 31st March, 2025.

48.	 PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING:

	 Your Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for Prevention of Insider Trading with a view to 
regulate trading in Securities by the Directors and Designated Employees of the Company. 

	 The Code requires Pre-Clearance for dealing in the Company’s Shares and prohibits the purchase 
or sale of Company’s Shares by the Directors and the Designated Employees while in possession of 
Unpublished Price Sensitive Information in relation to the Company and during the period when the 
Trading Window is closed. 

	 The Board is responsible for implementation of this Code. The Directors and the Designated 
Employees have confirmed compliance with the Code.

49.	 DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS:

	 In terms of SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 2015, Corporate 
Governance Report with Auditors’ Certificate thereon and Management Discussion and Analysis 
Reports are attached herein and forms parts of this Report.

	 •	 Policy for familiarization program of the Independent Directors is available on the website of the 
Company (www.indiacarbonltd.com).

	 • 	 Policy for Determining Material Subsidiaries of the Company is available on the website of the 
Company (www.indiacarbonltd.com).

	 • 	 Policy on Dealing with Related Party Transactions is available on the website of the Company 
(www.indiacarbonltd.com).
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	 • 	 Policy for Whistle Blower Policy to provide Vigil Mechanism is available at Companies website 
(www.indiacarbonltd.com). 

	 • 	 Remuneration Policy of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is available on the 
website of the Company (www.indiacarbonltd.com).

	 • 	 The Code of Practices & Procedures for Fair Disclosure of Unpublished Price Sensitive Information 
under Regulation 8(1) of SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 is available on 
the Company’s website (www.indiacarbonltd.com).

	 • 	 Policy framed for Risk Management have been uploaded on the Company’s website(www.
indiacarbonltd.com).

	 • 	 Criteria for Evaluation of Independent Directors and Board are available on the Company’s 
website (www.indiacarbonltd.com).

	 • 	 Policy for Prevention of Sexual Harassment at workplace is available on the Company’s website 
(www.indiacarbonltd.com).  

50.	 DETAILS IN RESPECT OF FRAUDS REPORTED BY AUDITORS UNDER SUB-SECTION (12) OF 
SECTION 143 OTHER THAN THOSE WHICH ARE REPORTABLE TO THE CENTRAL GOVERNMENT:

 	 The Auditors of the Company have not reported any such frauds during the year under review.  

51.	 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

	 Your directors take the opportunity to thank the Regulators, Organizations and Agencies for their 
continued help and co-operation extended towards the Company. 

	 Your directors also gratefully acknowledge all Stakeholders of the Company viz. Customers, Members, 
Vendors, Banks and other Business Partners for the excellent support received from them during the 
year. 

	 Your directors place on records their sincere appreciation to all employees of the Company for their 
unstinted commitment and continued contribution to the Company.

        For & on behalf of the Board of Directors,
Sd/-

Date: 14th May, 2025					                	            Rakesh Himatsingka
Place: Kolkata	  							          (DIN: 00632156)
								          Chairman and Managing Director
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(Annexure-I)
 

Form No. MR-3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

For the Financial Year Ended 31st March, 2025
[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of 
the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members,
India Carbon Limited.
(CIN: L23101AS1961PLC001173), 
Noonmati, Guwahati, AS 781020, IN

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the 
adherence to good corporate practices by M/s India Carbon Limited (CIN: L23101AS1961PLC001173) 
(hereinafter called the Company). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided me a 
reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my 
opinion thereon. 

Based on our verification of the M/s India Carbon Ltd.’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns 
filed and other records maintained by the company and also the information provided by the Company, 
its officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, we hereby 
report that  in our opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended 
on 31st March, 2025, complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company 
has proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and 
subject to the reporting made hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained 
by M/s India Carbon Limited (“the Company”) for the financial year ended on 31st March, 2025, according 
to the provisions of:

(i) 	 The Companies Act, 2013/ the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2017 (the Act) and the rules made there 
under as amended from time to time;

(ii) 	 The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956(“SCRA”), rules made there under and the Regulations, 
circulars, guidelines issued thereunder by the Securities and Exchange Board of India(“SEBI”) as may 
be amended from time to time;

(iii) 	The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed there under and as may be 
amended from time to time;

(iv) 	Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made there under as may be 
amended from time to time to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment 
and External Commercial Borrowings and as may be amended from time to time;

(v) 	 The following Regulations, Circulars, Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’) (as may be amended from time to time): -
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	 (a)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (as amended from time to time);

	 (b)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) 
Regulations, 2011 (as amended from time to time);

	 (c)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 (as 
amended from time to time);

	 (d)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2018 (as may be amended from time to time); - Not Applicable as there was no 
reportable event;

	 (e)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee 
Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999/ Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based 
Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014 (as may be amended from time to time); - Not Applicable 
as there was no reportable event;

	 (f)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 
2008 as may be amended from time to time; - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event;

	 (g)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) 
Regulations, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client (as may be amended 
from time to time); - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event;

	 (h)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009 (as may 
be amended from time to time) ; - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event; 

	 (i)	 Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible and Redeemable 
Preference Shares) Regulations, 2013 (as may be amended from time to time); - Not Applicable 
as there was no reportable event;

	 (j) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 2018 (as may be 
amended from time to time); - Not Applicable as there was no reportable event; and

	 (k) 	 Any other Regulations/ Rules/Notifications/ Circulars/ Amendments etc. as issued by the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India from time to time;

(vi) 	Other laws/acts/rules as may be applicable specifically to the company:

	 a)	 Payment of Bonus Act, 1965 as may be amended from time to time;

	 b)	 Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 as may be amended from time to time;

	 c)	 Payment of Wages Act, 1936 as may be amended from time to time;

	 d)	 Trade Unions Act, 1926 as may be amended from time to time;

	 e)	 Workmen’s Compensation Act, 1923 as may be amended from time to time;

	 f)	 Employees’ Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 as may be amended from 
time to time;

	 g)	 Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948 as may be amended from time to time;

	 h)	 Minimum Wages Act, 1948 and its Rules as may be amended from time to time; 

	 i)	 The Factories Act, 1948 & its allied State Laws & Rules and as may be amended from time to time;
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	 j)	 The Company covered under Assam Fire Service Act, 1985 

	 k)	 The Company has complied under the provisions of Factory Insurance; 

	 l)	 Assam Weight & Measurement Enforcement Act, 1958;

	 m)	 Sexual Harassment of Woman at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 

	 n)	 Pollution Control Board Clearance as may be amended from time to time; 

	 o)	 Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981 and the rules and standards made thereunder.

	 p)	 Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974 and Water (Prevention and Control of 
Pollution) Rules, 1975

	 q)	 Environment Protection Act, 1986 and the rules, notifications issued thereunder.

	 r)	 Income Tax Act, 1961 and its Rules as may be amended from time to time;

	 s)	 Profession Tax and its Rules as may be amended from time to time;  

	 t)	 Shops and Establishments Act and its Rules as may be amended from time to time; 

	 u)	 Industrial Disputes Act 1947 and its Rules as may be amended from time to time;

	 v)	 Service Tax Act and its Rules as may be amended from time to time;

	 w)	 Contract Labor (Regulation and Abolition) Act, 1970 as may be amended from time to time.

	 x)	 Central Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 & its Rules / the Integrated Goods and Services Tax Act, 
2017 & its Rules there under including any Circulars/ Notifications issued from time to time. 

	 We have also examined the required licenses specific to the Company and found them duly up to 
date/applied for renewal, as the case may be.

	 We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:

(i) 	 Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India with respect to Board 
and General Meetings.

(ii) 	 The Listing Agreements entered into by the Company with the Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited read 
with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015. 

	 During the period under review, the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, 
Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above.

	 We further report that: The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance 
of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors, Independent Directors and Women Directors. The 
Adequate notices are given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed 
notes on agenda were sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and 
obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for 
meaningful participation at the meeting. Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting 
members’ views, if any, are captured and recorded as part of the minutes.

	 We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate 
with the size and operations of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, 
rules, regulations and guidelines.

DIRECTORS OF THE REPORT (Contd.)



Notice Statutory Report Financial Section

Annual Report 2024-25 || 31

	 We further report that the company has complied with the Corporate Governance requirement. 
	 We further report that there were changes in the board of director’s constitution wherein:

a)	 During the year, the company has appointed Dr. Santanu Mitra ( DIN: 06553939), Dr Anuradha 
Lohia (DIN: 00599122) and Mr. Avijit Mukerji (DIN:03534116) as  Independent Directors as per 
Sections 149,150 and 152  and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
the Companies (Appointment Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory 
modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof, for the time being in force) and Regulation 17 and other 
applicable regulations of the SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015 as amended from time to time,  not liable 
to retire by rotation, for a period of 5 years from 9th August, 2024 to 8th August, 2029 duly approved 
through an Special Resolution passed by the Shareholders at the 62nd Annual General Meeting held 
on the 4th day of September, 2024.

b) 	 During the year, Mr. Manoj Mohanka, (DIN: 00128593), Mr. Hemant Kumar Khaitan (DIN: 00220049) 
and Mr. Mr. Soumendra Mohan Basu (DIN: 01125409) retired from the Board as Independent Directors 
due to completion of 2nd term of 5 years on 4th September, 2024 and Mr.  Sunirmal Talukdar (DIN: 
00920608) retired from the Board as Independent Director due to completion of 2nd term of 5 years 
on 11th November, 2024.

We further report that:

a) 	 as per Sections 190,196,197,198, 203 read with Schedule V and other applicable provisions, if any, 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof, for 
the time being in force), reappointment of  Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka (DIN: 00632156) as Managing 
Director for a period of 3 years from 1st December, 2024 to 30th November, 2027 on the terms and 
conditions as mentioned in the agreement dated September 5, 2024 duly approved through an 
Special Resolution passed by the Shareholders at the 62nd Annual General Meeting held on the 4th 
day of September, 2024.

b) 	 as per Sections 190,196,197,198, 203 read with Schedule V and other applicable provisions, if any, 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof, for the 
time being in force), reappointment of  Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka (DIN: 01200202) as Joint 
Managing Director for a period of 3 years from 1st April, 2025 to 31st March, 2028 on the terms 
and conditions as mentioned in the agreement dated September 5, 2024 duly approved through an 
Special Resolution passed by the Shareholders at the 62nd Annual General Meeting held on the 4th 
day of September, 2024.					   

Place: Kolkata	 For, Mahata Agarwal& Associates
Date: 14.05.2025 	 Practicing Company Secretaries

(Unique No: P2021WB088100)
(P.R No. 5663/2024)  

UDIN:F011966G000342142	 Sd/-
Sumantra Sarathi Mahata

Partner
Membership No.-F11966

C.P. No.-13473
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 (Annexure-II)

DETAILS PERTAINING TO REMUNERATION AS REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 197(12) OF COMPANIES 
ACT, 2013 READ WITH RULE 5(1) OF THE COMPANIES (APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF 
MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RULES, 2014

i)	 The percentage increase in remuneration of each Director, Chief Financial officer and Company 
Secretary during the financial year 2024-25, ratio of remuneration of each Director to the median 
remuneration of each key managerial personnel (KMP) against the performance of the Company are 
as under:

SL. 
No.

Name of the Director/KMP and 
Designation

Remuneration of 
Director/KMP for

F.Y 2024-25
Rs. in Lakh

% increase /
decrease in 

remuneration
in the  

F.Y 2024-25

Ratio of
remuneration of each 

Director
to median

remuneration of 
employees

1. Shri. Rakesh Himatsingka
(Chairman & Managing Director)

Rs. 90.42 lakh 7.37 22.61:1

2. Shri. Shaurya veer Himatsingka
(Joint Managing Director & CEO)

Rs. 84.69 lakh 8.26 21.17:1

3. Shri. Vinod Kumar Agarwal
(Chief Financial Officer)

Rs. 31.32 lakh -5.29 7.83:1

4. Shri. Bhaskar Rakshit
(Company Secretary)

Rs. 7.83 lakh 3.71 1.96:1

Note:

1.  	 Calculation of median is taken on the figures as at the end of Financial Year.

2.	 No other Director other than Managing Director and Joint Managing Director received any remuneration 
other than sitting fees during the Financial Year 2024-25.

	 i) 	 The Median Remuneration of employees as on March 31, 2025 was Rs. 4,00,296/- and as on March 
31, 2024 was Rs. 3,42,462/-. 

	 ii)	 There is an increase in the median remuneration of the employees was 16.89% during the 
Financial Year 31.03.2025.

	 iii)	 There were 156 (One Hundred and Fifty-Six) permanent employees on the rolls of Company as on 
March 31, 2025.

	 iv)	 The Company has incurred a loss after Tax for the financial year 2024-25 amounting to (Rs. -12.74) 
Crores as against a profit after tax in the previous financial year 2023-24 amounting to Rs. 30.28 
Crores. There was an increase of 16.98% in median remuneration during the Financial Year under 
review. 

	 v)	 Average percentage increase made in the Salaries of the Employees other than Managerial 
Personnel during the Financial Year under review and in the previous financial year is 7.41%.
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	 vi)	 The key parameters for the variable component of remuneration availed by the Managing 
Directors and Senior Management Personnel are based on the recommendations of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee as per the Remuneration Policy of the Company for 
the Directors and others Senior Management Personnel.  

	 vii) 	It is hereby affirmed that the remuneration paid during the year ended 31st Day of March, 2025 
is as per the Remuneration Policy of the Company.                          

                            

        For & on behalf of the Board of Directors,

Sd/-
Date: 14th May, 2025					                	            Rakesh Himatsingka
Place: Kolkata	  							          (DIN: 00632156)
								          Chairman and Managing Director
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(Annexure III)

REPORT ON CSR INITIATIVES TO BE INCLUDED IN THE BOARD’S REPORT

1.	 A brief outline of the Company’s CSR policy including Overview of projects / programs undertaken:

	 The Company has framed Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy in accordance with the 
provisions of The Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility) 
Rules, 2014 as amended from time to time. It enumerates the list of activities for channelizing the 
amount of expenditure towards Corporate Social Responsibility by the Company. The Company 
fully recognizes its commitment to the fulfillment of its social responsibilities programs to benefit 
society in general and those living in the vicinity of its facilities in particular have been consistently 
implemented over the years. 

	 The CSR Policy of the Company as approved by the Board of Directors is available on the Company’s 
website at www.indiacarbonltd.com.

2. 	 The composition of the CSR Committee is as under:

Sl. 
No.

Name Designation /Nature 
of Directorship in the Company

Number of 
meetings of

CSR   
Committee   

held
during the 

year

Number of
meetings 

of CSR
Committee 

attended 
during

the year
1. Ms. Susmita Ghose (Chairperson) Non- Executive Independent 4 4
2. Mr. Soumendra Mohan Basu* Non- Executive Independent 4 2
3. Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Chairman & Managing Director 4 4
4. Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka Joint Managing Director & CEO 4 4
5. Dr Anuradha Lohia@ Non- Executive Independent 4 2

*Retired on completion of 2nd term as Independent Director on 04.09.2024. @Appointed as Independent 
Director on 09.08.2024.

3. 	 Provide   the   web-link   where   Composition   of   CSR Committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects 
approved by the board are disclosed on the website of the company: www.indiacarbonltd.com.

4. 	 Provide   the   details   of   Impact   assessment   of   CSR projects carried out in pursuance of sub-rule 
(3) of rule 8 of the   Companies (Corporate   Social   Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014, if applicable 
(attach the report): Not applicable.

5. 	 Average net profit of the company for the last three financial years (As per section 198):

	 (a) 	 Average net profit of the company as per Section 135(5): Rs.46,45,94,721/-.

     	 (b) 	 Two percent of average net profit of the company as per Section 135(5): Rs.92,91,894/-.

     	 (c)  	Surplus   arising   out   of   the   CSR   projects   or programs or activities of the previous financial 
Years: NA

    	 (d)  	Amount required to be set off for the financial year, if any: Rs. 25,660/-.

     	 (e)  	Total CSR obligation for the financial year (7a+7b-7c): Rs.92,66,234/-
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(6) 	 Amount spent on CSR Projects (both Ongoing Project and other than Ongoing Project): 

	 (i)	 Details of CSR amount spent against ongoing projects for the financial year: NA

	 (ii)	 Details of CSR amount spent against other than ongoing projects for the financial year:

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)
Sl.

No.
Name of the

Project
Item    from
the list    of
activities in
schedule VII 

to the
Act

Local
area
(Yes

/
No)

Location of the 
project 

Amount
spent for

the
project
(In Rs.)

Mode    
of 

implementation
-Direct

(Yes/No)

Mode   of 
implementation-

Through implementing 
agency

State District Name CSR
registration

number
1. Contribution 

made to 
“Rotary Club of 

Gauhati
West 

Charitable 
Trust” for the 

purpose of 
afforestation 

projet.

Ensuring 
environmental 
sustainability, 

ecological 
balance, 

protection 
of flora and 

fauna.

No Assam Sonitpur 6,00,000 No INDIA 
CARBON 

CHARITABLE 
TRUST

CSR00004894

2. Contribution 
made to 
“Sankalp 

Shristi” for 
organizing 

health camps 
for the poor 

people.

Promoting 
Healthcare 
Including 

Preventing 
Health Care.

No West
Bengal

Kolkata 1,02,900 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

3. Contribution 
made to “Hope 

Kolkata
Foundation” 

for the 
purpose of 
education.

 Promoting 
education.

No West
Bengal

Kolkata 3,98,888 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

4. Contribution 
made to 

“Tiljala Society 
for Human 

and Education 
Development”
for distribution

of education 
material 

among poor 
students.

Promoting 
education.

No West 
Bengal

Kolkata 2,60,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

DIRECTORS OF THE REPORT (Contd.)



India Carbon Limited

36 || Annual Report 2024-25

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)
Sl.

No.
Name of the

Project
Item    from
the list    of
activities in
schedule VII 

to the
Act

Local
area
(Yes

/
No)

Location of the 
project 

Amount
spent for

the
project
(In Rs.)

Mode    
of 

implementation
-Direct

(Yes/No)

Mode   of 
implementation-

Through implementing 
agency

State District Name CSR
registration

number
5. Contribution 

made to 
“Bapuji 

Nagar, 2 No 
Mathgharia 

Water
Supply 

Committee” 
for repairing a 

bore well.

Conservation 
of natural 

resources and 
water.

Yes Assam Guwahati 67,500 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

6. Contribution 
made to 

International 
Society for 

Krishna 
Consciousness 

for 
construction of 
 Bhaktivedanta 

University. 

Promoting 
education.

No Uttar 
Pradesh

Mathura 21,00,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

7. Contribution 
made to 

“Bharatiya 
Vidya Bhavan 

Guwahati 
Kendra” for 
facilitating 

senior citizens. 

Setting up old 
age homes, 

day care 
centres and 
such other 
facilities for 

senior citizens.

Yes Assam Guwahati 13,08,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

8. Contribution 
made to

“Tomorrow’s 
Foundation”

for skill 
development 

training in 
various Govt 

Schools.

Employment 
enhancing
vocational

skill 
development 

program.

No West
Bengal

Kolkata 10,15,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

9. Contribution 
made to 

“Indian Council 
for Child 

Welfare” for 
distribution of 
grocery kits to 

girl hostel.

Eradicating
Hunger.

Yes Assam Guwahati 1,87,500 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878
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(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)
Sl.

No.
Name of the

Project
Item    from
the list    of
activities in
schedule VII 

to the
Act

Local
area
(Yes

/
No)

Location of the 
project 

Amount
spent for

the
project
(In Rs.)

Mode    
of 

implementation
-Direct

(Yes/No)

Mode   of 
implementation-

Through implementing 
agency

State District Name CSR
registration

number
10. Contribution 

made to 
“Assam Child 
and Women’s 

Welfare 
Society” for 

distribution of 
grocery kits to 

girl hostel.

Eradicating
Hunger.

Yes Assam Guwahati 1,87,500 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

11. Contribution 
made to 
“Dakshin 

Kalikata Krira 
O Sanskriti 

Parishad” for 
eye operation 

of poor 
people.

Promoting 
health care 
including 

preventive 
health.

No West
Bengal

Kolkata 2,50,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

12. Contribution 
made to 

“Assam Child 
and Women’s 

Welfare 
Society” for 
vocational 
training of 
tailoring 
institute.

Employment 
enhancing 

vocation skills 
especially 

among 
children, 
women,

Yes Assam Guwahati 2,68,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

13. Contribution 
made to
“Shree 

vishudhanand 
Hospital”

for purchasing 
various 
medical 

instrument for 
the purpose of 

Hospital.

Health Care 
including 

preventative 
healthcare.

No West
Bengal

Kolkata 5,00,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

14. Contribution 
made to 

“Resources 
Development 

Institution” 
for vocational 

training of 
weaving 
project.

Employment 
enhancing 

vocation skills 
especially 

among 
children & 

women.

Yes Assam Guwahati 6,85,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878
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(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)
Sl.

No.
Name of the

Project
Item    from
the list    of
activities in
schedule VII 

to the
Act

Local
area
(Yes

/
No)

Location of the 
project 

Amount
spent for

the
project
(In Rs.)

Mode    
of 

implementation
-Direct

(Yes/No)

Mode   of 
implementation-

Through implementing 
agency

State District Name CSR
registration

number
15. Contribution 

made to
“Deepsikha”

for purchasing 
various 
medical 

instrument for 
the purpose of 

Hospital.

Health Care 
including 

preventative 
healthcare.

Yes Assam Guwahati 5,62,151 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

16. Contribution 
made to 

“Assam Child 
and Women’s 

Welfare 
Society” for 

special need 
children.

Promoting 
education, 
including 

special 
education.

Yes Assam Guwahati 4,50,000 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

17. Contribution 
made to “SEUJ 
DALICHA” for 

plantation 
project.

Ensuring 
environmental 
sustainability, 

ecological 
balance, 

protection 
of flora and 

fauna.

No Assam Marigaon 3,50,600 No MANAV 
KALYAN 
TRUST

CSR00004878

	 (b) 	 Amount spent in Administrative Overheads: Nil

	 (c) 	 Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable: Nil

	 (d) 	 Total Amount Spent for the Financial Year [(a)+(b)+(c)]: Rs.92,93,039/-

	 (e) 	 CSR amount spent or unspent for the financial year:

Total Amount 
Spent for the 
Financial Year

(In Rs.)

Amount Unspent (in Rs.)
Total    Amount    transferred    

to Unspent   CSR   Account   as   
per Section 135(6)

Amount transferred to any fund Specified under 
Schedule VII as per second proviso to Section 

135(5)
Amount Date of 

transfer
Name of the Fund Amount Date of transfer

92,93,039 0 NA NA 0 NA

	 (f ) 	 Excess amount for set off, if any:

Sl. Particular Amount (in Rs.)
(i) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) 92,91,894
(ii) *Total amount spent for the Financial Year 93,18,699
(iii) Excess amount spent for the financial year [(ii)-(i)] 26,805
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Sl. Particular Amount (in Rs.)
(iv) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programs or activities of the previous 

financial years, if any
0

(v) Amount available for set off in succeeding financial years [(iii)-(iv)] 26,805

(*Including excess amount of Rs. 25,660/- spent during the previous FYs i.e. 2022-23, 2023-24 and 2024-
25)

7. 	 (a) 	 Details of Unspent CSR amount for the preceding three financial years:

Sl. 
No.

Preceding 
Financial 

Year

Amount 
transferred to 
Unspent CSR 

Account under 
section 135 (6)

(in Rs.)

Amount 
spent in the 

reporting 
Financial 

Year (in Rs.)

Amount transferred to any 
fund specified under Schedule 
VII as per section 135(6), if any

Amount remaining 
to be spent in 

succeeding 
financial years

(In Rs.)
Name 
of the 
Fund

Amount 
(In Rs.)

Date of 
transfer.

- - - - - - - -
8. 	 Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through CSR amount spent in the Financial 

Year: No, the Company has not created or acquired any capital asset through CSR amount spent 
during FY 2024-25.

9. 	 Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net profit as per 
section 135(5): Not applicable.    

                                                                                                                                           Sd/- 
                                                                                                                      Susmita Ghose

                                                                                                                       (DIN: 07333557)
 (Chairperson of CSR Committee)

                                                                                                                  Sd/-  
Date: 14th May, 2025						               Rakesh Himatsingka
Place: Kolkata	 (DIN: 00632156)

                                                                                                                    (Chairman & Managing Director)
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INDUSTRY STRUCTURE & DEVELOPMENT:

India is the second-largest aluminum producer globally, contributing close to  6% of the world’s total 
aluminum production. India’s primary aluminum production capacity is approximately 4.1 million tons 
annually, driven by abundant bauxite reserves (fifth-largest globally). With significant bauxite reserves 
and robust downstream processing capabilities, India is positioned as a crucial supplier in the global 
aluminum value chain. 

Aluminum’s lightweight properties, high strength, and corrosion resistance make it a preferred material 
in infrastructure and industrial applications. Aluminum, being 30% lighter than steel, plays a critical role 
in enhancing fuel efficiency and reducing CO2 emissions in vehicles. India targets 30% electric vehicles 
(EVs) penetration by 2030, aluminum usage in battery enclosures and lightweight body parts is expected 
to increase substantially.

Multiple initiatives of Govt. of India like Make in India, 100% rural electrification, Housing for All, Smart 
Cities, renewable energy and FAME (Faster adoption of manufacturing of Hybrid and EV) schemes for 
electric vehicles, increase in FDI etc. will boost the consumption of the metal in the country.

However, the industry faces headwinds, particularly concerning international trade policies. Recent tariffs 
imposed by the United States on steel and aluminium imports are anticipated to impact India’s aluminium 
exports. Producers are considering shifting focus to alternative markets in Europe and Southeast Asia to 
mitigate potential losses.

In summary, while India’s aluminium production has only slightly increased around 0.9 % during the 
financial year under review, the industry’s long-term outlook remains positive, bolstered by domestic 
demand and strategic initiatives to navigate global trade challenges.

On the other side, the graphite electrode market presents significant growth opportunities due to the 
increasing demand for steel products in various industries. The growth of the construction, automotive, 
infrastructure, and aerospace and defense sectors, which are major consumers of steel products, would 
also be driving the demand for graphite electrodes.

With this growing demand and increased production of Aluminum and Graphite Electrodes, there will be 
a commensurate increase in demand of CPC and your Management is confident of taking full advantage 
of this and expects both plants to run to their maximum capacity.

OPPORTUNITIES & THREATS:

Your Company constantly examines the opportunities and threats that exist in its business and already 
has plans to exploit the opportunity available going forward as well as equipped to handle threats.    

OPPORTUNITIES:

Aluminum, known for its lightweight, corrosion resistance, and recyclability, is often referred to as 
the “metal of the future”. Its applications span across industries such as automotive, construction, 
packaging, and electricals. Globally, aluminum demand is driven by the transition toward sustainability 
and lightweight manufacturing solutions. India, being the second-largest producer of aluminum, plays a 
pivotal role in fulfilling this demand.

Aluminum is extensively used in the manufacture of automotive parts such as engine blocks, wheels, 
transmission housings, and body panels due to its high strength-to-weight ratio, corrosion resistance, 
and recyclability. The country’s automotive sector is already established as the world’s third-largest 
market, surpassing previous third-placed Japan and behind only China and the US. The Indian automotive 
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industry is a significant driver of the aluminum market, driven by the need for lightweight materials to 
enhance fuel efficiency and reduce emissions.

The shift towards electric vehicles (EVs) has further accelerated the demand for aluminum. EVs require 
lightweight materials to maximize their range and efficiency, making aluminum an ideal choice. As India 
moves towards a greener future with policies supporting EV adoption, the aluminum market is set to 
benefit immensely. The government’s FAME (Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Hybrid and Electric 
Vehicles) scheme, which offers incentives for EV manufacturing and adoption, is a key policy propelling 
this trend.

The growing middle-class population and rising disposable incomes in India have spurred the demand 
for personal vehicles. Urbanization and improved road infrastructure are additional factors driving 
automotive sales, further boosting the aluminum market. Major automotive manufacturers are investing 
heavily in expanding their production capacities in India, anticipating the surge in demand. This 
investment is creating a robust supply chain for aluminum components.

The electrical and electronics sector is another significant driver of the Indian aluminium market. 
Aluminium is extensively used in this sector due to its excellent electrical conductivity, lightweight, and 
cost-effectiveness compared to copper. In the electrical industry, aluminium is widely used in power 
transmission and distribution networks. Aluminium conductors, transformers, and busbars are crucial 
components in the electrical grid. The Indian Government’s initiatives to improve and expand the 
country’s power infrastructure, including rural electrification programs and the development of smart 
grids, have led to increased demand for aluminium.

The Indian steel industry is experiencing robust growth, driven by strong domestic demand and 
government initiatives like “Make in India”. Steel demand is expected to grow significantly, with some 
projections anticipating a rise to 300 million tons by 2030-31. This growth is fueled by investments in 
infrastructure, construction, and other steel-consuming sectors. The industry is expected to continue its 
expansion, playing a crucial role in India’s economic development. While facing challenges like global 
economic slowdowns and competition, the Indian steel industry is on a growth trajectory, driven by 
strong domestic demand and government support.  

The Indian graphite electrode industry presents significant opportunities due to rising steel production, 
increasing demand for electric vehicles, and supportive government policies. India’s graphite reserves, 
coupled with advancements in refining and manufacturing, position it to become a key global player in 
the graphite supply chain. Graphite Electrode is used in electric arc furnace (EAF) based steel mills and 
primarily linked to the steel industry. 

As such, your management is absolutely confident to utilize this immense opportunity by operating its 
capacity to the extent of 100%. 

THREATS: 

1. 	 Locational disadvantage especially for the Company’s Budge Budge plant, as compared to newer Port 
based Plants.

2. 	 Cheap import of CPC from China and the Middle East.  

3. 	 Huge shortage of domestic Raw Petroleum Coke (RPC) leading to increased dependence on imports.

4. 	 RPC, being a Crude Oil based product, is subject to severe price fluctuations.
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5. 	 Inadequate and Poor Infrastructure at Kolkata Port, resulting in much higher freight by vessels prepared 
to come to Kolkata Port.

6. 	 Poor transport infrastructure in East and North East of the country leading to much higher 
transportation cost.

7. 	 Pay and Carry Policy of IOC Ltd for Indian RPC resulting in much higher Inventory carrying cost.

8. 	 Volatility in raw material prices resulting from several factors including geopolitical tensions, and  
supply chain disruptions.

9. 	 Environmental concerns associated with high carbon content may lead to higher demand for cleaner 
alternatives hindering the market.

SEGMENT-WISE/PRODUCT-WISE PERFORMANCE:

During the financial years ended 31st March, 2025, your Company has achieved gross revenue from 
operations amounting to Rs. 17,452.97 Lakh, as against Rs. 42,039.12 Lakh in the previous financial year. 
This shows a decrease in the sales by 58.48% as compared to the previous financial year, majorly due to 
decrease in the sales volume and sales realisation.

Production of Calcined Petroleum Coke (CPC) & Electrode Carbon Paste (ECP) during the financial year 
under review is 46,743 MT & 4531 MT, as against 76,705 MT & 5335 MT in the previous financial year. This 
exhibits a decrease(-) in the production of CPC & ECP by 39.06% & 15.07% respectively, as compared to 
the previous financial year. 

Sales of CPC & ECP during the Financial Year under review are 41,989 MT & 4,672 MT, as compared to 
64,576 MT & 5,044 MT respectively in the previous financial year. This shows a decrease in the sales of CPC 
& ECP by 34.97% and 7.38% respectively.

The net worth for the financial year under review, increased by Rs.12.72 Crore, as compared to the 
previous financial year. 

All of the above has resulted in a poor financial performance by your Company during the Financial Year 
ending on 31.03.2025.

OUTLOOK:

The outlook for the Company continues to be optimistic based on the growth in the demand for 
Company’s both products, viz, CPC & Carbon Paste.

The Company is consolidating its customer base and also continues to expand, upgrade and modernize 
its plants. The Company is also exploring new growth opportunities as well as optimum utilization of its 
available resources.

Constant efforts are on towards achieving savings, improving operational efficiency, increasing market 
share, optimum utilization of production capacities and customer satisfaction.

The uptrend in demand of CPC confirms the management optimism. The ongoing challenges such as 
poor infrastructure, high inflation, weakness in the rupee against dollar, unemployment are some factors 
which continue to put pressure on the economic outlook.

However, your Management is optimistic about the growth and profitability of the Company. 
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RISKS & CONCERNS:

The Company is dependent on imported raw material for one of its plants, which is brought in shiploads 
and is compelled to hold an inventory of 6 months or more. RPC and CPC are both volatile commodities 
and prone to significant price fluctuations. In addition, your Company is also exposed to the risk of Rupee 
depreciation against the US $.

With most orders, there is no Price Variation Clause and thus the Company is exposed to changes in the 
Global Price and/or Exchange Risk.

For the year under review, the Company has incurred a loss of Rs. 11,27,366.59/- on foreign exchange.

In addition, the Company is always exposed to the risk of imported raw material upon arrival not 
conforming to the specifications, which can lead to higher consumption, lower price realization and/or 
longer carrying of such slow-moving inventory.

Labour availability at both Guwahati as well as Budge Budge Unit is a matter of concern, which is mainly 
disturbing the paste production, and the labour costs are increasing astronomically.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM & THEIR ADEQUACY:

The Company has Internal Control Systems commensurate with the nature and size of its business. 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for ensuring that such Internal Control Systems are 
sound in theory and efficacious in practice and expressly reiterates this responsibility in the Directors’ 
Responsibility Statement. Corporate Policies, appropriate Risk Management Processes and Management 
Information and Reporting Systems for key operational and functional areas underpin the Overall 
Control Mechanism. Apart from identifying and documenting “Entity Level Policies and Controls”, the 
exercise involves identification and documentation of significant business processes followed by Control 
Assessments, Mitigation Plans and Periodic Reporting and Monitoring. Responsibility and Ownership 
starts from process owners and upwards, leading to the MD and CEO Certification.

In order to supplement the Internal Control Processes, the Company has appointed Independent 
Professional firms to function as Internal Auditors who are authorized by the Audit Committee to assess 
the adequacy of Control Processes and report key audit observations and recommendations to the Audit 
Committee on a periodic interval.

Further, in Compliance with the Companies’ Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended, the Company has laid down a system of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting and adequacy and operating effectiveness of such controls. 

During the year the Internal Financial Controls were adequate and operating effectively. The Statutory 
Auditors have also certified on adequacy of Internal Controls and their operating effectiveness.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE WITH RESPECT TO OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE:

During the financial years ended 31st March, 2025, your Company has achieved gross revenue from 
operations amounting to Rs. 17,452.97 Lakh, as against Rs. 42,039.12 Lakh in the previous financial year. 
This shows a decrease in the sales by 58.48.% as compared to the previous financial year, majorly due to 
decrease in the sales volume and sales realisation.

Production of Calcined Petroleum Coke (CPC) & Electrode Carbon Paste (ECP) during the financial year 
under review is 46,743 MT & 4531 MT, as against 76,705 MT & 5335 MT in the previous financial year. This 
exhibits a decrease(-) in the production of CPC & ECP by 39.06% & 15.07% respectively, as compared to 
the previous financial year. 
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Sales of CPC & ECP during the Financial Year under review are 41,989 MT & 4,672 MT, as compared to 
64,576 MT & 5,044 MT respectively in the previous financial year. This shows a decrease in the sales of CPC 
& ECP by 34.97% and 7.38% respectively.

The Earning per Share of the Company for the Financial Year under review is (Rs. -48.08/-) as against Rs. 
114.27/- in the Previous Financial Year.

HUMAN RESOURCES/INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS:

Your Company has always given prime importance to Human Resources.   Continued efforts towards 
manpower rationalization are being made for reduction of cost and optimization of productivity.  

Your Company continues to provide thrust on regular training programs for up gradation of job 
knowledge and other related skills amongst its employees.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING ANALYTICAL RATIOS:

Ratio Numerator Denominator 2024-25 2023-24 % Variance Reason for 
variance

Current Ratio Current Assets Current 
Liabilities 1.97 29.40 -93.31% Increase in 

borrowings
Debt-equity 
ratio Total Debt Shareholder’s 

Equity 0.10 0.00 0.00%  __

Debt service 
coverage ratio

Earnings 
available for 
debt service

Debt Service NA NA - There is no long-
term Debt

Return on 
equity ratio

Net Profits 
after taxes – 
Preference 
Dividend 
(if any)

Average 
Shareholder’s 

Equity
-4.81 11.43 -142.08% Decrease in Profit 

in current year

Inventory 
turnover ratio

Cost of goods 
sold OR sales

Average 
Inventory 2.12 5.91 -64.15%

Decrease in 
Turnover in current 

year
Trade 
receivables 
turnover ratio

Net Credit Sales
Average 

Accounts 
Receivable

13.88 21.96 -36.77% Increase in 
Receivable 

Trade payables 
turnover ratio

Net Credit 
Purchases

Average Trade 
Payables 11.90 21.72 -45.20%

Increase in Credit 
Purchase in current 

year

Net capital 
turnover ratio Net Sales

Average 
Working 
Capital

1.27 2.38 -46.47%
Decrease in 

Turnover in current 
year

Net profit ratio Net Profit Net Sales -0.07 0.07 -201.35% Decrease in profit 
margin

Return 
on capital 
employed

Earnings before 
interest and 
taxes

Capital 
Employed -0.02 0.06 -128.73% Decrease in profit

Interest 
Coverage Ratio EBIT Interest 

Expenses -5.26 7.59 -169.30% Decrease in profit
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT:

Statements in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” describing the Company’s objectives, projections, 
estimates, expectations or predictions may be “forward looking statements” within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws and regulations. Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in this 
report.   Important factors that would make a difference to the Company’s operations include global and 
Indian demand/supply conditions, raw materials prices, feed stock availability and prices, cyclical demand 
and pricing in the Company’s principal markets, changes in Government regulations/policies, tax regimes, 
economic developments within the country and other factors such as litigation and labour negotiations. The 
Company assumes no responsibility to modify or revise any forward-looking statements on the basis of any 
future events or new information. Actual results may differ from those mentioned in the report.

                                                                                      For & on behalf of the Board of Directors,

								                     	 Sd/-
Date: 14th May, 2025	 Rakesh Himatsingka
Place: Kolkata	 (DIN: 00632156)

                                                                                              (Chairman and Managing Director) 
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[Pursuant to Schedule V of the SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015]

INTRODUCTION

The Company always focuses on Good Corporate Governance which is a key driver of sustainable 
corporate growth and long-term value creation. Your Company believes in conducting its affairs with the 
highest level of integrity, with proper authorizations, accountability, disclosure and transparency.

The details of the Corporate Governance compliance by the Company as per the Schedule V of the SEBI 
(Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015 are as under:  

1. 	 COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:

	 Corporate Governance is the system by which companies are directed and managed. Good Corporate 
Governance structure encourages Companies to create value through entrepreneurism, innovation, 
development and exploration and provide accountability and control systems commensurate with 
the risk involved.

	 India Carbon Limited believes in ensuring true Corporate Governance Practices to enhance long term 
Shareholder’s Value through corporate performance, transparency, integrity and accountability.

	 The Company is fully committed to and continues to follow procedures and practices in conformity 
with the Corporate Governance enshrined in the SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulation, 2015.   

2. 	 BOARD OF DIRECTORS – COMPOSITION:

	 The Board of Directors of the Company Consists of an optimal mix of Executive/Non-Executive 
Directors and Independent Directors, who have in depth knowledge of business, in addition to 
expertise in their areas of specialization. The Board provides leadership, strategic guidance, objective 
and independent view to the Company’s Management while discharging its fiduciary responsibilities, 
thereby ensuring that management adheres to high standards of ethics, transparency and disclosure. 
The Board consisted of 10(Ten) Directors including two alternate Directors as on 31st March, 2025. 
The Board is headed by Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka (DIN: 00632156), who is also the Managing Director. 
The Board meets the requirement not less than one half being Independent Directors. The size and 
composition of the Board confirms the requirements of SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure 
Requirement) Regulation, 2015). 

	 Independent Directors are Non-Executive Directors as defined under SEBI (Listing Obligation and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015. The maximum tenure of the Independent Directors is 
in compliance with the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”). All the Independent Directors have confirmed 
that they meet the criteria as mentioned under Companies Act, 2013 and Reg. 16 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015.

	 None of the Directors on the Board hold Directorships in more than ten Public Companies. Further, 
none of them is a member of more than ten Committees or Chairman of more than five Committees 
across all the Public Companies in which he/she is a director. Necessary disclosures regarding 
Committee positions in other Public Companies as on March 31, 2025, have been made by the 
Directors. The terms and conditions of appointment of the Independent Directors are disclosed 
on the website of the Company at www.indiacarbonltd.com. Except Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka & Mr. 
Shaurya Veer Himatsingka none of the Directors are related to each other.
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	 During the year a separate meeting of the Independent Directors was held inter-alia to review the 
performance of Non-Independent Directors and the Board as a whole. The Board periodically reviews 
compliance reports of all laws applicable to the Company.

	 The Composition and Category of Board of Director as on 31st March, 2025 is as under: 

Sl. 
No.

Name of the Director Category

1. Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka  
Chairman & Managing Director

Executive Director (Promoter)

2. Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka  
Joint Managing Director & CEO

Executive Director (Promoter)

3. Mr. Tony William Grimes Non -Executive Director (Non- Promoter)
4. Mr. Gordon Kenneth McIntosh Non -Executive Director (Non- Promoter)
5. Mr.  Alvaro Emilio Martinez

(Alternate to Mr. Gordon Kenneth McIntosh)
Non -Executive Director (Non- Promoter)

6. Mr. Mark Russell Jones
(Alternate to Mr. Tony William Grimes)

Non -Executive Director (Non- Promoter)

7. Dr, Santanu Mitra Non-Executive and Independent Director
8. Dr Anuradha Lohia Non-Executive and Independent Director
9. Mr. Avijit Mukerji Non-Executive and Independent Director

10. Ms. Susmita Ghose Non-Executive and Independent Director

	 Director Induction, Familiarization and Training:

	 The Company provides suitable training to the Independent Directors to familiarize them with the 
Company, their role, nature of the industry in which the Company operates, business model of the 
Company etc. 

	 The Company acknowledges the importance of continuous education and training of the Directors 
to enable effective discharge of their responsibility. The Company has been organizing visits of the 
Directors to its plants located at both Guwahati and Budge Budge with a view to familiarize them 
with the nature of Industry, Operation, Process and to interact with the Management Personnel and 
Staff.

	 Directors are regularly briefed about the Industry Specific Issue by the Chairman to enable them 
understands the Business Environment. To enhance their knowledge and skill the Directors are 
regularly updated on the changes in the Policies, Law and Regulations, Development in the Business 
Environment etc.

	 The policy for such familiarization programs has been uploaded in the website of the Company at 
www.indiacarbonltd.com.

	 Board Meetings:

	 During the Financial Year 2024-25, four Board Meetings were held on 18th May, 2024, 9th August, 
2024, 4th November, 2024 and 29th January, 2025. The necessary quorum was present for all the 
meetings. Video / Tele-conferencing facilities were used to facilitate Directors travelling / residing 
abroad or at other locations to participate in the meetings.  During the year 2024-25, information as 
mentioned in the SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015 has been 
placed before the Board for its consideration. 
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	 The details of the attendance at the Board Meetings during the year and the Last Annual General 
Meeting as also number of other Directorships and Committee Memberships and disclosure of 
relationship between Directors inter-se are given below: -

Name of the Director No. of Board 
Meetings 
attended

Attendance 
at last AGM

Disclosure of 
relationship between 

Directors Inter-se

No. of Shares held 
by Director as on 

31.03.2025
Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka 4 Yes Father of Mr. Shaurya 

Veer Himatsingka
10445

Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka 4 Yes Son of Mr. Rakesh 
Himatsinkga 

237431

Mr. Gordon Kenneth McIntosh 1 No None Nil
Mr.  Alvaro Emilio Martinez 
(Alternate to Mr. Gordon 
Kenneth McIntosh) 

1 No None Nil

Mr. Tony William Grims 1 No None Nil
Mr. Mark Russell Jones
(Alternate to Mr.   Tony 
William Grims)

1 No None                                                                                  
Nil

Dr. Santanu Mitra@ 2 Yes None Nil
Dr. Anuradha Lohia@ 2 Yes None Nil
Mr. Avijit Mukerji@ 2 Yes None Nil
Mrs. Susmita Ghosh 4 Yes None Nil
Mr. Soumendra Mohan Basu* 2 Yes None Nil
Mr. Hemant Kumar Khaitan* 2 Yes None 5200
Mr. Manoj Mohanka* 2 Yes None Nil
Mr. Sunirmal Talukdar# 3 Yes None Nil

The following persons are related as per the Provisions of the Act:

Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka and Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka;

*Retired on completion of 2nd term as Independent Director on 04.09.2024, #Retired on completion of 
2nd term as Independent Director on 11.11.2024 and @ Appointed as Independent Director on 09.08.2024

Code of Conduct: The Board of Directors has laid down a Code of Conduct for all Board Members and 
the Employees in Management grade of the Company. All Board Members and Senior Management 
Personnel have confirmed Compliance with the Code. A declaration signed by the Managing Director is 
attached and form part of this Annual Report. 

To the Shareholders of India Carbon Ltd
Compliance with Code of Conduct

I hereby declare that all the Board Members and Senior Management Personnel have affirmed 
Compliance with the Code of Conduct as adopted by the Board of Directors.

                                                                                                                                                               Sd/-
                                                                                                                                            Rakesh Himatsingka 
                                                                                                                                                   (DIN: 00632156)
Dated: 14.05.2025                                                                                              (Chairman and Managing Director)
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	 Code of Conduct for Independent Directors: As per Provisions of Section 149(8) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 the Company and Independent Directors shall abide by the Provisions specified in Schedule 
IV. Further Schedule IV lays down a Code for the Independent Directors of the Company. Pursuant 
to the said Provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has drafted a Code for Independent 
Directors of the Company and the same has also been placed in the Website of the Company at www.
indiacarbonltd.com.

3. 	 COMMITTEE OF DIRECTORS:

	 A)	 Audit Committee:

		  The Audit Committee functions in accordance with Part C of Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015 and Section 177 of the Companies 
Act, 2013.  

		  Composition of the Committee as on 31.03.2025 and its Meeting & Attendance during the 
Financial Year 2024-25:

Name of the Member Category Position No. of Meeting 
attended

Mr. Avijit Mukerji@ Independent Director Chairman 1
Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Executive Director (Promoter) Member 4
Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka Executive Director (Promoter) Member 4
Dr. Santanu Mitra@ Independent Director Member 2
Dr. Anuradha Lohia@ Independent Director Member 2
Mr. Soumendra Mohan* Basu Independent Director Member 2
Mr. Manoj Mohanka * Independent Director Member 2
Mr. Hemant Kumar Khaitan * Independent Director Chairman 2

		  *Retired on completion of 2nd term as Independent Directors on 04.09.2024 @ Appointed as 
Independent Directors on 09.08.2024

		  All the Committee Members are financially literate and all of them have accounting or related 
financial management expertise. During the year 2024-25, four Audit Committee Meetings were 
held on 18th May, 2024, 9th August, 2024, 4th November,2024 and 29th January, 2025.

		  The Chief Financial Officer and the representatives of Statutory & Internal Auditors and other 
officials of the Company are invited to attend the Audit Committee Meetings as and when 
required.  

		  The Minutes of the Audit Committee Meetings are noted by the Board of Directors in their 
subsequent Meeting.

		  Terms of reference: The Audit Committee assists the Board in its responsibility of overseeing 
the quality and integrity of the accounting, auditing and reporting practices of the Company 
and its compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements. The Committee’s purpose is 
to oversee the accounting and financial process of the Company, the audits of the Company’s 
Financial Statements, the appointment, independence, performance and remuneration of 
the Statutory Auditors including the Cost Auditors, the performance of Internal Auditors and 
the Company’s Risk Management Policies. The terms of reference of Audit Committee cover 
the areas mentioned under Part C of Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure 
Requirement) Regulation, 2015 as well as Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013.
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	 B)	 Nomination and remuneration committee:
		  The Board has framed Nomination and Remuneration policy, which is generally in line with the 

existing industry practice and applicable laws. The Policy has been displayed on the Company’s 
website viz. www.indiacarbonltd.com.The broad terms of reference of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee are as under: 

		  Terms of reference: The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assists the Board in 
overseeing the method, criteria and quantum of compensation for Directors and Senior 
Management based on their performance and defined assessment criteria. The Committee 
formulates the criteria for evaluation of the performance of Independent Directors and the 
Board of Directors; identifying the persons who are qualified to become Directors, and who may 
be appointed in Senior Management and recommends to the Board for their appointment and 
removal. The terms of the reference of Nomination and Remuneration Committee cover the areas 
mentioned under Part D of Schedule II of SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) 
Regulation 2015 as well as Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013.

		  The composition of the Nomination and remuneration Committee as on 31.03.2025 is as 
follows: 

		  There were two meeting of Nomination and remuneration Committee of the Company held on 
18th May, 2024 and 9th August, 2024 during the year the year 2024-25.

Name of the Member Category Position No of Meeting 
attended

Dr. Anuradha Lohia@ Independent Director Chairperson Nil
Dr. Santanu Mitra@ Independent Director Member Nil
Mr. Avijit Mukerji@ Independent Director Member Nil
Mr. Soumendra Mohan Basu* Independent Director Chairman 2
Mr. Hemant Kumar Khaitan* Independent Director Member 2
Mr. Manoj Mohanka* Independent Director Member 2

*Retired on completion of 2nd term as Independent Director on 04.09.2024. @Appointed as 
Independent Director on 09.08.2024

The broad terms of reference of the Nomination & Remuneration are to determine on behalf of 
the Board of Directors of the Company, the Company’s policy on specific remuneration packages 
for Managing Director/ Key Management Personnel and other senior employee of the Company.

Details of Remuneration paid to all Directors during the Financial Year 2024-25:

		  (i)	 Executive Directors –Managing Director/Joint Managing Director:                  

Name Salary
(Rs.)

Commission
(Rs.)

Perquisites
(Rs.)

Retirement 
Benefits

(Rs.)

Total
(Rs.)

Service 
Contract

Notice
Period

(in months)

Severance 
Fees (Rs.)

Mr. Rakesh 
Himatsingka
(Chairman 
& Managing 
Director)

7189600 0 1852729 0 9042329 5 Years 
(w.e.f. 

01/12/2024)

3 Nil

Mr. Shaurya 
Veer 
Himatsingka
(Joint 
Managing 
Director)

6754800 0 1713730 0 8468530 5 Year
(w.e.f. 

01/04/2025)
8468530

3 Nil
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			   Non-Whole time/Non-Executive Directors: 

Non-Executive Directors Sitting Fees paid for attending Board/Committee 
Meetings (Rs.)

Dr. Anuradha Lohia
Dr. Santanu Mitra
Mr. Avijit Mukerji
Mr. Hemant. K. Khaitan
Mr. Manoj Mohanka
Mr. Soumendra Mohan Basu
Mr. Sunirmal Talukdar
Ms. Susmita Ghosh

210000
195000
90000

150000
150000
180000
90000

210000

		  a)	 Neither any Stock Option or nor any Bonus paid to any of the Independent Directors. No 
severance Fees is payable to Directors.

		  b)	 Non-Executive Independent Directors were paid sitting fees of Rs. 30,000/- for attending 
each Board Meeting, Audit Committee Meeting and Independent Directors Meeting @ 
Rs.30,000/- and Rs.15,000/- for other Committee Meetings.  

			   There has been no Pecuniary Relationship or Transactions of the Non-Executive Directors 
vis-à-vis the Company during the Financial Year 2024-25. 

	 C)	 Stakeholders Relationship Committee:
		  In Compliance with the provisions of Section 178 of Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing 

Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015 the Board has formed a “Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee”.

		  Composition of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee as on 31.03.2025 is as follows: -

Name of the Member Category Position No of Meeting attended
Dr. Santanu Mitra@ Independent Director Chairman 1
Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Executive Director Member 1
Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka Executive Director Member 1
Mr. Hemant Kumar Khaitan* Independent Director Chairman 1

		  *Retired on completion of 2nd term as Independent Director on 04.09.2024. @Appointed as 
Independent Director on 09.08.2024

		  The Committee looks into redressed of Shareholders’ Complaints like transfer of Shares, non-
receipt of declared dividends and non-receipt of Balance Sheet etc. The Committee oversees the 
performance of the Registrar and Share Transfer Agents and recommends measures for overall 
improvement in the quality of investor services.

		  One Meeting of Stakeholder Relationship Committee was held on the 29.01.2025 during the 
Financial Year 2024-25.

		  Investors Complaints: Balance as on 01.4.2024 – Nil, received during the year - 5, Disposed of 
during the Year - 5, Balance as on 31.03.2025 - Nil. 

		  Warning against Insider Trading

		  Comprehensive guidelines advising and cautioning the management, staff and other relevant 
business associates on the procedure to be followed while dealing with the securities of the 
Company have been issued and implemented.
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	 D) 	 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee: 

		  Pursuant to Section 135 of Companies Act, 2013 with regards to Corporate Social Responsibilities 
your Company has constituted a Corporate Social Responsibility Committee comprising of the 
following Director:

Name of the Member Category Position No of Meeting attended
Ms. Susmita Ghose Independent Director Chairperson 4
Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka Executive Director Member 4
Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka Executive Director Member 4
Dr. Anuradha Lohia@ Independent Director Member 2
Mr. Soumendra Mohan Basu* Independent Director Member 2

		  *Retired on completion of 2nd term as Independent Director on 04.09.2024. @Appointed as 
Independent Director on 09.08.2024

		  The Company has framed a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy which has been uploaded 
in the website of the Company at www.indiacarbonltd.com. During the financial year ended 
31.03.2025, four (4) number of meetings held by the CSR Committee on 18th May, 2024, 9th 
August, 2024, 4th November, 2024 and 29th January,2025.

4. 	 GENERAL BODY MEETINGS: The last three Annual General Meetings were held as under:

Financial Year Date Time Venue
2023-24 04.09.2024 10:30 A.M. Through Audio Visual Means
2022-23 18.09.2023 11:00 A.M. Through Audio Visual Means
2021-22 30.09.2022 12.00 NOON Through Audio Visual Means

	 Special Resolutions passed in the previous three AGMs:

AGM held on 
04.09.2024

(1) Reappointment of Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka as Managing Director
(2) Reappointment of Mr. Shaurya Veer  Himatsingka as Joint Managing Director 
(3) Appointment of Dr Santau Mitra as Independent Director
(4) Appointment of Dr Anuradha Lohia as Independent Director
(5) Appointment of Mr. Avijit Mukerji as Independent Director

AGM held on 
18.09.2023

No Special Resolution passed

AGM held on 
30.09.2022

(1)	 Approve the Investment/Borrowing by the Company in the Ordinary Course of 
Business

(2)	 Authorization Board of Directors to make investment or acquire by way of 
subscription, purchase or otherwise the securities of any other body corporate(s) 
whether Indian or overseas up to maximum amount of Rs.400 crores.

(3)	 Approve sale of shares of C & C Investment Limited, wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Company

	 No Special Resolution requiring a Postal Ballot was proposed last year. No Special Resolution requiring 
a Postal Ballot is being proposed at the ensuing AGM. However, the Members are provided with the 
facility to cast their vote electronically on all the resolutions set out in the Notice of 63rd Annual 
General Meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Contd.)

http://www.indiacarbonltd.com


Notice Statutory Report Financial Section

Annual Report 2024-25 || 53

5. 	 DISCLOSURES:
	 (a) 	 Disclosure on materially significant related party transactions:
        	 During the Financial Year ended as on 31st March, 2025 there were no Materially Significant 

Related Party Transactions that may have potential conflict with the interests of the Company at 
large. Suitable disclosure as required by the Ind As has been made in the Financial Statements. 

	 (b) 	Disclosure on Accounting Treatment:
		  The Company has complied with all relevant Provisions of Indian Accounting Standards notified 

by the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, while preparing the 
Financial Statements.  

	 (c) 	 Details of Non-Compliances by the Company, Penalties, Strictures imposed on the 
Company by the Stock Exchanges, SEBI or any Statutory Authority on matters relating to 
the capital Markets: 

		  There has been no instance of non-compliance of any requirement of the Uniform Listing 
Agreement entered with the Stock Exchange as well as Regulation and Guideline of SEBI as may 
be applicable to the Company. No Penalties or Strictures were imposed by SEBI, Stock Exchange 
or any other Statutory Authority on matters relating to Capital Markets during the last three 
years.

	 (d) 	Risk Management:

		  A detailed exercise is being carried out to identify, evaluate, manage and monitor risks of the 
Company, which may threaten the existence of the Company from time to time and as and when 
required.

	 (e) 	 Vigil Mechanism/ Whistle Blower Mechanism:

		  A Vigil Mechanism/ Whistle Blower Policy pursuant to Section 177(9) of Companies Act, 2013 and 
SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015 have been formulated for 
Directors and Employees of the Company and the same is available on the Company’s Website.

	 (f) 	 Details of compliance with mandatory requirements and adoption of the non-mandatory 
requirements of SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015:

		  The Company has complied with the mandatory requirements of SEBI (Listing Obligation and 
Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015. Adoptions of non-mandatory requirements of the 
aforesaid Regulations are being reviewed by the Board from time to time.	

	 (g) 	Disclosure of Directors Interest:

		  None of the Directors are related/interested in each other’s except the Chairman & Managing 
Director and the Joint Managing Director & CEO. Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka (Chairman & Managing 
Director) is the father of Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka (Joint Managing Director & CEO).

6. 	 MEANS OF COMMUNICATION:

	 a)	 Quarterly    Results   are    published in daily   newspapers   viz.  Business Standard (English), 
Assam Rising (English- Assam/Guwahati) and Dainandin Barta (Assamese- local language). The 
Annual Report is being sent to the Shareholders of the Company. The Quarterly as well as Annual 
Financial Results has also been posted on the Company’s Website at www.indiacarbonltd.com.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Contd.)



India Carbon Limited

54 || Annual Report 2024-25

	 b)	 Management’s Discussions & Analysis Report forms part of this Annual Report, which is also 
being sent to all Shareholders of the Company.

	 c)	 Official news releases, if any, are given to the press from time to time.

	 d)	 Presentations to institutional investors or to the analysts: As and when made.

7. 	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES:

	 The Company do not have any Subsidiary Company as on 31.03.2025 and hence the requirement 
of SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015 with regards to Subsidiary 
Company is not applicable to your Company.

8. 	 PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING:

	 The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct with a view to regulate trading in securities by the 
Directors and Designated Employees of the Company. The Code requires a pre-clearance for dealing 
in the Company’s shares and prohibits the purchase and sale of Company shares by the Directors and 
Designated Employees while in possession of Unpublished Price Sensitive Information in relation 
to the Company and during the period when Trading Window is closed. The Code of Practices & 
Procedures for fair Disclosure of Unpublished Price Sensitive Information under Regulation 8(1) 
of SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 has been uploaded into the Company’s 
website.

	 All Directors of the Company and Designated Employee has confirmed with compliance with the 
Code.

9. 	 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS:

	 The criteria for evaluation of the Independent Directors are attendance, participation in deliberations, 
understanding the Company’s business and that of the industry and guiding the Company in 
decisions affecting the business and additionally based on the roles and responsibilities as specified 
in Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013 and fulfilment of independence criteria and independence 
from management. The Board carried out evaluation of the performance of the Independent 
Directors on the basis of the criteria laid down. The evaluation was done by the Board of Directors 
except the Director who was evaluated.

10. 	SKILLED AND COMPETENT BOARD:

	 The Board comprises Directors with appropriate balance of skills, experience, diversity, independence, 
and knowledge about the Company that enables it to discharge its duties and responsibilities 
effectively. In the last few years, the external environment in which the Company operates and the 
regulatory framework governing it have undergone significant changes. With an ever-increasing 
focus on cyber security, artificial intelligence, Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) aspects, 
risk management, the skills/capabilities required of Directors in the context of business for efficient 
functioning of the Board has also evolved. 

          SKILL MATRIX:

	 	 Leadership Expertise – 95%
	 	 Understanding of Emerging Market – 90%
	 	 Financial Expertise and Risk Management – 90%
	 	 Corporate Governance and Legal Framework – 95%
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	 	 People and Talent Development – 90%
	 	 Digital / Information Technology & Data Governance – 70%
	 	 Purposeful Business & Sustainability / ESG – 95%

11. 	SENIOR MANAGEMENT:

	 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee along with the Board reviews the succession planning 
for the Senior Management. To ensure leadership and business continuity, evaluation of successors 
is carried out considering the criteria such as readiness of the candidate qualified to serve as member 
of Senior Management, exposure to the business, mentorship etc. including contingency plan for 
each position. 

12. 	CFO & CEO CERTIFICATION:

	 The Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company have issued necessary 
Certificate pursuant to the Provisions of Regulation 17(8) read with Part B of Schedule II of SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and the same is attached and 
form part of the Annual Report.

13. 	COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE OF THE AUDITOR:

	 Certificate from Practicing Company Secretary confirming compliance with the conditions of 
Corporate Governance as stipulated in Chapter IV of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 is attached and forms part of the Annual Report. 

14. 	GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION:

	 a)	 Annual General Meeting is proposed to be held on 18th September, 2025 at 11:00 A.M.  through 
Video Conferencing.

    	 b) 	 Financial Calendar: 1st April, 2025 to 31st March, 2026 (Tentative):

Financial Results for the quarter ending 30th June, 
2025

Within 45 days of 1st Quarter ended

Financial Results for the quarter ending 30th 
September, 2025

Within 45 days of 2nd Quarter ended

Financial Results for the quarter ending 31st 
December, 2025

Within 45 days of 3rd Quarter ended

Financial Results for the quarter ending 31st March, 
2026

Within 60 days of 4th Quarter ended 

	 c)	 Date of Book Closure:

		  The Register of Members and Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from    
12th September, 2025 to 18th September, 2025 (both days inclusive).

	 d)	 Dividend Payment Date:  

		  Your Company has not declared any dividend for the year under review. The Company had 
transferred to Investor Education and Protection Fund requisite amount and had also filed 
necessary form with Register of Companies during the F.Y. 2024-25. There were no Unpaid 
Dividends, Matured Deposits, Debentures or Accrued Interest thereon, Application Money Due 
for Refund which has remained Unpaid or Unclaimed for Seven Years or more. 
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	 e)	 Registrars and Share Transfer Agent:

		  M/s. C. B. Management Services (P) Limited, Rasoi Court,5th Floor, 20 R N Mukherjee Road, Kolkata 
700001, a SEBI registered Registrar, are the Registrars & Share Transfer Agent of the Company 
and are processing   the   transfers, sub-division, consolidation, splitting   of    securities, etc. 
The Company’s   Shares   can   be   traded only in the dematerialized form and any request for 
Dematerialization and Re-Materialization should    be    sent    directly    to M/s. C.B. Management 
Services (P) Limited, P Rasoi Court,5th Floor, 20 R N Mukherjee Road, Kolkata 700001. The Company 
has already entered into agreements with NSDL and CDSL for the purpose of Dematerialization 
of shares, Demat ISIN Number in NSDL and CDSL:                               

		  INE 743B01015.

	 f)	 Share Transfer System:

		  As per directives issued by SEBI, it is compulsory to trade in securities of any Company’s Equity 
shares in Dematerialized Form.

	 g)	 Distribution of Shareholding as on 31st March, 2025:

  No. of Shares No. of Shareholders No. of Shares
1 - 500 2619 189783

501 - 1000 57 44270
1001 - 2000 24 33670
2001 - 3000 3 7700
3001 - 4000 2 6686
4001-5000 2 9040

5001-10000 4 22201
10001 - 50000 11 189334

50001 - 100000 1 92860
100001 and above 5 2054456

TOTAL 2728 2650000
	 h) 	 Shareholding Pattern as on 31st March, 2025:

Shareholders Total No. of shares Percentage to Total Issued Shares
Promoters 1311788 49.50
Persons acting in Concert 0 0.00
Mutual Funds, Banks, Financial 
Institutions and Insurance 
Companies

15203 0.57

Others 1323029 49.93
TOTAL 2650000 100.00

	 i) 	 Dematerialization of Shares: 

		  As per the Notification issued by SEBI, the shares of the Company are traded compulsorily in 
dematerialized form by all investors with effect from 26th March, 2001.  As on 31st March, 2025, 
67.72% of the Company’s Paid up Equity Capital representing 17,94,686 Shares were held in 
Demat form.

No. of shares in Physical Segment 855314 32.28%
No. of shares in Demat Segment 1794686 67.72%
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	 j) 	 Dematerialization:

		  The Shareholders should open a Demat Account with a Depository Participant (DP) for 
Dematerialization of Shares. The person has to submit a Demat request form duly filled up along 
with the Share Certificates to his DP. The DP will allocate a Demat Request Number and shall 
forward the same physically as well as electronically, through NSDL/CDSL, to the Registrar and 
Share Transfer Agent. On receipt of the Demat request both physically and electronically and 
after verification, the shares are Dematerialized and an Electronic Credit of Shares is given in the 
account of the Shareholder.

	 k) 	 Listing of Equity Shares on Stock Exchange:
    		  The Company’s Equity Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange in Kolkata. 
     		  Name of the Stock Exchange: The Calcutta Stock Exchange Ltd.	         
     		  Stock Code: 19205
     		  Stock Market Price of the Company’s Share vis-à-vis Sensex: No trading took place during 

the
      		  Financial Year 2024-25.          

15. 	PLANT LOCATIONS:

	 A)	 Noonmati, Guwahati - 781020, Assam.

	 B)	 35, Deshbandhu Chittaranjan Road, Budge Budge, 24 Parganas (South), Kolkata-700 137

16. 	ADDRESSES FOR CORRESPONDENCE:

	 For transfer/dematerialization of shares payment of dividend on shares, interest andredemption of 
debentures, and any other query relating to the shares and debentures of the Company: 

	 C B Management Services (P) Ltd, Rasoi Court,5th Floor, 20 R N Mukherjee Road, Kolkata 700001 
Telephone: (033) 69066200, E-mail: parthac@cbmsl.com / rta@cbmsl.com  

	 Any query on Annual Report: Secretarial Department: “Temple Chambers”, 4th Floor, 6, Old Post 
       Office Street, Kolkata - 700 001, Ph: (033) 2248-7856/9.
                                               

For & on behalf of the Board of Directors,

								                     	 Sd/-
Date: 14th May, 2025	 Rakesh Himatsingka
Place: Kolkata	 (DIN: 00632156)

                                                                                              (Chairman and Managing Director) 
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CFO/CEO CERTIFICATION

(Pursuant to Regulation 17(8) of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015)

In terms of Regulation 17(8) of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015, Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company has Certified to the Board that:

A. 	 We have reviewed Financial Statements and the Cash Flow Statement for the year and that to 
the best of our knowledge and belief:

	 (1) 	 These statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact 
or contain statements that might be misleading;

	 (2) 	 These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s Affairs and are in 
compliance with existing accounting standards, applicable Laws and Regulations.

B.	 To the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during 
the year are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code of conduct.

C. 	 We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal control for financial reporting 
and that we have evaluated the effectiveness of internal control systems of the Company 
pertaining to financial reporting and we have disclosed to the auditors and the audit committee, 
deficiencies in the design or operation of such internal controls, if any, of which they are aware 
and steps have been taken to rectify these deficiencies.

D.     We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee that:

	 (1) 	 There has not been any significant change in internal control over financial reporting during 
the year;

	 (2) 	 There have not been any significant changes in accounting policies during the year 
requiring disclosure in the notes to the financial statements; and

	 (3) 	 We are not aware of any instances during the year of significant fraud with involvement 
therein of the Management or an employee having a significant role in the Company’s 
Internal Control System Over Financial Reporting. `

For INDIA CARBON LIMITED				       For INDIA CARBON LIMITED
Sd/-									         Sd/-
Shaurya Veer Himatsingka						      Vinod Kumar 

Agarwal
(Chief Executive Officer)						       (Chief Financial Officer) 
Date: 14.05. 2025 
Place: Kolkata
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CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

(As per clause C of Schedule V of the Securities Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 2015  read with Regulation 34(3) of the said Listing 
Regulations)

To,

The Members,

India Carbon Limited

(CIN: L23101AS1961PLC001173) 

Noonmati, Guwahati, AS 781020 IN

 

As required by item 10(i) of Part C of Schedule V of the Securities Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 2015, I hereby certify that none of 
the Directors on the Board of India Carbon Limited (CIN: L23101AS1961PLC001173)  having its 
registered office at Noonmati, Guwahati, AS 781020 IN,  have been debarred or disqualified from 
being appointed or continuing as Directors of Companies by the SEBI/ Ministry of Corporate Affairs 
or any such statutory authority.

Place: Kolkata                                                                                                                      For, Mahata Agarwal& Associates
Date: 14.05.2025 Practicing Company Secretaries

(Unique No: P2021WB088100)
(P.R No. 1998/2023)

UDIN: F011966G000342285
Sumantra Sarathi Mahata

Partner
Membership No.-F11966

C.P. No.-13473
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AS REQUIRED UNDER 
REGULATION 34(3) READ WITH SCHEDULE V OF SEBI (LISTING OBLIGATIONS & DISCLOSURE 
REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015 

To The Members of India Carbon Limited (CIN: L23101AS1961PLC001173) registered office 
at Noonmati, Guwahati, AS 781020 IN

I have examined the Compliance of Corporate Governance of M/s India Carbon Limited (CIN: 
L23101AS1961PLC001173) registered office at Noonmati, Guwahati, AS 781020 IN for the 
financial year 2024-25 as stipulated under applicable regulations of Securities & Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and Listing 
Agreement entered into by the said Company with the Stock Exchanges. 

The Compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is responsibility of the Management. My 
examination was limited to a review of the procedures and implementation thereof, adopted 
by the Company for ensuring compliance with conditions of the Corporate Governances. It is 
neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company. 

In my opinion and to the best of my information and according to the explanation given to me, 
I certify that the Company has generally complied with the condition of Corporate Governance 
as stipulated under applicable Regulations of Securities & Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. 

I further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the 
Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the 
affairs of the Company.

Place: Kolkata                                                                                                                      For, Mahata Agarwal& Associates
Date: 14.05.2025 Practicing Company Secretaries

(Unique No: P2021WB088100)
(P.R No. 1998/2023)

UDIN: F011966G000342230
Sumantra Sarathi Mahata

Partner
Membership No.-F11966

C.P. No.-13473
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To the Members of
INDIA CARBON LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of India Carbon Limited (“the Company”), which 
comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, and the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), the Statement of changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
aforesaid financial statements, give the information required by the Act, in the manner so required and 
give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India including 
the IND AS, of the state of affairs as at March 31, 2025., and its Loss including other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and its Cash Flow for the year ended on that date.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 
specified under section 143(10) of the Act (SAs). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of 
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the 
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Key Audit Matter Auditor’s Response
Litigations - Contingencies 
The Company has ongoing litigations with respect to entry tax 
under WB Entry Tax Act 2012, which might have an impact on 
the results, if the potential exposures were to materialize.
The matter is sub-judice
Refer Note 32 to the Financial Statements

Principal Audit Procedures 
Our audit approach was a combination 
of test of internal controls and 
substantive procedures. Supporting 
documentation are tested for the 
positions taken by the management. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 

l	 The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Report on Corporate Governance, Shareholder information 
and Report of the Board of Directors & Management Discussion and Analysis, but does not include 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
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l	 Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

l	 In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

l	 If based on the work we have performed we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134 (5) of the 
Companies Act.2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these IND AS financial statements that 
give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance (including other comprehensive 
income),changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the Accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (IND AS) specified under 
section 133 of the act read with rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules 2014. This responsibility 
also includes the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of 
the act for safeguarding the assets of the company and for preventing and detecting the frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgment and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial control, that were operating effectively for ensuring  the accuracy and completeness of 
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of IND AS financial statements that 
give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

l	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 
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l	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also 
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial 
controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

l	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

l	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

l	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the financial statements that, individually or in 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the 
financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in 
(i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the 
effect of any identified misstatements in the financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2020 (“the Order”) as amended, issued by Central 
Government of India in terms of subsection (11) of Section 143 of the act, we give in the ‘Annexure A’ a 
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 & 4 of the order.

As required by section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit we report that:

a.	 We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;
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b.	 In our opinion proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as 
it appears from our examination of those books;

c.	 The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit & Loss including other comprehensive income, statement 
of changes and Cash Flow Statement in equity dealt with by this report are in agreement with the 
books of account;

d.	 In our opinion the aforesaid IND AS financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards 
specified under section 133 of the act. 

e.	 On the basis of written representations received from the directors as on March 31,2025, and taken 
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31,2025, from 
being appointed as a director in terms of sub section(2) of section 164 of the Act.

f.	 With respect to the adequacy of the Internal Financial Controls over financial reporting of the 
company and operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure 
B”. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting. 

g.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with the 
requirements of section 197 (16) of the Act, as amended: 

	 In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanation given to us, 
the remuneration paid by the company to its directors during the year is in accordance with the 
provisions of section 197 of the act.

h.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 
of the Companies (Audit & Auditors) Rules 2014, in our opinion and to best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us:

	 i.	 The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigation on its financial position in its 
financial statements in accordance with the generally accepted accounting practice – Refer 
Note 32 to the financial statements.

	 ii.	 The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which 
there were any material foreseeable losses.

	 iii.	 There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred to the investor’s 
education and protection fund by the company.

	 iv.	 I)	 The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds 
have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium 
of any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person of entity 
including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”) with the understanding, whether recorded 
in writing or otherwise, that the intermediary shall whether directly or indirectly, lend or 
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries “) or provide any guarantee. Security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

		  ii) 	 The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds 
have been received by the Company from any person of entity including foreign entities 
(“Funding Parties”) with the understanding whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that 
the Company shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities 
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identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) of provide any guarantee, security or the like on hehalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries.

		  iii) 	 Based on such audit procedures that we considered reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) contain any material misstatement.

		  iv) 	 The Dividend declared and paid during the year by the Company is in compliance with 
Section 123 of the Act.

		  v) 	 Based on our examination, which included test checks, the Company has used accounting 
software for maintaining its books of account for the financial year ended March 31, 2025 
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. Further, during 
the course of our audit we did not come across any instance of the audit trail feature being 
tampered with.

	 As proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (accounts) Rules, 2014 is applicable from April 1, 2023, 
reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 on preservation of 
audit trail as per the statutory requirements for record retention is not applicable for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2025.

i.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with the 
requirements of section 197(16) of the act, as amended;

	 In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the remuneration paid by the Company to its directors during the year is in accordance with the 
provisions of section 197 of the Act. 

Kolkata
Dated 14th May, 2025

 

For S. SAMANTA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 305020E

C.N.CHATTERJEE
Partner

Membership No.: 302082
UDIN NO: 25302082BMMAM01283
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Referred to in paragraph 9 of the Independent Auditors Report of even date to the members of India 
Carbon Limited on the Financial Statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2025.

(i)	 (a) 	 (A)  	 The  Company  has  maintained  proper  records  showing  full particulars including  
quantitative details and situation  of Property, Plant and Equipment.

           	 (B) 	 The Company has maintained proper record showing full particulars of In- Tangible Assets.

      (b)  The Property, Plant and Equipment except furniture and fixture have been physically verified by 
the management during the year at reasonable intervals and no material discrepancies were 
noticed on such verification.

	 (c) 	 The title deeds of immovable properties are held in the name of the company.

	 (d)	  The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment.

	 (e) 	 Based on our Audit, the Company has not held any Benami Property under the Benami 
Transaction (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and rules made thereunder.

(ii)	 (a) 	 The management has conducted the physical verification of inventory during the year. In our 
opinion the coverage and procedure of such verification by the management is appropriate.  
No material discrepancies have been noticed in physical verification of the inventory.

	 (b)  	 The Company has been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of five Crores rupees from 
banks on the basis of security of current assets. The Quarterly returns or statement filed by 
the company to the banks from which the company has taken working capital facilities, are in 
agreement with the books of account of the Company

(iii)	 The Company has not granted any Loans, secured or unsecured to Companies, firms, limited liability 
partnerships or other parties covered in the Register maintained under sec 189 of the act. 

(iv)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has 
complied with the provisions of section 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of loans, 
investments, guarantees, and security if any hence this clause is not applicable.

(v)	 The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public and hence the directives issued by the 
Reserve Bank of India and the provisions of Sections 73,74,75 & 76 of the Act and the Companies 
(acceptance of Deposit) Rules, 2015 with regard to the deposits accepted from the public are not 
applicable. 

(vi)	 The Central Government has specified the maintenance of Cost Records under section 148(1) of 
the Act for any of the products of the Company. We have broadly reviewed the books of account 
maintained by the Company and are of the opinion that prima-facie the prescribed accounts and 
records have been made and maintained. We have, however, not made a detailed examination of 
the records with a view to determine whether they are accurate or complete.

(vii)	 (a) 	 According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion the Company is generally regular in depositing with appropriate 
undisputed authorities statutory dues in respect of Goods and Services Tax, Provident Fund, 
Employees’ state insurance, income tax, sales tax, service tax , duty of customs, duty of  excise 
, value added Tax, cess and  any other statutory dues to the appropriate authorities. As on the 
last day of the financial year no undisputed statutory dues where outstanding for a period of six 
month from the date they become payable.
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	 (b) 	 According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no statutory dues refer 
to in sub-clause (a) above which have not been deposited on Account of any dispute, except 
following:

Name of the 
Statute

Nature of 
dues

Amount Rs 
in lacs

Period to which 
relates

Forum where the dispute is 
pending

C.S.T Act. Sales Tax 3.43 2010-11 West Bengal Commercial Taxes 
Appellate & Revisional Board

ESI ESI 15.54 2018-19 ESI Court
Entry Tax 395.76 2012-13 to 2017-18 The West Bengal Taxation Tribunal

426.55

(viii)	According to the information and explanation given to us, there are no such income which have 
been surrendered or disclosed as unrecorded income during the year in the tax assessment under 
the income tax act 1961 (43 of 1961).

(ix)	 (a)	 According to the records of the company examined by us and the information and explanations 
given to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to any financial institutions or 
banks or debentureholders as at the balance sheet date.

	 (b) 	 The Company is not declared as wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other 
lender.

	 (c) 	 The Company has not taken any Term Loan during the Financial Year.

	 (d) 	 The Company has not utilized the funds raised on short term basis for long term purpose.\

	 (e) 	 The Company does not have any subsidiary, hence this clause is not applicable.

	 (f) 	 As the Company does not have any subsidiary, this clause is not applicable.

(x)	 (a)  	 The Company has not raised money by way of initial public offer or further public offer during 
the Year. Hence this clause is not applicable.

	 (b) 	 According to the information and explanations given to us by management, the company has 
not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly convertible 
debentures during the year under review. Accordingly, the provisions of this clause of the Order 
are not applicable to the Company.

(xi)	 (a) 	 According to the audit procedures performed and the information and explanation given to us 
by management, we have noticed no fraud by the company or any fraud on the company.

	 (b) 	 As there was no fraud noticed, therefore, this clause is not applicable. 

	 (c) 	 During the year no complains have reached to the company under Whistle Blower Mechanism. 

(xii)	  The Company is not a Nidhi Company. Therefore, the provisions of this clause of the Order are not 
applicable to the Company.

(xiii)	According to the information and explanations given to us by management, all the transaction 
with the related parties during the year are in compliance with section 177 and 188 of Companies 
Act. and the details have been disclosed in the financial statement as required by the applicable 
accounting standard. 

(xiv)	(a)  The Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its business.
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	 (b) The reports of the internal auditor for the year under audit were considered by us,

(xv)	 According to the audit procedure performed and the information and explanations given to us by 
the management, the company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with directors or 
persons connected with him. Accordingly, the provision of this clause of the Order are not applicable 
to the Company. 

(xvi)	(a) 	 The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India 
Act 1934 (2 of 1934).

	 (b) 	 The company has not conducted any Non-Banking Financial of or Housing Finance activities. 

	 (c) 	 The company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulationmade the 
Reserve Bank of India.

(xvii)	The Company has incurred cash losses in the financial year but has not incurred any cash losses in 
the immediately preceding financial year.

(xviii) As the statutory auditor for the current year as well as for previous year remain same, this clause is 
not applicable.

(xix)	 On the basis of the examination of financial ratio ageing and expected dates of realization of 
financial assets and payment of financial liabilities and also other information accompanying the 
financial statement, we are of the opinion that no material uncertainty exists as on the date of the 
audit report that company is capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as 
and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date.

(xx)	 (a) 	 Based on our audit procedure and according to the information and explanations given to us, 
the company is not required to transfer any amount to a fund specified in schedule (VII) to the 
Companies Act within a period of six month of the expiry of the preceding financial year as the 
company spent excess amount.

	 (b) 	 According to the information and explanation the company has no unspent amount u/s 135 (5) 
of the Companies Act pursuing to any on-going projects.

(xxi)	The company does not have any subsidiary company, associate or joint venture. Hence this clause is 
not applicable to the Company. 

Kolkata
Dated 14th May, 2025

 

For S. SAMANTA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 305020E

C.N.CHATTERJEE
Partner

Membership No.: 302082
UDIN NO: 25302082BMMAM01283
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA CARBON LIMITED

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

i. 	 We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of India Carbon Limited (“the 
Company”) as of March 31, 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

ii.	 The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial 
controls based on “the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India” These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance 
of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of 
its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under 
the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditors’ Responsibility

iii. 	 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial 
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on 
Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 
2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit 
of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 
controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated 
effectively in all material respects.

iv. 	 Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our 
audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding 
of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error.

v.	 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

vi. 	 A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 
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the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors 
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

vii. 	 Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including 
the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements 
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the 
internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

viii. 	 In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls 
system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were 
operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on “the internal control over financial reporting 
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated 
in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India”.

Kolkata
Dated 14th May, 2025

 

For S. SAMANTA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 305020E

C.N.CHATTERJEE
Partner

Membership No.: 302082
UDIN NO: 25302082BMMAM01283

ANNEXURE B” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (Contd.)



India Carbon Limited

72 || Annual Report 2024-25

BALANCE SHEET as at 31st March, 2025	 (` in Lacs)

 PARTICULARS Note No. As at 
31.03.2025

As at 
31.03.2024

 ASSETS 
 Non-current Assets 

Property, Plant and Equipment & Intangible Assets 
Property, Plant and Equipment 3A 1,862.82 1,925.37
Capital work-in-progress  3A 307.04 367.55
Intangible Assets 3B 1.10 1.67

Financial Assets: 
Investments 4           46,349.36 28,639.55
Other financial assets  5 143.51 62.87

Other non-current assets 6 39.55 40.11
 Total Non - Current Assets 48,703.38 31,037.12
 Current Assets 

 Inventories 7 8,282.74 8,191.28
 Financial Assets: 

 Investments 8 519.47 5,467.52
 Trade Receivables 9 878.44 1,635.63
 Cash and cash equivalents 10 792.37 2,919.93
 Other Bank Balances 11 33.98 219.06
 Other financial assets  12 83.11 324.41
 Current Tax Assets (Net) 13                131.02              (131.73)

 Other Current Assets 14 1,328.67 3,540.38
 Total Current Assets 12,049.79 22,166.47

 Total Assets 60,753.17 53,203.59
 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
 Equity 

 Equity Share Capital 15 265.00 265.00
 Other Equity 16 53,184.89 51,913.30

 Total Equity 53,449.89 52,178.30
 LIABILITIES 

 Non-current liabilities 
Provisions 17 39.88 41.29
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) 18 1,199.10 225.45

 Total Non-current liabilities 1,238.98 266.74
 Current Liabilities 

Financial Liabilities 
Borrowings 19             5,200.00 0.00

Trade Payables 20
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises 

305.99 107.01

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises 

185.06 209.40

Other financial liabilities 21 323.88 343.86
Other Current Liabilities 22 12.96 44.98
Provisions 23 36.42 53.32

 Total Current Liabilities 6,064.31 758.56
 Total Liabilities 7,303.28 1,025.30
 Total Equity and Liabilities 60,753.17 53,203.59

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Balance Sheet. 
Per our report attached of even date. 

For S. SAMANTA & CO.                                                                        Rakesh Himatsingka Avijit Mukerji Santanu Mitra  Susmita Ghosh
Chartered Accountants                            Chairman & Managing Director Director Director Director
Firm Registration No. 305020E                                                                                  DIN : 00632156 DIN: 03534116 DIN:06553939   DIN:07333557
C N Chatterjee 

Partner                                                                                                    Shaurya Veer Himatsingka Anuradha Lohia Vinod Agarwal Bhaskar Rakshit        
M. No - 302082                                                                                   Joint Managing Director & CEO Director Chief Financial officer Company Secretary              
Date:  14th May 2025                                                      DIN : 01200202 DIN: 00599122
Place  : Kolkata 
UDIN: 2530282BMAM01283
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of Statement of Profit and Loss. 
Per our report attached of even date. 

For S. SAMANTA & CO.                                                                        Rakesh Himatsingka Avijit Mukerji Santanu Mitra  Susmita Ghosh
Chartered Accountants                            Chairman & Managing Director Director Director Director
Firm Registration No. 305020E                                                                                  DIN : 00632156 DIN: 03534116 DIN:06553939   DIN:07333557
C N Chatterjee 

Partner                                                                                                    Shaurya Veer Himatsingka Anuradha Lohia Vinod Agarwal Bhaskar Rakshit        
M. No - 302082                                                                                   Joint Managing Director & CEO Director Chief Financial officer Company Secretary              
Date:  14th May 2025                                                      DIN : 01200202 DIN: 00599122
Place  : Kolkata 
UDIN: 2530282BMAM01283

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS for the year ended 31st March, 2025	 (` in Lacs)

PARTICULARS Note 
No.

Year ended
31.03.2025

Year ended
31.03.2024

Revenue from Operations 24            17,452.97             42,039.12 
Other Income 25              1,634.77               3,709.25 
Total Income            19,087.74             45,748.37 
Expenses 

 Cost of Materials Consumed 26            13,615.84             30,799.06 
 Changes in Inventories of Finished Goods 27              1,666.29               6,231.31 
 Employee Benefits Expense 28              1,096.22               1,140.14 
 Finance Costs 29                 176.76                  408.87 

 Depreciation and Amortization Expense 3                 244.18                  224.90 
 Other Expenses 30              3,394.90               4,249.75 

Total Expenses            20,194.19             43,054.03 
Profit (Loss) Before Tax             (1,106.44)               2,694.34 
Tax Expense: 

 Current tax 18.1                         -                    475.28 
 Deferred Tax                 172.85                 (179.71)

 Prior year Tax adjustment                    (5.12)                 (629.49)
Profit (Loss) for the Year             (1,274.18)               3,028.25 
Other Comprehensive Income 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 

Remeasurement of the defined benefit plans                  (10.12)                   (25.89)
Equity Instruments Through Other Comprehensive 
Income              3,409.69               6,674.84 

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss

Remeasurement of the defined benefit plans                    (5.51)                    14.80 
Equity Instruments Through Other Comprehensive 
Income                (795.29)                 (814.10)

 Total Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Tax              2,598.77               5,849.65 
 Total Comprehensive Income for the Year              1,324.59               8,877.90 
 Earning per equity share of Rs. 10/- each 31

 Basic                  (48.08)                  114.27 
 Diluted                  (48.08)                  114.27 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT for the year ended 31st March, 2025	 (` in Lacs)

 PARTICULARS Year ended 31.03.2025 Year ended 31.03.2024
A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES : 

Profit before tax      (1,106.44) 2,694.34 
Adjustments for : 

Depreciation / Amortisation Expense        243.62        224.90 
Amortisation of Prepayments           0.56           0.56 
Finance Costs        176.76        408.87 
Net Gain/Loss on sale of Property Plant & 
Equipments           (1.39)           0.69 

Interest Income        (21.66)        (84.25)
Dividend Income        (46.55)        (40.41)
Liabilities No Longer Required written back          (2.86)          (0.82)

Gain / Loss on Sale of Investments      (345.25)      (289.56)
Net Gain./Loss on reinstatment of Investments 
measured at fair value through  

profit or loss      (987.37)   (2,838.43)
Unrealised Gain/ Loss on  Foreign Exchange               -   
Bad Debts / Advances written off           0.00       (984.14)           5.00    (2,613.43)

Operating Profit before Working Capital 
changes     (2,090.58) 80.91 

Adjustments for: 
(Increase)/decrease in Trade Receivables, Loans, 
Advances and Other Assets     3,225.82     4,477.35 

(Increase)/ decrease in Inventories        (91.46)   12,974.69 
Increase/ (decrease) in Trade Payables, Other 
Liabilities and Provisions         98.93 3,233.29      (383.85)    17,068.18 

Cash Generated from Operations      1,142.71    17,149.09 
Less : - Direct Taxes Paid       (264.62)       (260.41)

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
- A.         878.09    16,888.69 

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Addittion to fixed assets including Capital 
Work in Progress       (120.78)       (280.95)

Sale of Property, Plant & Equipments            2.20            4.45 
Investment in Mutual Funds   (23,515.10)    (6,859.16)
Investment in Equity Shares               -             (2.10)
Sale of Investment in Mutual Funds    15,495.66      2,988.08 

Investment in Bank Deposits           93.92         808.27 
Sale of Shares of Subsidiary company               -                 -   
Interest Income            21.66          84.25 
Dividend Income           46.55          40.41 

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
- B.     (7,975.88)    (3,216.77)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from Short Term Borrowings (Net)      5,200.00   (11,500.00)
Finance Costs       (176.76)       (408.87)
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT for the year ended 31st March, 2025	 (` in Lacs)

 PARTICULARS Year ended 31.03.2025 Year ended 31.03.2024
Dividend Paid         (53.00)       (106.00)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES - C.      4,970.24   (12,014.87)
NET INCREASE /(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENT 
(A. + B. +C )     (2,127.55)      1,657.05 

Add: Balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents As At 
31.3.2024      2,919.93      1,262.87 

Balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents As At 
31.03.2025         792.37      2,919.93 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Cash Flow Statement. 
Per our report attached of even date. 

For S. SAMANTA & CO.                                                                        Rakesh Himatsingka Avijit Mukerji Santanu Mitra  Susmita Ghosh
Chartered Accountants                            Chairman & Managing Director Director Director Director
Firm Registration No. 305020E                                                                                  DIN : 00632156 DIN: 03534116 DIN:06553939   DIN:07333557
C N Chatterjee 

Partner                                                                                                    Shaurya Veer Himatsingka Anuradha Lohia Vinod Agarwal Bhaskar Rakshit        
M. No - 302082                                                                                   Joint Managing Director & CEO Director Chief Financial officer Company Secretary              
Date:  14th May 2025                                                      DIN : 01200202 DIN: 00599122
Place  : Kolkata 
UDIN: 2530282BMAM01283
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31st March, 2025	

Note No.1 - Company Background

India Carbon Limited (the 'Company') is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in India. 
The equity shares of the Company are listed on The Calcutta Stock Exchange Limited. Registered office of 
the Company is located at Noonmati, Guwahati-781020, Assam. 

The Company is mainly engaged in the business of manufacturing & selling of Carbon products.

The Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue is accordance with the resolution of 
the Company's Board of Directors on 14th May 2025

Note No.2 - Significant Accounting Policies:

This Note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Financial 
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

(a) 	 Basis of Preparation

	 (i) 	 Compliance with Ind AS

		  These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards 
(referred to as “Ind AS”) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, notified 
under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“ the Act”) and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, to the extent applicable.

		  The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the Company's functional and 
presentation currency.

	 (ii) 	 Historical Cost Convention

		  The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:

    		  - Certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) that is measured at fair 
value.

		  - Defined benefit plans - plan assets measured at fair value.

	 (iii) Current versus Non-current Classification

		  The Company presents assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet based on current/non-current 
classification.

		  An asset is classified as current when it is:
		  (a) 	 held primarily for the purpose of trading,
		  (b) 	 expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
		  (c) 	 cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability 

for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
		  All other assets are classified as non-current.
		  A liability is classified as current when:

     		  a) 	 it is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle,
     		  b) 	 it is held primarily for the purpose of trading,
     		  c) 	 it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31st March, 2025	

     		  d) 	 there is no unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period.

			   All other liabilities are classified as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified 
as non-current.

(b) 	Use of Estimates

	 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IND AS requires management to make 
estimates, judgments and assumptions. These estimates, judgements and assumptions affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the period. Accounting estimates could change from period to 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Appropriate changes in estimates are made 
as management becomes aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the estimates. Differences 
between the actual results and estimates are recognised in the year in which the results are known / 
materialized and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

	 The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

1. 	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment:

	 As described in the significant accounting policies, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives 
of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period.

2. 	 Fair value measurements and valuation processes:

	 Some of the Company's assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting 
purposes. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market-observable 
data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Company engages third 
party valuers, where required, to perform the valuation. Information about the valuation techniques 
and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets, liabilities and share based payments 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

3. 	 Claims, Provisions and Contingent Liabilities: 

	 In case of any ongoing dispute / litigation, where an outflow of funds is believed to be probable and 
a reliable estimate of the outcome of the dispute can be made based on management’s assessment 
of specific circumstances of each dispute and relevant external advice, management provides for its 
best estimate of the liability. Such accruals are by nature complex and can take number of years to 
resolve and can involve estimation uncertainty.

4. 	 Actuarial Valuation

	 The determination of Company’s liability towards defined benefit obligation to employees is made 
through independent actuarial valuation including determination of amounts to be recognised in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss and in other comprehensive income. Such valuation depend upon 
assumptions determined after taking into account inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant 
factors such as supply and demand factors in the employment market. Information about such 
valuation is provided in notes to the financial statements.
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(c) 	 Fair Value Measurement

	 This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the 
financial instruments that are (a) recognised and measured at fair value and (b) measured at 
amortised cost and for which fair values are disclosed in the standalone financial statements. To 
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Company 
has classified its financial instruments into three levels prescribed under the accounting standard. An 
explanation of each level follows below.

	 Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes 
mutual funds. The mutual funds are valued using the closing Net Asset Value.

	 Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, 
over-the counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use 
of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant 
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

	 Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument 
is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities included in level 3.

(d) 	Property, Plant and Equipments

	 Freehold land is carried at carrying value as per previous GAAP. All other items of Properties plant 
and equipment are stated at their cost of acquisition or construction and are net of accumulated 
depreciation. The cost comprises purchase price, borrowing cost if capitalization criteria are met 
and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. 
When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company 
depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. All other repair and maintenance 
costs are recognised in statement of profit or loss as incurred. 

	 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

	 Depreciation Method, Estimated Useful Lives And Residual Values: Depreciation is calculated on a 
pro-rata basis using the Diminishing Balance Method to allocate their cost, net of their estimated 
residual values, over their estimated useful lives in accordance with Schedule II to the Act. Each 
component of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to 
the cost of that item is depreciated separately if its useful life differs from the other components of 
the item. 

	 Estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:
     	 Buildings - 30 to 60 years
     	 Plant and Equipments - 8 to 15 years
     	 Furniture and Fixtures - 10 years
     	 Vehicles - 8 years
     	 Office Equipments - 3 to 6 years

	 The useful lives, residual values and the method of depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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	 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are 
included in profit or loss within ‘Other Income’/‘Other Expenses’.

	 Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each 
balance sheet date is classified as ‘Capital Advances’ under other non- current assets and the cost of 
property, plant and equipment not ready to use are disclosed under ‘Capital Work-in-progress’.

(e) 	 Intangible Assets

	 Computer Software

	 Software for internal use, which is primarily acquired from third-party vendors is capitalised at cost. 
Subsequent costs associated with maintaining such software are recognised as expense as incurred. 
Cost of software includes license fees and cost of implementation / system integration services, 
where applicable.

	 Amortisation Method

	 Application software is amortised over the estimated economic useful life of 6 years.  

	 The amortization period and the amortization method are reviewed at least at each financial year 
end. If the expected useful life of the asset is significantly different from previous estimates, the 
amortization period is changed accordingly.

(f) 	 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

	 Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets (cash-generating 
units).

(g) 	Research & Development

	 Revenue expenditure on research and development is charged as expense  in the year in which it is 
incurred. Capital expenditure on research  and development is shown as an addition to Fixed Assets.       

(h) 	Leasehold Land

1. 	 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

	 The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfillment of 
the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys 
a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement. 

2. 	 Company as lessor

	 Finance Lease

	 Leases which effectively transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership of the leased item are classified and accounted for as finance lease. Lease rental receipts 
are apportioned between the finance income and capital repayment based on the implicit rate of 
return. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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	 Operating Lease

	 Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognized on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease except where scheduled increase in rent 
compensates the Company with expected inflationary costs.

3. 	 Company as Lessee

	 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily comprise of lease for land and building. The Company 
assesses whether a contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of 
an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: (i) the contract involves the use of an identified 
asset (ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through 
the period of the lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

	 The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. For these short-term and low value leases, the Company 
recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 
representing the right to use the underlying assets as below:

	  Right of Use Assets   

	 The Company recognizes right of use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right of use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment loss, if any, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
The cost of right of use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs 
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Right of use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term 
and the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets.

	 If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life 
of the asset. The right of use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in 
section ‘Impairment of Non-Financial Assets’.  

	 Lease Liabilities

	 At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed 
payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 
certain to be exercized by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, If any.

	 In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, 
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if there is a modification, a change in the lease 
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in 
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an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option 
to purchase the underlying asset.

The Company’s lease liabilities are included in other current and non-current financial liabilities.
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.   

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain 
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that 
are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

“Lease liability” and “Right of Use Asset” have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and 
lease payments have been classified as financing cash flows.

	 (i) 	 Financial Instrument

		  A. 	 Financial Assets

			   Financial assets, where applicable are recognised when the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value 
adjusted for transaction costs. However, trade receivables that do not contain a significant 
financing component are measured at transaction price.

			   i) 	 Classification

				    Management determines the classification of an asset at initial recognition depending 
on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. The subsequent measurement of 
financial assets depends on such classification.  

				    The financial assets are classified as those measured at:
				    1. 	 amortised cost, where the financial assets are held solely for collection of cash flows 

arising from payments of principal and / or interest.  

				    2. 	 fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), where the financial assets 
are held not only for collection of cash flows arising from payments of principal and 
interest but also from the sale of such assets. Such assets are subsequently measured 
at fair value, with unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value 
being recognised in other comprehensive income. 

				    3. 	 fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), where the assets are managed in accordance 
with an approved investment strategy that triggers purchase and sale decisions 
based on their fair value of such assets. Such assets are subsequently measured at 
fair value, with unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value 
being recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they 
arise.

					     Trade receivables, advances, security deposits, cash and cash equivalents etc. are 
classified for measurement at amortised cost while investments may fall under any 
of the aforesaid classes.

					     Investments (Other than Investments in Subsidiaries) and Other Financial Assets
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					     The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

    					     - those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other 
comprehensive income or through profit or loss),and

  					     - those to be measured at amortised cost.

					     The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

					     For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit 
or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this 
will depend on the business model in which the investment is held. For investments 
in equity instruments, this will depend on whether the Company has made an 
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity 
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.

					     The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model 
for managing those assets changes.

			   ii) 	 Measurement

				    At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial 
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Financial 
assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

				    Debt Instruments

				    Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are 
three measurement categories into which the Company classifies its debt instruments:

*Amortised Cost:  Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where 
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 
amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at 
amortised cost is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired.

* Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI): Assets that are held for 
collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are 
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest 
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in the profit or 
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in ‘Other 
Income’.

* Fair Value through Profit or Loss : Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised 
cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a 
debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is 
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recognised in profit or loss and presented net in the Statement of Profit and Loss within 
‘Other Income’ in the period in which it arises.
Equity Instruments
The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the 
Company’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of 
fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in ‘Other Income’ in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss.

			   iii) 	 Impairment of Financial Assets
				    The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated 

with its assets which are not fair valued through profit or loss. The impairment 
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk. (Note 36) details how the Company determines whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk.

				    For trade receivables only, the Company applies the simplified approach permitted 
by Ind AS 109, ‘Financial Instruments’, which requires expected lifetime losses to be 
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

		  B. 	 Financial Liabilities

			   All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and transaction cost that is 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial liabilities is also adjusted. These liabilities are 
classified as amortised cost.

			   Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. These liabilities include borrowings and deposits.

			   De-recognition of financial liabilities
			   A financial liability are de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 

cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

(j). 	 Inventories

	 Raw materials, stores and spare parts are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 
includes purchase price, duties and taxes, freight and other expenditure incurred in bringing such 
inventories to their present location and condition. In determining cost, 'first in first out' method 
is used.  The carrying costs of raw materials, stores and spare parts are appropriately written down 
when there is a decline in replacement cost of such materials and the finished products, in which 
they will be incorporated, are expected to be sold below cost.  

	 Finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises of direct 
material, labour expenses and an appropriate portion of production overheads incurred in bringing 
the inventory to their present location and condition. Fixed production overheads are allocated on 
the basis of normal capacity of the production facilities. 

	 Traded finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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(k). Borrowing Costs
	 The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 

qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial 
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

	 Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(l). 	 Revenue Recognition

	 Effective 1st April, 2018, the Company has adopted Ind AS 115 “Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers” in respect of recognition of revenue from contracts with customers which provides 
a control-based revenue recognition model and a five step application approach for revenue 
recognition as under:

	  	 Identification of  the contract(s) with customers;
	  	 Identification of the performance obligations;
	  	 Determination of  the transaction price;
	  	 Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations;
	  	 Recognition of the revenue when or as the Company satisfies performance obligation.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Revenue excludes amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties.

	 a.  	 Sale of Goods
		  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the Company satisfies a performance 

obligation at a point in time by transferring the goods to customers, i.e., when customers 
obtain control of the goods. Revenue towards satisfaction of a performance obligation is 
measured at the amount of transaction price (net of variable consideration) allocated to that 
performance obligation. The transaction price of goods sold and services rendered is net of 
variable consideration i.e. discounts, rebates, sales claim etc. offered by the Company as part of 
the contract.

	 b. 	 Variable Consideration

		  If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Company estimates the amount 
of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to customer. 
The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly 
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized 
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently 
resolved.

		  The Company provides volume rebates to certain customers once the quantity of products 
purchased during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are offset 
against amounts payable by the customer. The volume rebates/ cash discount give rise to 
variable consideration. To estimate the variable consideration for the expected future rebates/ 
cash discount, the Company applies the most likely amount method for contracts with a single 
volume threshold and the expected value method for contracts with more than one volume 
threshold that best predicts the amount of variable consideration.
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	 c. 	 Interest Income

		  For all debt instruments measured either at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using 
the effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, 
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

	 d. 	 Dividend Income

		  Dividend Income from investments is recognized when the Company’s right to receive payment 
has been established.

(m) 	Income from Government Grant

	 The Company may receive government grants that require compliance with certain conditions 
related to the Company’s operating activities or are provided to the Company by way of financial 
assistance on the basis of certain qualifying criteria.

	 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received, and the Company will comply with the conditions attached to the grant.

	 Accordingly, government grants:

	 a. 	 related to or used for assets are included in the Balance Sheet as deferred income and recognised 
as income over the useful life of the assets.

	 b. 	 related to incurring specific expenditures are taken to the Statement of Profit and Loss on the 
same basis and in the same periods as the expenditures incurred. 

	 c. 	 by way of financial assistance on the basis of certain qualifying criteria are recognised as they 
become receivable.

In the unlikely event that a grant previously recognised is ultimately not received, it is treated as a 
change in estimate and the amount cumulatively recognised is expensed in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss. 

(n). Foreign exchange transactions

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates 
prevailing on the date of the transactions. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the 
year-end are translated at the year-end exchange rates.

	 Non-monetary items which are carried in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency, 
are reported using the exchange rate at the date of transaction. The loss or gain thereon and also 
on the exchange differences on settlement of the foreign currency transactions during the year are 
recognized as income or expense in the statement of profit and loss.

(o). 	Employee benefits 

	 The Company's obligations towards various employee benefits have been recognised as follows:

	 Short term benefits

	 Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified 
as short-term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, bonus and ex-gratia. 
The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee 
services is recognised as an expense as the related service is rendered by employees.
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	 Post-employment benefits

	 a) 	 Monthly contributions to Provident Funds which are in the nature of defined benefit schemes 
are charged to Statement of Profit and Loss and deposited with the Provident Fund administered 
through the Company’s trust on a monthly basis.

	 b) 	 The administration of the gratuity scheme which is in the nature of defined benefit plan, has 
been entrusted to Gratuity Trust. Annual charge is recognised on the basis of actuarial valuation 
at the Balance Sheet date, conducted by an independent actuary appointed by the Company 
and payments are made to Trust on the basis of annual contribution determined by the actuary. 
The Company recognizes all actuarial gains and losses in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 Termination benefits

	 Costs of termination benefits have been recognised only when the Company has a present obligation 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle such 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

(p) 	Income taxes

	 Income-tax expense comprises current tax (i.e. amount of tax for the period determined in 
accordance with the income-tax law) and deferred tax charge or credit (reflecting the tax effects of 
timing differences between accounting income and taxable income for the period).  

	 a. 	 Current tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation 
authorities, using the applicable tax rates and tax laws. 

	 b. 	 Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities and the amounts used for taxation purposes (tax base), at the tax rates and tax laws 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for the future tax consequences to the extent it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised.

	 Income tax, in so far as it relates to items disclosed under other comprehensive income or equity, are 
disclosed separately under other comprehensive income or equity, as applicable.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances related to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset 
and intends either to settle on net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

	 Deferred tax assets are reviewed as at each balance sheet date and written down or written-up to 
reflect the amount that is reasonably certain (as the case may be) to be realised. 

(q). Dividend Distribution

	 Dividends paid is recognised in the period in which the interim dividends are approved by the Board 
of Directors, or in respect of the final dividend when approved by the shareholders.

(r). 	Provisions and Contingent liabilities
	 Provisions are recognized only when there is a present obligation, as a result of past events, and when 

a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made at the reporting date. These estimates 
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates. 
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	 Contingent liability is disclosed for:

	 • 	 Possible obligations which will be confirmed only by future events not wholly within the control 
of the Company or 

	 • 	 Present obligations arising from past events where it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation or a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation 
cannot be made.

(s) 	 Earnings per share

	 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to 
equity shareholders (after deducting attributable taxes) by the weighted average number of equity 
shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the period is adjusted for events including a bonus issue.

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period 
attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares. 

(t) 	 Standard Issued/ amended but not yet effective

	 Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”), vide notification dated 31st March 2023, has made the following 
amendments to the existing standards which are effective from 1st April 2023:

	 (a) 	 Ind AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendments require companies to disclose 
their material accounting policies rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting 
policy information, together with other information, is material when it can reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions of primary users of general purpose financial statements.

	 (b) 	 Ind AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: The amendments 
will help entities to distinguish between accounting policies and accounting estimates. The 
definition of a change in accounting estimates has been replaced with a definition of accounting 
estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in financial 
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. Entities develop accounting estimates 
if accounting policies require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves 
measurement uncertainty.

	 (c) 	 Ind AS 12 Income Taxes: The amendments clarify how companies account for deferred tax on 
transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments narrowed the 
scope of the recognition exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of Ind AS 12 (recognition exemption) 
so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable 
and deductible temporary differences. 

	 (d) 	 Other Ind AS Amendments: There are also consequential or editorial amendments in Ind AS 101, 
102, 103, 107, 109, 115. 

		  Based on preliminary assessment, the Company does not expect significant impact of these 
changes on its standalone financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the year ended 31st March, 2025	 (` in Lacs)

 A. Equity Share Capital  2024-25  2023-24 
26,50,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10 Each, subscribed and fully paid 
Balance at the beginning of current reporting period                  265.00                   265.00 
Changes in Equity Share Capital due to prior period errors                         -                           -   
Restated balance at the beginning of the current reporting period                          -                           -   
Changes in Equity Share Capital during the year 
Balance at the end of the current reporting period                  265.00                  265.00 

B. Other Equity

 Attributable to Equity Share holders of the Company 

 Total  

 Reserves and surplus  Other Comprehensive Income 

 Securities 
Premium 
Account 

 Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve 

 Capital 
Reserve 

 General 
Reserve 

 Retained 
Earnings 

 Equity 
Instruments 

through other 
comprehensive 

income 

 Other items 
of Other 

Comprehensive 
Income 

As at 1st April, 2023         75.00            20.00       0.06 3,188.06 35,468.51             4,389.76                         -   43,141.40 
Changes in Accounting 
Policy or prior period 
errors 

-   -             -                     -   -   -   -   -   

Restated balance as at 
1st April ,2023         75.00            20.00       0.06 3,188.06 35,468.51             4,389.76                         -   43,141.40 

Dividend (106.00) (106.00)

Profit for the year                  -             -   -   3,028.25                       -                           -   3,028.25 

Other Comprehensive 
Income (Net of Tax)                  -             -                     -                        -                5,860.74 -   5,860.74 

Realized profit on 
sale of Investments 
transferred from OCI 

(19.75)                   19.75                   (11.09) (11.09)

As at 31st March, 2024         75.00            20.00       0.06 3,188.06 38,371.03           10,270.25                  (11.09) 51,913.30 
Changes in Accounting 
Policy or prior period 
errors 

-   -   -                     -                        -                         -                           -   -   

Restated balance as at 
1st April ,2024          75.00             20.00        0.06 3,188.06 38,371.03             10,270.25                   (11.09) 51,913.30 

Profit for the year                  -             -                     -   (1,274.18)                       -   (1,274.18)
Transfer to Retained 
Earning -   -   -   

Realized profit on 
sale of Investments 
transferred from OCI 

(16.84) 16.84 -   

Other Comprehensive 
Income (Net of Tax)                  -             -                     -                2,614.40                   (15.63) 2,598.77 

Dividend (53.00) (53.00)
As at 31st March, 2025         75.00            20.00       0.06 3,188.06 37,027.01           12,901.49                  (26.72) 53,184.90 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the  Statement of Changes in Equity.
Per our report attached of even date. 

For S. SAMANTA & CO.                                                                        Rakesh Himatsingka Avijit Mukerji Santanu Mitra  Susmita Ghosh
Chartered Accountants Director                            Chairman & Managing Director Director Director Director
Firm Registration No. 305020E                                                                                  DIN : 00632156 DIN: 03534116 DIN:06553939   DIN:07333557
C N Chatterjee 

Partner                                                                                                    Shaurya Veer Himatsingka Anuradha Lohia Vinod Agarwal Bhaskar Rakshit        
M. No - 302082                                                                                   Joint Managing Director & CEO Director Chief Financial officer Company Secretary              
Date:  14th May 2025                                                      DIN : 01200202 DIN: 00599122
Place  : Kolkata 
UDIN: 2530282BMAM01283
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Note No.4 - NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Particulars
 Face Val 
(Share/
Bond)

(No of  
Shares / 
Bonds )

As at
31.03.2025

As at
  31.03.2024

Investments in Equity Instrument at FVTOCI
Others (at fair value through Other Comprehensive 
Income)
Fully Paid Equity Shares (Quoted)

Amines & Plasticizers Ltd.  * 2 6,990,000 14,972.58 11,561.46 
(Inclusive of 3495000 Bonus Shares
of Rs.2/- each) 
Tata Technologies Ltd.  * 420                  2.86 4.29 
Fully Paid Equity Shares (Unquoted)
Him Containers Limited (In Liquidation) 10 1,200,000                      -   -   
(Refer Note No.41)
Detachable Warrants-10% Upfront paid 
(Unquoted)
Him Containers Limited (In Liquidation) 10 1,200,000                      -   -   
(Refer Note No.41)

Investments In Equity Instrumenst  (Annexure A) **
(at fair value through Profit and Loss) 11,496.47 6,176.04

(Note No. 36 for information about credit risk and 
market risk on investments.) -   

Investments In Debenture or Bonds (Annexure B) **
(at fair value through Profit and Loss) 631.21 516.65

(Note No. 36 for information about credit risk and 
market risk on investments.)

Investments In Mutual Funds (Annexure C) **
(at fair value through Profit and Loss) 15,555.50 8,290.26

(Note No. 36 for information about credit risk and 
market risk on investments.)

Investments In AIF  (Annexure D) **
(at fair value through Profit and Loss) 2,365.09 2,090.86

(Note No. 36 for information about credit risk and 
market risk on investments.)

Investments In Equity Shares  (Annexure E) **
(at fair value through Profit and Loss) 1,325.66 -   

(Note No. 36 for information about credit risk and 
market risk on investments.)

46,349.36 28,639.55 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31st March, 2025 	 (` in Lacs)
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Particulars
 Face Val 
(Share/
Bond)

(No of  
Shares / 
Bonds )

As at
31.03.2025

As at
  31.03.2024

*   Investments carried at fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income. 14,975.44 11,565.75
** Investments carried at fair value through Profit 
and Loss. 31,373.92 17,073.81

Aggregate market value of quoted investments 14,975.44 11,565.75
Aggregate amount unquoted investments 31,373.92 17,073.81
Aggregate amount of impairment in value of 
unquoted investments 31,373.92 17,073.81

Annexure - A

Particulars
No of Units

As at
31.03.2025

 Amount 
 As at 

31.03.2025

No. of Units
As at

31.03.2024

Amount
As at

31.03.2024
(At fair value through Profit and Loss)
3P India Equity Fund 1M Aif Cat Iii A1 - Julius 
Baer

      
536,091.11 

                     
582.95                      -   -   

Abakkus All Cap Approach                  4.00 182.91                  3.00 179.97 
Abakkus Diversified Alpha Approach                  3.00 478.65                      -   -   
Abakkus Four2Eight Opportunities Fund 9,999.50 100.19                      -   -   
Abakkus Select Opportunities Strategy 
Approach                  6.00 566.05                  5.00 643.42 

Accura Cap Alpha 10                  8.00 578.05                  7.00 500.38 
Accuracap - Pico Power                12.47 816.55                  8.47 470.79 
Alt Cura Ai Maximus Fund - Class A2 26-Dec-24 50,000.00 49.91                      -   -   
Alt Cura Ai Maximus Fund - Class A2 28-Nov-24 489,402.00 486.32                      -   -   
Alt Cura Ai Maximus Fund - Class A2 30-Jan-25 50,000.00 50.58                      -   -   
Alt Cura Ai Maximus Fund -Class A2 28-Feb-25 50,000.00 52.33                      -   -   
Ask Emerging Opportunities Portfolio (Pms)                      -   -                    3.00 180.64 
Ask Indian Entrepreneur Portfolio (Pms)                      -   -                    3.00 176.61 
Buoyant Liquid Strategy                  1.00 27.44                      -   -   
Buoyant Opportunities Strategy Pms                  1.00 977.91                      -   -   
Carnelian Bharat Amritkaal Fund 2,936,043.14 298.37                      -   -   
Clarus Capital I Class C1 - S18                      -   -   175,000.00 185.48 
Clarus Capital I Class C1 - S29 -   -   178,750.00 185.40 
Clarus Capital I Class C1 - S40                      -   -   100,000.00 96.75 
Clarus Capital I Class C1 - S50                      -   -   146,250.00 142.36 
Clarus Capital I Class C1 - S59                      -   -   100,000.00 98.33 
Clarus Capital I Class C2 - S21 100,000.00 112.30                      -   -   
Clarus Capital I Class C2 - S22 100,000.00 114.37                      -   -   
Clarus Capital I Class C2 - S23 175,000.00 219.36                      -   -   

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31st March, 2025 	 (` in Lacs)
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Particulars
No of Units

As at
31.03.2025

 Amount 
 As at 

31.03.2025

No. of Units
As at

31.03.2024

Amount
As at

31.03.2024
Clarus Capital I Class C2 - S24 100,000.00 90.04                      -   -   
Clarus Capital I Class C2 - S25 100,000.00 91.53                      -   -   
Clarus Capital I Class C2 - S26 178,750.00 218.31                      -   -   
Clarus Capital I Class C2 - S27 146,250.00 165.38                      -   -   
Clarus Capital I Class C2-S20 100,000.00 96.82                      -   -   
Client Associates Alternate Fund - A2 54,576.25 52.73                      -   -   
Ikigai Emerging Equity Fund - Class C1 398,735.99 356.50                      -   -   
Multiples Private Equity Fund Iii 494,076.52 473.97 465,208.52 507.54 
Multiples Private Equity Fund Iv 145,234.83 213.38 46,374.21 45.32 
Oister Ace Fund - Sanctum Wealth 200.00 204.86                      -   -   
Sage One Core Portfolio - Sanctum Wealth                  2.00 268.07                      -   -   
Sc Credit Trust                19.03 165.89                19.71 184.54 
Sixth Sense India Opportunities Iii 37,500.00 465.16 37,500.00 432.28 
Stride Venture India Debt Fund I                11.97 11.97 19.27 19.28 
Titan Capital Winners Fund I - Sanctum Wealth 17,500.00 175.00                      -   -   
True North Credit Opportunities Fund I 10,400.00 105.56 7,903.87 79.20 
Unifi Capital Private Limited Blended- Rangoli                50.00 1,154.69                49.00 664.08 
Value Quest Platinum Pms - Sanctum Wealth                  1.00 475.58                      -   -   
White Oak India Equity Fund Ii - Class A                      -   -   1,950,055.86 462.75 
White Oak India Pioneers Equity Portfolio                10.00 684.19                10.00 622.29 
Whiteoak India Business Leaders Pms                  4.70 332.58                  4.70 298.63 

11,496.47 6,176.04 
Annexure - B
Investments In Debenture or Bonds
(At fair value through Profit and Loss)
ATS Infrabuild Private Limited                10.00 153.97                10.00 100.00 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust-REIT                      -   -   42,200.00 107.48 
MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT MINDSPACE 
BUSS PARKS REAL ESTATE INVT TRUST                      -   -   14,000.00 48.35 

Embassy MLD Series - III                10.00 73.09                10.00 54.92 
Government of India 34319 GS 06 May 2043 C 
Strips 1,088,800.00 313.57 

Nippon India ETF Nifty SDL - 2026 Maturity 70,185.00 90.57 70,185.00 84.00 
Powergrid Infrastructure Investment Trust-InvIT                      -   -   128,700.00 121.89 

631.21 516.65 
Annexure - C
Investments In Mutual Funds
(At fair value through Profit and Loss)
Mirae Asset India Equity Fund - Direct Plan - G                      -   -   515,092.45 552.89 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31st March, 2025 	 (` in Lacs)



India Carbon Limited

94 || Annual Report 2024-25

Particulars
No of Units

As at
31.03.2025

 Amount 
 As at 

31.03.2025

No. of Units
As at

31.03.2024

Amount
As at

31.03.2024
Kotak Standard Multicap Fund - Growth 
(Regular Plan)                      -   -   267,911.46 191.37 

Aditya Birla Sunlife Balanced Advantage Fund - 
G -D 392,350.01 444.96 392,350.01 399.18 

ICICI Prudential Balanced Advantage Fund - 
Growth 904,231.07 627.17 602,550.24 388.34 

ICICI Prudential India Opportunities Fund 
Growth (Non-Demat) 1,255,672.28 451.29 304,827.61 90.17 

ICICI Prudential Multi-Asset Fund - Growth 157,968.18 1,137.00 68,585.02 435.69 
Franklin India Focused Equity Fund                      -   -   241,849.10 227.93 
Franklin India Overnight Fund - Growth 990.12 0.10                      -   -   
Axis Mid Cap Fund - Growth                      -   -   246,281.05 223.92 
Mirae Asset Large Cap Fund - Regular Growth 
Plan Growth 772,134.52 908.08 186,827.11 180.16 

NIPPON INDIA LARGE CAP FUND - GROWTH 
PLAN GROWTH OPTION 101,375.64 94.15 286,565.88 224.05 

NIPPON INDIA NIFTY NEXT 50 JUNIOR BEES FOF 
- GROWTH PLAN 824,556.93 191.08 824,556.93 183.59 

Canara Robeco Emerging Equities Regular Plan 
- Growth 82,804.15 193.64                      -   -   

Canara Robeco Emerging Equities - Direct 
Growth(EQDG) 139,158.88 371.46 60,657.54 145.13 

ICICI Prudential India Opportunities Fund - 
Growth (Non-Demat) 359,645.53 119.01                      -   -   

ICICI Prudential Nifty 100 Low Volatility 30 ETF - 
Sanctum Wealth 538,240.00 110.34                      -   -   

Invesco India Large and Midcap Fund Direct 
Plan - Growth 336,677.98 345.63 -   -   

Invesco India Large and Midcap Fund Regular 
Plan - Growth 112,781.71 98.14 -   -   

Motilal Oswal balance Advantage Fund Direct 
Plan - Growth 1,740,332.76 345.07                      -   -   

Invesco India Growth Opportunities Fund - 
Direct Plan Growth -   -   171,342.33 151.59 

Kotak Emerging Equity Fund- Direct Plan- 
Growth 261,735.90 356.87 143,983.90 168.49 

Motilal Oswal Dynamic Fund - Direct Growth -   -   1,740,332.76 367.62 
SBI Equity Hybrid Fund Regular Growth 366,221.04 1,028.69 366,221.04 923.93 
UTI Short Term Income Fund - Direct Growth 
Plan 1,236,828.55 407.94 1,236,828.55 376.73 

Bharat Bond FOF 732,821.80 94.12 732,821.80 87.37 
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Particulars
No of Units

As at
31.03.2025

 Amount 
 As at 

31.03.2025

No. of Units
As at

31.03.2024

Amount
As at

31.03.2024
DSP Floater Fund - Reg - Growth                      -   -   1,381,800.78 163.99 
DSP India Enhanced Equity SatCore Fund - Class 
B - 1.01 93,997.51 152.46 93,997.51 142.22 

Edelweiss Greater China Equity Off-shore Fund - 
Regular Plan Growth -   -   188,602.65 62.01 

Edelweiss US Technology Equity Fund of Fund - 
Regular Plan Growth                      -   -   509,916.72 116.21 

UTI Nifty 200 Momentum 30 Index Fund  - Direct 
Plan 524,418.88 102.26                      -   -   

UTI Nifty 50 Index Fund - Direct Plan 341,986.42 557.12                      -   -   
UTI Nifty 50 Index Fund - Regular Plan 397,585.24 638.85                      -   -   
Edelweiss CRISIL IBX 50 50 Gilt Plus SDL Sep 
2028 Index Fund Reg-G 2,899,582.45 349.48 2,899,582.45 322.12 

HDFC Nifty G-Sec Apr 2029 Index Regular 
Growth 3,947,456.73 469.17 3,947,456.73 430.81 

HDFC Hybrid Equity Fund Direct Plan - Growth - 
Julius Baer 221,261.45 267.15 -   -   

HDFC Flexicap Fund Direct Plan - Growth (Non-
Demat) - Sanctum Wealth 2,497.09 50.30                      -   -   

HDFC Balanced Advantage Fund Regular Plan - 
Growth 100,004.44 490.35                      -   -   

HDFC Focused 30 Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 
Option 195,354.25 472.43 43,561.55 90.15 

Kotak Equity Savings Fund DirectPlan - Growth 
(Non-Demat) - Sanctum Wealth 549,771.47 149.92 -   -   

Kotak Technology Fund Regular Plan - Growth 
(Non-Demat) 1,608,294.79 174.10                      -   -   

DSP Nifty 50 Equal Weight ETF  - Sanctum 
Wealth 138,465.00 416.77                      -   -   

HDFC Nifty Midcap 150 ETF - Sanctum Wealth 1,561,204.00 300.38                      -   -   
ICICI Prudential Nifty Alpha Low Voltality 30 ETF 
- Sanctum Wealth 720,941.00 186.31                      -   -   

Nippon India Nifty 50 Next Junior Bees FOF - 
Direct Plan - Growth 131,907.15 31.01                      -   -   

Motilal Oswal Nifty 200 Momentum 30 Index 
Regular Plan - Growth 279,930.24 38.65                      -   -   

ICICI Pru Equity and Debt Fund Direct Plan - 
Growth - Julius Baer 72,286.44 295.17                      -   -   

HSBC Corporate Bond Fund Direct Plan - Growth 152,826.36 116.13                      -   -   
ICICI Prudential Nifty G-Sec Dec 2030 Index 
Fund - Growth 3,833,870.11 471.41 3,833,870.11 431.17 
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Particulars
No of Units

As at
31.03.2025

 Amount 
 As at 

31.03.2025

No. of Units
As at

31.03.2024

Amount
As at

31.03.2024
KOTAK NIFTY SDL PLUS AAA PSU BOND JUL 
2028 60:40 INDEX FUND Regular- Gr 3,861,220.80 465.03 3,861,220.80 429.52 

Bandhan Crisil IBX Gilt April 2026 Index Fund 
Direct Plan-Growth(412) 192,865.55 23.08 192,865.55 21.46 

Bandhan Crisil IBX Gilt April 2026 Index Fund 
Direct Plan-Growth(415) 482,163.87 57.69 482,163.87 53.65 

Bandhan Crisil IBX Gilt April 2026 Index Fund 
Direct Plan-Growth(419) 289,298.32 34.62 289,298.32 32.19 

BARODA BNP PARIBAS GILT FUND - DIRECT 
GROWTH 260,155.69 119.57 260,155.69 108.75 

ICICI Prudential Constant Maturity Gilt Fund - 
Direct Plan - Growth 483,544.17 119.39 483,544.17 108.59 

Mirae Asset Large Cap Fund - Direct Plan - 
Growth 222,881.43 262.12 222,881.43 239.24 

Nippon India Dynamic Bond Fund - Growth 352,533.26 128.41                      -   -   
Motilal Oswal Nifty 50 Index Fund Regular Plan 
- Growth 497,086.93 98.20                      -   -   

Motilal Oswal Nifty 500 Index Fund Direct Plan 
- Growth 404,062.67 99.43                      -   -   

Nippon India Banking and Financial Services 
Fund  - Growth 35,260.43 202.97                      -   -   

Bandhan Corporate Bond Fund  - Direct Plan - 
Growth 654,944.75 126.75                      -   -   

DSP Aggressive Hybrid Fund Direct Plan - 
Growth - Julius Baer 71,572.34 273.37                      -   -   

Edelweiss Balanced Advanatage Fund Regular 
Plan - Growth 514,801.28 248.91                      -   -   

NIPPON INDIA NIVESH LAKSHYA FUND - DIRECT 
GROWTH PLAN 1,336,465.28 241.80 1,336,465.28 220.04 

Mirae Asset Cash Management Fund - Direct 
Plan

15,555.50 8,290.26 
Annexure - D
Investments In AIF
(At fair value through Profit and Loss)
IIFL Special Opportunities Fund Series 7 973,363.41 29.99 973,363.41 109.37 
India Housing Fund - Class A 915,900.38 44.06 916,409.36 52.56 
IIFL INCOME OPPORTUNITIES FUND - SERIES 3 - 
CLASS A1 (AIF CATEGORY II) 976,379.55 112.23 977,249.11 115.44 

IIFL SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND - SERIES 10 - 
CLASS A2 (AIF CATEGORY II) 2,471,917.66 394.39 2,488,001.39 324.06 
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Particulars
No of Units

As at
31.03.2025

 Amount 
 As at 

31.03.2025

No. of Units
As at

31.03.2024

Amount
As at

31.03.2024
IIFL Special Opportunities Fund Series 8 2,304,582.01 336.50 2,317,913.68 314.09 
IIFL SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND SERIES 11 2,687,181.49 468.77 2,699,865.01 339.47 
IIFL WEALTH PRIME LIMITEDBR LOA 18MR33 
FVRS1LAC 100.00 122.44 100.00 100.00 

Motilal Oswal Select Opportunities Fund Series 
III 5,117,056.13 856.70 5,117,056.13 735.86 

2,365.09 2,090.86 
Annexure - E
Investments In Equity Shares
(At fair value through Profit and Loss)
Canfin Homes Ltd 5,900.00 39.50                      -   -   
HDFC Bank Ltd 21,600.00 394.89                      -   -   
ICICI Bank Ltd 11,760.00 158.57                      -   -   
ITC Ltd 30,500.00 124.97                      -   -   
ITC Hotels Ltd 3,050.00 6.02                      -   -   
Reliance Industries Ltd 11,600.00 147.91                      -   -   
SBI Life Insurance Company Ltd 3,200.00 49.53                      -   -   
State Bank of India 52,400.00 404.27                      -   -   

1,325.66 -   
31,373.92 17,073.81 

Note No.5 - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Non-current

Unsecured : Considered good
Security Deposits 50.63 59.29 
Loans and Advances to related parties
Other Financial Assets 0.37 0.37 
Deposit for maintenance charges -   -   
On Term Deposits with Banks 92.51 3.20 

(With more than 12 months maturity)
(under lien)

143.51 62.87 

Note No.6 - OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Prepaid Expenses (Leasehold Land)  39.55  40.11 
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Note No.7 - INVENTORIES (At lower of cost or net realisable value)	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Raw Materials  4,440.23  2,705.42 
Includes in-transit Rs. 40.13 Lacs (As at 31.3.24-
Rs. 77.42 Lacs)
Finished Goods  3,353.60  5,019.89 
Includes in-transit Rs. 131.68 Lacs  (As at 31.3.24-
Rs. 21.22 Lacs)
Stores and Spares      488.92  465.97 
Includes in-transit Rs  0.65 Lacs (As at 31.3.24-
Rs.4.27 Lacs)

 8,282.75  8,191.28 

Note No.8 - CURRENT INVESTMENTS	

Particulars

 Number Of 
Units 
 As at  

31.03.2025 

 Amount 
 As at 

31.03.2025 

 Number Of 
Units 
 As at 

31.03.2024 

 Amount 
 As at  

31.03.2024 

 (Nos.)  (Rs.in Lacs)  (Nos.)  (Rs.in Lacs) 
Investments In Mutual Funds (Unquoted)

(at fair value through Profit and Loss)  
Note No. 36 for information about credit risk 
and market risk on investments.
Aditya Birla Sun Life Arbitrage Fund - Growth-
Regular Plan (Non-Demat) -   -   1,036,854 252.67

Bajaj Finserv Liquid Fund - Regular Plan - 
Growth -   -   4,860 51.15

Bandhan Arbitrage Fund-Growth-(Regular 
Plan) (Non-Demat) -   -   1,526,931 454.60

HDFC Arbitrage Fund - Wholesale Plan - 
Regular Plan - Growth -   -   1,780,221 500.01

HDFC Liquid Fund - Regular Plan - Growth 
(Non-Demat) -   -   24,962 1172.71

HDFC Liquid Fund-Direct Plan-Growth Option 
(IIFL) 2,188.21 111.46 394 18.70

HDFC Money Market Fund Regular Plan - 
Growth 36.44 2.04 -   0.00

HSBC Corporate Bond Fund - Direct Growth 
(Formerly known as L&T Triple Ace Bond 
Fund Direct Plan - Growth)

-   -   152,826 106.98

ICICI Prudential Equity Arbitrage Fund - 
Growth (Non-Demat) -   -   1,609,712 506.17

ICICI Prudential Liquid Fund - Growth 1,737.28 6.61 5,278 18.70
ICICI Prudential Liquid Fund - Growth (Non-
Demat) DLH0387 -   -   330,912 1172.67

ICICI Prudential Liquid Fund Direct Plan - 
Growth (IIFL) 12,845.74 49.31 87,155 308.86
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Particulars

 Number Of 
Units 
 As at  

31.03.2025 

 Amount 
 As at 

31.03.2025 

 Number Of 
Units 
 As at 

31.03.2024 

 Amount 
 As at  

31.03.2024 

 (Nos.)  (Rs.in Lacs)  (Nos.)  (Rs.in Lacs) 
ICICI Prudential Money Market Fund - Growth 622.77 2.32 -   0.00
IDFC Corporate Bond Fund Direct Plan-
Growth -   -   654,945 116.72

Kotak Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth 
(Regular Plan) (Non-Demat) -   -   1,457,390 499.95

Margin Bank Balance - Sanctum Wealth 1.00 0.00 -   0.00
Mirae Asset Cash Management Fund - Direct 
Plan -   -   229 5.83

Mirae Asset Liquid Fund Direct Plan (IIFL) 453.78 12.43 -   0.00
Motilal Oswal Liquid Fund Direct Plan - 
Growth 383,083.87 52.57 -   0.00

Nippon India Dynamic Bond Fund - Growth 
Plan -   -   352,533 118.01

Nippon India ETF Nifty 1D Rate Liquid Bees 
IDCW Daily 8,352.75 80.52 -   0.00

Nippon India Liquid Fund Direct Plan - Growth 
Plan Growth Option 10.14 0.64 -   -   

NIPPON INDIA LIQUID FUND DIRECT-
GROWTH-PLAN-GROWTH 443.96 27.83 60.07 3.51 

NIPPON INDIA MONEY MARKET FUND - 
GROWTH PLAN GROWTH OPTION -   -   989.30 37.39 

UTI Liquid Fund Direct Plan 305.64 12.99 -   -   
UTI Low Duration Fund Regular Plan 3,809.12 132.39 -   -   
UTI Money Market Fund Regular Plan 937.17 28.35 -   -   
UTI Treasury Advantage Fund - Regular 
Growth Plan -   -   3,809.12 122.87 

Aggregate market value of quoted investments 519.47 5,467.52 

Note No.9-TRADE RECEIVABLES

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
UNSECURED: CONSIDERED GOOD
(a) Trade Receivables considered good - Secured;  878.46  1,635.63 
(b)Trade Receivables considered good - 

Unsecured;
(c)	 Trade Receivables which have 

significant increase in Credit 
Risk; and

(d) Trade Receivables - credit impaired.
	 (Note No. 36 for information about credit risk 

and market risk and Note No.37 for Age-wise 
Analysis.)

 878.46  1,635.63 
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Note No.10 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Balances with Banks  786.99  1,295.18 
Deposits with Bank (Having Original Maturity 
less than 3 Months)  2.00  1,621.77 

Cash in hand  3.38  2.98 
 792.37  2,919.93 

Note No.11 - OTHER BANK BALANCES	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
For Unclaimed Dividend  31.48  33.33 
(Earmarked for payment of unclaimed dividend)
On Term Deposits  2.50  185.73 
(With original maturity of more than three 
months but less than twelve months)(under 
lien) 

 33.98  219.06 

Note No.12 - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Current
Unsecured : Considered good
Interest Receivables  3.48  7.62 
Dividend Receivable  5.88  5.88 
Security Deposits  61.37  298.52 
Receivable from Statutory Authorities  12.00  12.00 
Other Receivable  0.38  0.38 

 83.11  324.41 

Note No.13 - CURRENT TAX ASSETS	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Advance Income Tax   131.02  (131.73)

Note No.14 - OTHER CURRENT ASSETS	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Unsecured : Considered good

Prepaid Expenses  40.40  42.13 
Advances for Supply of Goods & Services  340.31  2,346.01 
Balances with Statutory Authorities  889.68  1,104.01 
Advances and Deposits  58.29  48.23 

 -    1,328.67  -    3,540.38 
 1,328.67  3,540.38 
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Note No.15 - EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Authorised
8500000 Equity Shares of Rs.10 Each  850.00  850.00 

 850.00  850.00 
Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up
2650000 Equity Shares of Rs.10 Each Fully Paid-
up *  265.00  265.00 

* There were no changes in number of shares during the years ended 31st March, 2025 and 31st March, 
2024	 			 

(a)	 The Company has one class of Equity Shares having a par value of Rs.10/- per share. Each shareholder 
is eligible for one vote per share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject 
to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting except in case of 
interim dividend. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the 
remaining assets of the company, after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to their 
shareholding.

(b)	 Details of shareholders holding more than 5 percent of the aggregate shares in the Company:

Particulars

 As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
 No. of 
Shares 

held 

 % of 
Holding 

 No. of 
Shares 

held 

 % of 
Holding 

Oxbow Calcining LLC, USA  812,377  30.66  812,377  30.66 
Shree Shyam Orchid Estates Ltd  699,970  26.41  699,970  26.41 
Anita Himatsingka  209,615  7.91  209,615  7.91 
Shaurya Veer Himatsingka  237,431  8.96  237,431  8.96 

Share held by  Promoters at the end of the Year

S. 
No Promoters Name

 No.of 
Shares 

held at the 
beginning 

 % of 
Shares 

held at the 
beginning 

 No.of 
Shares held 

at the end of 
the Year 

 % of 
Shares 

held at the 
End 

 % of Change 
in the 

shareholding, 
if any 

1 Sri Rakesh Himatsingka 10,445 0.39 10,445 0.39          -   
2 Smt.Anita Himatsingka 209,615 7.91 209,615 7.91          -   
3 Smt.Maalika Himatsingka 24,975 0.95 24,975 0.95          -   
4 Smt.Sonal H Modi 36,492 1.38 36,492 1.38          -   

5 Sri Shaurya Veer 
Himatisingka 237,431 8.96 237,431 8.96          -   

6 Smt.Ridhdhima 
S.V.Himatsingka 92,860 3.50 92,860 3.50          -   

7 Shree Shyam Orichid Estates 
Limited 699,970 26.41 699,970 26.41          -   
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Note No.16 - OTHER EQUITY

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
RESERVES & SURPLUS
Securities Premium Reserve  75.00  75.00 
Retained Earnings  37,027.00  38,371.02 
General Reserve  3,188.06  3,188.06 
OTHER RESERVES
Capital Reserves  0.06  0.06 
Capital Redemption Reserve  20.00  20.00 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  12,874.77  10,259.16 

 53,184.89  51,913.30 

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at  31.03.2024 
RETAINED EARNINGS - MOVEMENT DURING 
THE YEAR
As per Last Financial Statements 38,371.02 35,468.51 
Add: Balance in Statement of Profit & Loss (1,274.18) 3,028.25 
Add: Realized profit on sale of Investments 
transferred from OCI                       -                         -   

37,096.84 38,496.77 
Less: Dividends on Equity Shares for the year 
2023-24 53.00 106.00 

37,043.84 38,390.77 
Add: Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plans 
transferred from OCI (16.84) (19.75)

37,027.00 38,371.02 
GENERAL RESERVE - MOVEMENT DURING 
THE YEAR
As per Last Financial Statements 3,188.06 3,188.06 
CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE - 
MOVEMENT DURING THE YEAR
As per Last Financial Statements 20.00 20.00 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - 
MOVEMENT DURING THE YEAR
Equity Instruments through Other 
Comprehensive Income 15,060.34 11,650.65 

Less:: Income Tax thereon 2,169.94 1,374.65 
Less: Realized profit on sale of Investments(OCI) 
transferred to Reatined Earnings                       -   12,890.40                       -   10,276.00 

Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plans (16.84) (45.64)
Add: Current Year OCI (Net of Tax) (15.63) (19.75)
Less:: Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plans 
transferred to Retained earnings 16.84 (19.75)

(15.63) (9.05) (16.84)
12,874.77 10,259.16 
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Nature and purpose of each Reserve

Securities Premium Reserve

Premium received on equity shares are recognised in the securities premium account. This reserve may 
be utilised in accordance with the provisions of Section 52 of the Companies Act 2013.

Retained Earnings

Retained earning includes revaluation reserve amounting to Rs. 65.24 Lacs created on revaluation of 
freehold land and two buildings done on 30th September 1985 by approved valuers. The aforementioned 
revaluation reserve is not a free reserve as per the Companies Act, 2013 and hence is not available for 
distribution of dividend.

General Reserve

Under  the erstwhile Indian Companies Act 1956, a general reserve was created through an annual 
transfer of net income at a specified percentage in accordance with applicable regulations, to ensure 
that if a dividend distribution in a given year is more than 10% of the paid up capital of the Company for 
that year. Consequent to introduction of Companies Act 2013, the requirement to mandatorily transfer 
a specified percentage of the net profit to general reserve has been withdrawn.

Capital Redemption Reserve

The Act requires that where a Company redeems its preference shares out of free reserves, a sum equal 
to the nominal value of the shares so redeemed shall be transferred to Capital Redemption Reserve 
Account. This reserve may be applied by the Company in issuing fully paid bonus shares. The Company 
established this reserve pursuant to the redemption of preference shares issued in earlier years,

Note No.17 - PROVISIONS	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
NON-CURRENT
Provision for Employee Benefits  39.88  41.29 
(Refer Note No.34)

Note No.18 - DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (NET)					   

Significant Component and movement in Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities during the Year 

Nature - Liability / (Assets)
 Balance Sheet  Statement of Profit and 

Loss 
 As At 

31.03.2025 
 As At 

31.03.2024 
 Year ended 
31.03.2025 

 Year ended 
31.03.2024 

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Arising out of:
Temporary difference in depreciable assets 17.68 19.23 (1.55) (0.77)
Investment (Equity Instruments) through Other 
Comprehensive Income 2,169.94 1,374.65 795.29 814.10 

Investment (Mutual Funds) through Profit and 
Loss 653.69 533.74 119.95 299.55 

2,841.31 1,927.62 913.69 1,112.88 
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Nature - Liability / (Assets)
 Balance Sheet  Statement of Profit and 

Loss 
 As At 

31.03.2025 
 As At 

31.03.2024 
 Year ended 
31.03.2025 

 Year ended 
31.03.2024 

Deferred Tax Assets
Loans and Advances                       -                         -                         -                         -   
Employee Benefits 15.12 16.31 (1.19) 3.22 
Business Loss - -                       -                         -   
MAT Credit 1,623.55 1,676.82 (53.26) 967.66 
 Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plans 
through Other Comprehensive Income 3.54 9.05 (5.51) 14.80 

1,642.21 1,702.17 (59.97) 985.67 
1,199.10 225.45 973.65 127.21 

Reconciliation of Deferred Tax liabilities (net)

Particulars  As at     
31.03.2025 

 As at     
31.3.2024 

Opening Balance  225.46  98.24 
Tax Expense during the period recognised in Statement of Profit 
and Loss  172.85  (672.09)

Tax Expense during the period recognised through OCI  800.80  799.31 
Closing Balance

 1,199.10  225.46 

Note No.18.1 - INCOME TAX EXPENSE	

Particulars  As at     
31.03.2025 

 As at     
31.3.2024 

A. Tax Expense recognised in Profit or Loss
Current Tax
Current Tax on profit for the Year  -    475.28 
Adjustment for current Tax of earlier years (MAT Credit)  -  - 
In respect of the current years  -    475.29 
In respect of the prior years  (5.12)  (137.11)

 (5.12)  338.19 
Deferred Tax 
In respect of the current years  172.85  (179.71)
In respect of the prior years  -    (492.38)

 172.85  (672.09)
B. Tax on Other Comprehensive Income

Remeasurements on Post-employment Defined Benefit Plans  (5.51)  14.80 
Equity Instruments through OCI  795.29  814.10 

 (800.80)  828.89 
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Note No.18.2 - NUMERICAL RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAX EXPENSE TO PRIMA FACIE TAX 
PAYABLE

Particulars  As at     
31.03.2025 

 As at     
31.3.2024 

Profit before Income Tax Expense  (1,106.44)  2,694.34 
Enacted Statutory Income Tax Rate in India applicable to the 
Company 17.47% 17.47%

Computed Expected Income Tax Expense  (193.32)  470.75 
Adjustments:
Impact of employee benefit provisions, not funded  1.19  (3.22)
Impact of depreciation difference between IT and Accounts  (1.55)  (0.77)
Adjustment for current Tax of earlier years (MAT Credit)
Income exempt from Income Taxes  -    -   
Impact of appreciation in value of investment in mutual funds 
through profit and loss  119.95  299.55 

Brought Forward Business Loss  -    -   
MAT Credit to be Carried Forward  1,623.55  (967.66)
Impact of expenses relating to exempt income
Impact of appreciation in value of investment in equity shares 
through OCI
Others  (5.12)  (131.87)
Income Tax Expense  1,544.72  (333.23)

Note No.19 - BORROWINGS	

Particulars  As at     
31.03.2025 

 As at     
31.3.2024 

CURRENT
Secured
From Banks
Cash Credit (repayable on demand) *  -    -   
Buyers Credit Arrangements (in foreign currency) **  -    -   
Working Capital Demand Loan (WCDL)  5,200.00  -   
* Secured Loans from Banks are secured by way of hypothecation 
of Stocks, Stores, Book Debts and equitable mortgage of Fixed 
Assets of the Company. Cash Credit is repayable on demand and 
carries floating interest @ 1 Year MCLR + 1.05% p.a (31.3.2024 @ 1 
Year MCLR + 1.05%  p.a.) for  UCO Bank, 1 Year MCLR + 1.10% P.A 
for Axis Bank (31.3.2024 @ 1 Year MCLR + 1.10%  p.a.), 6 Month 
MCLR + Spread 0.50% (31.03.2024 REPO + 2.75 % p.a for ICICI 
Bank, and 3M T Bill + 175 bps for HDFC Bank (31.03.2024 @  3M T 
Bill +175 bps).
** The buyers' credit is repayable during the year NIL   (31.03.2024 
was NIL)  and hypothecation of stocks and book debts, both 
present and future.
Note No.36 For information about liquidity risk and market risk 
on borrowings.  

 5,200.00  -   
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Note: The Company has an authorised Preference Shares - 150000 shares of Rs. 100/- each.

Note: The quaterly returns or statements of current asset filed by the company with banks are in agreement 
with the books of account. 

Note No.20 - TRADE PAYABLES

Particulars  As at     
31.03.2025 

 As at     
31.3.2024 

Total outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises  305.99  107.01 
Total outstanding dues of Creditors other than Micro Enterprises 
and Small Enterprises  185.06  209.40 

 491.05  316.41 
Details of dues to Micro, Medium and Small Enterprises as    
per Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act, 2006, based on the available information with 
the Company are as under:
Principal amount as at the end of the year  305.99  107.01 
Interest thereon as at the end of the year  -    -   
Amount paid beyond the respective due date during the year  -    -   
Interest paid thereon in terms of Sec.16 during the year  -    -   
(Refer Note No.38 for age wise Analalysis of Trade Payable)

Note No.21 - OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES	

Particulars  As at     
31.03.2025 

 As at     
31.3.2024 

Current Maturities of Long-term Debt  -    -   
Interest Accrued on borrowings  8.19  -   
Unclaimed Dividends *  31.48  33.33 
Statutory Dues  38.61  16.01 
Subjudiced Adhoc Refund of Excise Incentive against furnishing 
solvent surety  -    -   

Other Payables  182.18  231.10 
Education Cess and Higher Education Cess on Excise Incentive 
-Refundable (Note No:-44)  63.42  63.42 

 323.88  343.86 
* Represents dividend amounts not claimed.

Note No.22 - OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES	

Particulars  As at     
31.03.2025 

 As at     
31.3.2024 

Advances received from Customers  12.96  44.98 
Other Payables  -    -   

 12.96  44.98 
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Note No.23 - PROVISIONS	

Particulars  As at     
31.03.2025 

 As at     
31.3.2024 

CURRENT
Provision for Employee Benefits  36.42  53.32 
(Refer Note No.34)

 36.42  53.32 

Note No.24 - REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS	

Particulars  As at  31.03.2025  As at 31.03.2024 
Sale of Products: 
Calcined Petroleum Coke  15,024.83  38,471.64 
Electrode Carbon Paste  2,391.13  3,343.53 
Thermal Carbon (Tamping) Paste  37.01  36.49 
Desiccated Petroleum Coke Powder  -    187.46 

 17,452.97  42,039.12 
Other Operating Revenues
Conversion Charges  -    -   

 17,452.97  42,039.12 

Note No.25 - OTHER INCOME	

Particulars  Year ended 31.03.2025  Year ended 31.03.2024 
Interest Income

From Banks                18.88                52.36 
From Others                  2.78                21.66                31.89                84.25 
Dividend Income                46.55                40.41 
Net Loss (Gain) on Foreign Currency 
transactions and translation

               11.27 (27.72)

Rent                  5.89                  9.79 
Bad Debts Recovered                  0.00                     -   
Earlier Years Adjustments                29.13                24.14 
Liability no longer required written back                  2.86                  0.82 
Refunds & claims recd                50.96 191.22 
(Includes refund of IGST Rs. 50,96,391 previous 
year - Rs.1,89,33,407) 
Miscellaneous Receipts                47.03 166.24 
Other Income from Investment                85.40                91.42 
Net Gain / (Loss) on Sale of Investments 345.25 289.56 
Net Gain on Investment measured at fair value 
through profit or loss

987.37 2,838.43 

Net Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets                  1.39 1,566.56                  0.69 3,584.59 
1,634.77 3,709.25 
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Note No.26 - COST OF MATERIALS  CONSUMED

Particulars  Year ended 31.03.2025  Year ended 31.03.2024 
Opening Stock  2,705.42  9,590.90 
Add: Purchases

Raw Petroleum Coke  10,544.55  16,647.40 
Calcined Petroleum Coke  3,550.60  5,983.70 
Pitch  536.63  802.28 
Others  369.45  432.77 
RM-GCA Coal  349.43  15,350.65  47.44  23,913.58 

 18,056.07  33,504.48 
Deduct: Cost of Materials Sold  -    -   
Deduct: Closing Stock  4,440.23  2,705.42 
  Cost of Materials Consumed

Raw Petroleum Coke  8,713.53  22,880.64 
Calcined Petroleum Coke  3,642.33  6,653.72 
Pitch  529.26  800.27 
Others  730.72  464.43 

 13,615.84  30,799.06 

Note No.27 - CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS		

Particulars  Year ended 31.03.2025  Year ended 31.03.2024 
Opening Inventory  5,019.89  11,251.20 
Less: Closing Inventory  3,353.60  5,019.89 

 1,666.29  6,231.31 

Note No.28 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE	

Particulars  Year ended 31.03.2025  Year ended 31.03.2024 
Salaries and Wages      941.70  1,005.14 
Contribution to Provident and other Funds  81.44  79.87 
Staff Welfare Expenses  73.08  55.13 

 1,096.22  1,140.14 

Note No.29 - FINANCE COSTS	

Particulars  Year ended 31.03.2025  Year ended 31.03.2024 
Interest Expense  133.34  345.73 
Other Borrowing Costs  43.42  63.14 

 176.76  408.87 
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Note No.30 - OTHER EXPENSES	

Particulars  Year ended 31.03.2025  Year ended 31.03.2024 
Stores, Spare-parts and Packing Materials 192.63 253.72 
Power, Fuel and Water 424.81 429.36 
Carriage and Handling 501.80 679.29 
Repairs and Maintenance to Buildings                39.82                34.54 
Repairs and Maintenance to Machinery 233.94 282.52 
Repairs and Maintenance to Others 183.02 268.56 
Insurance                47.94                49.03 
Rent                  6.68                  6.35 
Rates and Taxes                36.62                48.85 
Miscellaneous Expenses

Freight and Forwarding 1,028.51 1,476.24 
Advertisement and Publicity                  1.30                  2.80 
Travelling, Transport and Conveyance 159.02 143.28 
Professional and Legal Expenses  172.07 191.17 
Donations and Subscriptions                40.11                25.17 
Corporate Social Responsibility                99.50 113.84 
Establishment Expenses              212.19 227.61 
Board Meeting Fees                12.75                  9.70 
Bad Debts / Advances written off 0.00 1,725.45                  5.00 2,194.81 

Auditors’ Remuneration
As Auditors                  2.00                  2.00 
For Other Audits and Certifications                  0.19                  2.19                  0.70                  2.70 

3,394.90 4,249.75 

Note No.31 - EARNING PER EQUITY SHARES

Particulars  Year ended 31.03.2025  Year ended 31.03.2024 
(A) Basic

(i) Number of Equity Shares at the beginning 
of the year 2,650,000 2,650,000 

(ii) Number of Equity Shares at the end of the 
year 2,650,000 2,650,000 

(iii) Weighted Average Number of Equity Shares 
outstanding the Year 2,650,000 2,650,000 

(iv) Face Value of each Shares (Rs.)                     10                     10 

(v) Profit after Tax Available for Equity 
Shareholders
Profit for the Year (1,274.18) 3,028.25 

(vi) Basic earning per Equity Shares (Rs.) [(v)/(iii)] (48.08) 114.27 
(B) Diluted
(i) Dilutive Potential Equity Shares                     -                       -   

(ii) Dilutive Earnings per Equity Shares (Rs.) 
[Same as (A)(vi)above] (48.08) 114.27 
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Note No.32 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (To the extent not provided for)

Particulars  Year ended 
 31.03.2025 

 Year ended 
 31.03.2024 

Contingent Liabilities
Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts;

Central Sales Tax , W.B.VAT and GST                  3.43                  3.43 
GST                     -                  11.83 
Employees State Insurance                15.54                15.54 
Entry Tax              395.76              395.76 
Railway Authorities              109.30              109.30 

It is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 
required to settle the obligations and therefore,  no provision is 
considered necessary.
Indemnity Bonds/Guarantees through Banks               961.53            2,092.65 
(against which FD amounting to Rs  97.01 Lacs lodged with 
Banks)

Note No.33 - RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE
List of related parties

Key Management Personnel 
    Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, Managing Director
    Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka, Joint Managing Director
    Mr. Bhaskar Rakshit, Company Secretary
    Mr. Vinod Kumar Agarwal, Chief Finance Officer

Company/Trust in which Directors are interested as Director in
Assam Carbon Products Ltd.
Budge Budge Carbon Private Limited
Upper Assam Petro Coke Pvt. Limited
New Age Pet Coke Pvt Limited

Particulars
 Year ended  
 31.03.2025 

 Rs. 

 Year ended  
 31.03.2024 

 Rs. 
Detail of Transactions taken place with Key Management 
Personnel
Nature of Transactions
Remuneration of :
Managing Director                90.42                84.21 
Joint Managing Director                84.69                78.23 
Company Secretary                  7.83                  7.55 
Chief Finance Officer                31.32                33.07 
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Outstanding Payable
 As at  

31.03.2025 
 Rs. 

 As at  
31.03.2024 

 Rs. 
    Mr. Rakesh Himatsingka, Managing Director                21.07                19.92 
    Mr. Shaurya Veer Himatsingka, Joint Managing Director                18.00                12.48 
    Company Secretary                  0.44                  0.59 
    Chief Finance Officer                  2.16                  3.73 

The Company has sold goods amounting to Rs.18.50 Lacs (2023-24 - Rs.3.88 Lacs) , received Rent 
amounting to Rs. 5.78 Lacs ( 2023-24 Rs.6.00 Lacs) and  Deputation of service amounting Rs 3.00 Lacs 
(2023-24 - Rs NIL) from Assam Carbon Products Ltd  Balance outstanding as on 31.3.2025 Rs.3.23 Lacs 
(2023-24 Rs.Nil)

The Company has purchased goods amounting to Rs. 277.96 Lacs (2023-24 - Rs.538.01 Lacs) and sold 
goods amounting Rs NIL (2023-24 - Rs 245.00 Lacs) and provided technical assistance for Rs. 10 Lacs 
(2023-24 Rs. 10 Lacs) from Upper Assam Petro Coke Pvt. Limited Balance outstanding as on 31.3.2025  
Rs.NIL(2023-24  Rs. NIL)

The Company has purchased goods amounting to Rs. 465.05 Lacs (2023-24 Rs 2079.33 Lacs) and sold 
goods amounting Rs 70.40 Lacs (2023-24 - NIL) and provided technical assistance for Rs.10.00 Lacs (2023-
24 Rs  10 Lacs)  from New Age Pet Coke Pvt. Limited Balance outstanding as on 31.3.2025 Rs. 45.67 Lacs    
(2023-24 Rs. Nil)

34.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

I.	 Post Employment Defined Benefit Plans :

(A) Gratuity (Funded)

	 The Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan covering eligible 
employees. As per the plan, the Gratuity Fund Trusts, administered and managed by the 
Trustees and is funded by the Company to make payment to vested employees at retirement, 
death, incapacitation or termination of employment, of an amount based on the respective 
employee’s salary and the tenure of employment. Vesting occurs upon completion of five 
years of service. The Trustees are responsible for the overall governance of the plan and to 
act in accordance with the provisions of the trust deed and rules in the best interests of 
the plan participants. Each year an Asset-Liability matching study is performed in which the 
consequences of the strategic investment policies are analysed in terms of risk and return 
profiles. Investment and contribution policies are integrated within this study. Liabilities with 
regard to the Gratuity Plan are determined by actuarial valuation as set out in Note 2 based 
upon which, the Company makes contributions to the Employees’ Gratuity Funds.	
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The following table sets forth the particulars in respect of the Gratuity Plan (Funded) of the Company :

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

(a)
Reconciliation of opening and closing 
balances of the present value of the 
Defined Benefit Obligation :

Present value of obligation at the 
beginning of the year 297.04 280.02

Current service cost 21.06 22.05
Interest cost 18.76 18.17
Past Service cost 0.00 0.00
Remeasurement Losses

Actuarial losses arising from changes in 
financial assumptions 3.56 4.76

Actuarial losses arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions                     -   (0.08)

Actuarial losses arising from changes in 
experience adjustments                (7.55) 10.64

Benefits paid               (41.41)               (38.52)
Present value of obligation at the end of the 
year 291.46 297.04

(b) Reconciliation of opening and closing 
balances of the fair value of Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning 
of the year 249.11 249.83

Interest income 16.91 18.19
Remeasurement Gains

Return on plan assets (excluding interest 
income)               (14.11) (10.57)

Contribution from employer 47.93 30.18
Benefits paid               (41.41)               (38.52)
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the 
year 258.43 249.11

(c)
Reconciliation of the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation and the fair 
value of plan assets

Present value of obligation at the end of 
the year 291.46 314.06

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the 
year 258.43 248.39

Liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 33.03 65.67
(d) Actual Return on plan assets 2.80 7.62

(e) Expense recognised in the other 
comprehensive income

Remeasurement losses / (gain) 10.12               (25.89)
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31 March 2025 31 March 2024
(f) Expenses recognised in Profit or Loss

Current service cost 21.06 22.05
Net Interest cost (Income)                  1.85                (0.01)
Total * 22.91 22.04
*Recognised under Contribution to 
Provident and Other Funds (Note 28)

(g) Category of plan assets
Funded with Gratuity Fund Trust 100% 100%

(h) Maturity profile of defined benefit 
obligation

1st year 45.18 51.64
2-5 years 111.92 115.93
6-10 years 138.45 109.92
More than 10 years 227.21 275.18

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
(i) Principal actuarial assumptions

Discount Rate 6.79% 6.97%
Salary growth rate 6.00% 6.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality 
experience are based on mortality tables 
of 'Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2012-
2014 ultimate) published by the Institute of 
Actuaries of India for both years.
The estimate of future salary increases takes 
into account inflation, seniority, promotion 
and other relevant factors, such as demand 
and supply in the employment market.

Changes in 
assumption

Impact on 
defined benefit 

obligation
31 March 2025

Impact on 
defined benefit 

obligation
31 March 2024

(j) Sensitivity analysis

Discount rate Increase by 1 % Decrease by 
Rs. 9.70

Decrease by 
Rs. 10.32

Decrease by 1 % Increase by 
Rs.10.35

Increase by 
Rs.11.03

Salary growth rate Increase by 1 % Increase by 
Rs.9.82

Increase by 
Rs.10.69

Decrease by 1 % Decrease by 
Rs. 9.48

Decrease by 
Rs. 10.08
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31 March 2025 31 March 2024
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions 
may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant 
actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated 
with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when 
calculating the defined benefit obligation recognised in the Balance Sheet.
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the prior periods.

(k) The company expects to contribute Rs.55.48 Lacs (Previous Year Rs.73.83 Lacs ) the funded gratuity 
plan during the next financial year.
(B) Provident fund
Contributions towards provident funds are recognised as expense for the year. The Company has 
set up Provident Fund Trusts in respect of employees which are administered by Trustees. Both the 
employees and the Company make monthly contributions to the Funds at specified percentage 
of the employee’s salary and aggregate contributions along with interest thereon are paid to the 
employees/nominees at retirement, death or cessation of employment. The Trusts invest funds 
following a pattern of investments prescribed by the Government. The interest rate payable to the 
members of the Trusts is not lower than the rate of interest declared annually by the Government 
under The Employees’ Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and shortfall, if any, 
on account of interest is to be made good by the Company.
In view of the Company’s obligation to meet shortfall, if any, on account of interest, Provident Fund 
trusts set up by the Company are treated as defined benefit plans.
During the year, the Company’s contribution of Rs. 34.04 Lacs (Previous year – Rs. 31.73 Lacs ) to the 
Provident Fund Trusts has been expensed under the ‘Contribution to Provident and Other Funds’ in 
Note 28.

II.	 Post Employment Defined Contribution Plans

(A) 	Superannuation Fund

	 Certain categories of employees of the Company participate in superannuation, a defined 
contribution plan administered by the Trustees. The Company makes annual contributions 
based on a specified percentage of each covered employee’s salary. The Company has no 
further obligations under the plan beyond its annual contributions.

(B) 	The Employees Pension Scheme 1995

	 The employees of the Company received benefits from the above mentioned scheme, a 
defined contribution plan. The employer makes monthly contributions to a Government 
administered fund at specified percentage. The Company has no further obligation under 
the plan beyond its monthly contributions.

	 During the year the Company has made contribution amounting to Rs. 19.12 Lacs (Previous 
Year Rs.20.56 Lacs ) has been recognised as expenditure.

III. 	 Leave Obligations

	 The Company provides for accumulation of leave by its employees. These employees can carry 
forward a portion of the unutilised leave balances and utilise it in future periods or receive cash 
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(only in case of earned leave) in lieu thereof as per the Company’s policy. The Company records 
a provision for leave obligations in the period in which the employee renders the services that 
increases this entitlement.

	 The total provision recorded by the Company towards this obligation was Rs. 43.27 Lacs (Previous 
Year - Rs.46.68 Lacs ). The amount of the provision is presented as current, since the Company 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, 
based on past experience, the Company does not expect all employees to take the full amount 
of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 months.

Particulars 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024
Leave provision not expected to be settled within the next 12 
months

39.88 41.29

IV. 	 Risk Exposure
	 Through its defined benefit plans, the Company is exposed to some risks, the most significant of 

which are detailed below:
	 Discount Rate Risk
	 The Company is exposed to the risk of fall in discount rate. A fall in discount rate will eventually 

increase the ultimate cost of providing the above benefit thereby increasing the value of the 
liability.

	 Salary Growth Risks
	 The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future 

salaries of plan participants. An increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the 
plan liability.

	 Demographic Risk
	 In the valuation of the liability, certain demographic (mortality and attrition rates) assumptions 

are made. The Company is exposed to this risk to the extent of actual experience eventually 
being worse compared to the assumptions thereby causing an increase in the benefit cost.

Note No.35 - Fair Value Measurements

Financial Instruments by category Note
No.

As at 31.03.2025
Carrying Amount 

/ Fair Value

As at 31.03.2024
Carrying Amount 

/ Fair Value
Financial Assets
Assets Carried at Fair Value through Profit or Loss / OCI
Investments
    Equity Instrument 4 14972.58 11561.46 
    Mutual Funds 4,8 19071.26 16365.28 
Assets Carried at Amortised Cost
    Trade Receivables 9 878.44 1635.63 
    Cash and Cash Equivalents 10 792.37 2919.93 
    Other Bank Balances 11 33.98 219.06 
    Other Financial Assets 5,12 226.62 381.39 
Total Financial Assets 35975.25 33082.75 
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Financial Instruments by category Note
No.

As at 31.03.2025
Carrying Amount 

/ Fair Value

As at 31.03.2024
Carrying Amount 

/ Fair Value
Financial Liabilities
Liabilities Carried at Amortised Cost
Borrowings 18 5,200.00 0.00 
Trade Payables 19 491.05 316.41 
Other Financial Liabilities 20 323.88 343.86 
Total Financial Liabilities 6014.93 660.26 

* Amounts are below the rounding off norm adopted by the Company

(ii) 	 Fair Values

	 The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. Methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair values are consistent 
with those used for the year ended 31st March, 2025.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

(a) 	 In respect of investments in mutual funds, the fair values represent net asset value as stated by 
the issuers of these mutual fund units in the published statements. Net asset values represent the 
price at which the issuer will issue further units in the mutual fund and the price at which issuers 
will redeem such units from the investors. Accordingly, such net asset values are analogous to fair 
market value with respect to these investments, as transactions of these mutual funds are carried 
out at such prices between investors and the issuers of these units of mutual funds.

(b) 	 The fair value of foreign exchange future contracts is determined using closing exchange rates at 
the Balance Sheet date.(As on 31st March 2025 there is no outstanding dues in foreign currency).

(c) 	 The management assessed that fair values, of trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other 
bank balances, other financial assets (current), investments in commercial papers, trade payables, 
borrowings (current) and other financial liabilities (current), approximate to their carrying amounts 
largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

For financial assets carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are equal to their fair values.

(iii) 	Fair Value Hierarchy

	 The Company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels 
as at the end of the reporting period. There are no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value 
measurements during the year ended 31st March, 2025 and 31st March, 2024.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31st March, 2025 	 (` in Lacs)



Notice Statutory Report Financial Section

Annual Report 2024-25 || 117

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Recognised and Measured at Fair Value - 
Recurring Measurements
Financial Assets
Equity Instrument 14972.58 11561.46 
Mutual Funds 19071.26 16365.28 
Foreign Exchange Future Contracts 0.00 0.00 

34043.84 0.00 0.00 27926.74 0.00 0.00 

Note No.36 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s business activities are exposed to a variety of risks including liquidity risk, credit risk 
and market risk. The Company seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of these risks by managing 
them through a structured process of identification, assessment and prioritization of risks followed by 
coordinated efforts to monitor, minimize and mitigate the impact of such risks on its financial performance 
and capital. For this purpose, the Company has laid comprehensive risk assessment and minimization/
mitigation procedures, which are reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board from 
time to time. These procedures are reviewed to ensure that executive management controls risks by way 
of properly defined framework. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for 
speculative purposes. The following table explains the sources of risk and how the entity manages the 
risk in its financial statements.The management reviews the status of all principal risks with a significant 
potential impact. Additionally, the Audit Committee carried out focused risk reviews of each Plant and 
divisions. These reviews included an analysis of both the principal risks, and the controls, monitoring and 
assurance processes established to mitigate those risks to acceptable levels. As a result of these reviews, 
a number of actions were identified to continue to improve internal controls and the management of risk.

              Exposure arising from Measurement Management
Credit Risk Cash and cash equivalents, trade 

receivables, financial assets 
measured at amortised cost

Ageing analysis, 
Credit analysis

Credit limits and 
letters of credit

Liquidity Risk Borrowings and other liabilities Cash Flow forecasts Credit facilities
Market Risk – foreign 
exchange

Recognised financial assets and 
liabilities not denominated in 
INR

Cash Flow forecasts Monitoring of 
currency movement.

Market Risk – interest 
rate

Long Term Borrowings/Liabilities ... Monitoring of interest 
rate movements

Market Risk – security 
prices

Investment in Securities ... Portfolio 
Management

A. 	 Credit Risk

	 Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counter party may not be able to settle their obligations 
as agreed. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, investment carried at amortised cost, 
deposit with banks and financing institutions as well as credit exposure to customer and other 
parties.	
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	 For banks and financial institutions, only high rated banks/institutions are accepted. For other financial 
assets, the entity assesses and manages credit risk based on internal credit evaluation. It monitors 
party-wise exposure and based on evaluation credit rating is allotted for each party. Thereafter a 
credit limit is assigned to each party depending on the solvency of the said party.		

	 The entity considers the probability of default on ongoing basis and at each reporting period. Micro-
economic information is incorporated as part of internal rating model.			 

	 In general, it is presumed that credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition if the 
payments are more than 180 days past due.

	 The ageing of Trade receivables i.e. receivables which are past due (net of allowances / provisions) are 
given below :

Age of receivables 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
1 – 30 days past dues 320.06 690.85 
31 – 60 days past dues 346.28                               -   
61 – 90 days past dues 155.96                               -   
91 – 180 days past dues 19.51                               -   
Above 180 days past dues 33.65 7.29 

B. 	 Liquidity Risk

	 The company objective is to at all times maintain optimum level of liquidity to meet its cash and 
collateral requirement at all times. The Company relies on Borrowing to meet its additional need 
for fund. The current committed lines of credit are sufficient to meet its short to medium term 
expansion needs and hence evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to liquidity as low. The 
Company monitors rolling forecasts of its liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to 
meet operational needs while maintaining headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities 
at all times so that Company does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where applicable ) on 
any of its borrowing facilities.	

	 The company is required to maintain debt equity ratio as mentioned in the loan agreements at 
specified levels. In the event to meet any ratios these become callable at the option of the lenders, 
except where exception is provided by lender.

C. 	 Market Risk

	 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instruments may fluctuate 
because of changes in market conditions. Market risk broadly comprises three types of risks namely 
currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk (for commodities or equity instruments).

(i) 	 Foreign Exchange Risk - The company transacts business by way of purchase of raw materials 
in local currency and foreign currency (primarily in US dollars). The Company takes buyer’s credit 
facility and is therefore exposed to foreign currency risk.

	 The Company manages its foreign currency risk by hedging appropriate percentage of its foreign 
currency exposure using Future Purchase Contracts. The Company does not have any liability in 
foreign currency at the end of the year and hence is not exposed to foreign currency risk.

(ii) 	 Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate exposure of the Company is mainly on Borrowing from Bank/
FI, which is linked to their prime lending rate and the Company does not foresee any risk on the 
same.
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(iii) Security Price Risk – (a) The Management invests its surplus funds in mutual funds operated by 
only high rated institutions. To manage price risk arising from investment in mutual funds, The 
Company diversifies its portfolio.

	 Sensitivity

	 The sensitivity of profit or loss to change in Net Assets Value (NAVs) at the year end for investments in 
mutual funds.

Age of receivables
Impact on profit before tax

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Sensitivity
NAV - Increase by 1% *  190.71  163.65 
NAV - Decrease by 1% *  190.71  163.65 

* Holding all other variables constant.	

Note No.37

Give age wise disclosure of trade receivable in the following manner :

Ageing from the Trade Receivable from the due date of payments of each of the category as at 31 st 
March 2025

Particulars

Outstanding for following periods from due date of 
payment

Less than 
6 months

6 Months  
1 Year

1 - 2 
Years

2 - 3 
Years

More than 
3 Years Total

(i)	 Un-Disputed Trade Receivables-
Considered Good

                                                                
720.74 

                          
151.92 

                           
2.62 

                        
-   

                                  
0.17 

                      
875.45 

(ii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables-Which 
have significant increase in credit risk

                                                                       
-   

                                  
-   

                              
-   

                        
-   

                                      
-   

                              
-   

(iii)	Undisputed Trade Receivables-Credit 
impaired 

                                                                       
-   

                                  
-   

                              
-   

                        
-   

                                      
-   

                              
-   

(iv)	Disputed Trade Receivables-Considered 
Goods

                                                                       
-   

                                  
-   

                              
-   

                        
-   

                                      
-   

                              
-   

(v)	 Disputed Trade Receivables-Which have 
significant increase in credit risk

                                                                       
-   

                                  
-   

                              
-   

                        
-   

                                      
-   

                              
-   

(vi)	Disputed Trade Receivables-Credit 
impaired 

                                                                       
-   

                                  
-   

                              
-   

                        
-   

                                      
-   

                              
-   

   ·     To disclose unbilled dues separately in 
the schedule.
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Ageing from the Trade Receivable from the due date of payments of each of the category as at 31 st 
March 2024

Particulars

Outstanding for following periods from due date of 
payment

Less than 
6 months

6 Months  
1 Year

1 - 2 
Years

2 - 3 
Years

More than 
3 Years Total

(i)	 Un-Disputed Trade Receivables-
Considered Goods  690.85  -   1.22  6.07  -   698.14 

(ii) 	 Undisputed Trade Receivables-Which have 
significant increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -   

(iii)	Undisputed Trade Receivables-Credit 
impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv)	Disputed Trade Receivables-Considered 
Goods  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(v) Disputed Trade Receivables-Which have 
significant increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(vi)	Disputed Trade Receivables-Credit 
impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -   

·	 To disclose unbilled dues separately in the schedule.	

Note No.38

o	 Total outstanding dues to MSME

o	 Total outstanding dues to other creditors

·         Give age wise disclosure of trade payable in the following manner :

	 Ageing from the Trade payable from the due date of payments of each of the category as at 31 st 
March 2025

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than 1 
Year 1 - 2 Years 2 -3 Years More than 3 

Years Total

Undisputed Dues
MSME 297.74 -   -                           -   297.74 
Others 155.84 8.50 7.90 12.82 185.06 
Disputed Dues
MSME -   -   8.25 8.25 
Others -   -   -   -   
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Ageing from the Trade payable from the due date of payments of each of the category as at 31 st March 
2024

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than 1 
Year 1 - 2 Years 2 -3 Years More than 3 

Years Total

Undisputed Dues
MSME 98.24 -   -                           -   98.24 
Others 209.15 -   -                           -   209.15 
Disputed Dues
MSME -   8.77 -                           -   8.77 
Others -   0.25 -                           -   0.25 

Note No.39 - Dividends on Equity Shares

(A) 	 Final Dividend for the year endded 31st March 2024 @ 20% i.e Rs. 2 per equity share on face value of 
Rs.10/- each totalling Rs. 53.00 Lacs spent during the Year.

(B) 	 The Board has not  recommended payment of Dividend for the Financial Year ended 31st March, 
2025.

Note No.40 As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
CSR (Corporate Social Responsibilites)
(a)	 Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during 

the year:- 92.91 113.83

(b)	Amount of expenditure incurred 99.50 113.84
(c)	 Shortfall at the end of the year (6.59) (0.01)
(d)	Total of previous year shortfall -                                 -   

(e) 	Nature of CSR Activities Administration 
and Construction

Administration 
and Construction

(f) 	 Detail of RPT e.g contribution to a trust controlled by the 
company in relation to CSR expenditure as per relevant 
accounting standard

Name of the Trust 
India Carbon Charitable Trust 9.00 58.62
Manav Kalyan Trust 89.85 38.20
(g) Provision is made with respect to a liability incurred by 

entering into a contractual obligation Nil Nil

Note No.41

Hon’ble Gauhati High Court on 1.9.2000  ordered for  winding up of  Him  Containers Limited (HCL) and  
appointed  Registrar  of Companies, Assam  as  the  official  liquidator of HCL. Consequently  there was 
diminution  in  the  value  of  Company’s  investments  in  HCL (in liquidation ) and also in  its  wholly  
owned  subsidiary  C & C Investments Limited (CCIL) whose  resources  are fully invested in HCL. Full 
provision was made for diminution in the value of such  investments and  also  advances  to CCIL, as 
extraordinary item, totaling Rs.247.96 Lacs by charge to Statement of Profit and Loss during the  year 
ended 31st March, 2001.					   
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Note-42

(a) 	 For Capital-work-in progress, following ageing schedule shall be given : 

	 CWIP ageing schedule

CWIP
Amount in CWIP for a period of Total 

Less than 1 
year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 

years Total 

Projects in progress 34.82 -   -   37.20 72.02 
Projects temporarily 
suspended -   -   -   

(b) 	 For capital-work -progress, whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its 
original plan, following CWIP completion schedule shall be given ** :

CWIP
To be completed in 

Less than 1 
year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 

years Total 

Project at Odisha  -    -    235.01  235.01 

Note -  43

Particulars April 1, 2024 Cash Flows Exchange 
Difference March 31, 2025

Borrowings
Secured
Loans Repayable on Demand from 
Banks
-Working Capital Demand Loan                     -   5,200.00 5,200.00 
Total Liabilities from financing 
activities -   5,200.00 -   5,200.00 

Particulars April 1, 2023 Cash Flows Exchange 
Difference March 31, 2024

Borrowings
Secured
Loans Repayable on Demand from 
Banks
-Cash Credit and Export Credit facilities                     -                       -                             -   
-Working Capital Demand Loan        11,500.00 (11,500.00)                           -   
Unsecured
Loans Repayable on Demand from 
Banks
-Cash Credit and Export Credit facilities
Buyers Credit                     -                       -   -                             -   
Total Liabilities from financing 
activities        11,500.00 (11,500.00) -                             -   
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Note-44

Hon’ble Supreme Court vide its Judgement dated 06th December,2019 in another case held that when 
a particular kind of duty is exempted, other types of duty or cess imposed by different legislation for 
a different purpose cannot be said to have been exempted and therefore, has over ruled its earlier 
Judgement dated 10th November,2017. Pursuant to this judgement the Company during the financial 
year 2019-20 recognized liability of Rs.63.42 Lacs on account of Education Cess and Higher Education 
Cess, which was earlier refunded during the financial year 2018-19 by reversal of Income and charging it 
off as expense in the financial year 2019-20. 

On 06th August,2020 the Joint Commissioner, GST & Central Excise Commissionerate, Guwahati issued 
Demand cum Show Cause Notice asking the Company to show cause as to why the Education Cess and 
Secondary and Higher Education Cess amounting to Rs.63.42 Lacs  refunded to the Company shall not be 
demanded back along with interest.

On 10th September,2020 the Company filed a Writ Petition before the Hon’ble Guwahati High Court 
challenging the said Demand cum Show Cause Notice, which was allowed by the Court on 12th 
March,2021 by setting aside the aforesaid Demand cum Show Cause Notice.	

Being aggrieved by the judgment dated 12th March,2021 of Hon’ble Guwahati High Court, the Department 
filed Appeals before the Division Bench of the High Court challenging the aforesaid judgment, which the 
Division Bench has dismissed on 08th October,2021.  

In the situation, the matter is still considered sub-judice and other costs associated with this, being 
indeterminate, will be considered in these accounts on finality.

Note-45

The Company had imported 10,000 MT of Raw Petroleum Coke (RPC) under Bill of Entry No. 4632598 
dated 10.07.2021. The Department of Customs and the Directorate of Revenue Intelligence (DRI) alleged 
that the said import was in violation of IS 17049 and seized the unused 4,510 MT of RPC lying at the 
Company’s factory premises and 45.79 MT lying at the port. The Commissioner (Appeals) has since issued 
an Order dated 16.04.2024 in favour of the Company and has directed release of the Company’s goods.  
Since the Customs Authorities have not yet released the goods, the Company has filed a Writ Petition 
before the Hon’ble High Court at Calcutta seeking release of aforesaid 45.79 MT lying at the port. The 
matter is sub judice, and the outcome is awaited

Note-46

The Company participated in an auction conducted by the Numaligarh Refinery Limited (NRL) on 
01.02.2023 for sale of Raw Petroleum Coke (RPC), where the company secured a bid for 5,000 MT of RPC 
and deposited the requisite Security Deposit of Rs.2.93 crores and made full payment of Rs 34.60 crores 
towards the value of the 5000 MT of RPC including GST in advance and commenced the lifting of RPC 
post the issuance of the  Delivery Order on 17.02.2023. However, on 27.03.2024, NRL abruptly suspended 
further RPC delivery effective  from 25.03.2023 to 15.05.2023, in violation of the contract terms as well 
as  the stipulated delivery timeline of 02.05.2023, leading the company to file a Writ Petition being WP(C 
) No.2702/2023 before the Hon’ble Gauhati High Court challenging the arbitrary and ad hoc stoppage 
of supply of RPC by NRL  and thereby seeking a refund of the Security Deposit of Rs. 2.93 crores and the 
amount of Rs. 19.47 crores for undelivered RPC quantity.

The Hon’ble Gauhati High Court issued an interim directive on 22.05.2023, restraining coercive measures 
against the company under clause 10(C)(2) of the Business Rule Document (BRD), which mandates 
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forfeiture of Security Deposit and material value for unlifted quantities. The company and NRL exchanged 
pleadings by filing respective rejoinders, replies etc. The case was listed for final argument on 29.04.2024 
and after hearing the case, the Hon’ble Gauhati High Court reserved the Judgement on 03.05.2024.

Subsequently, the judgment was pronounced on 30.05.2024 whereby the Hon’ble High Court decided 
the case in favour of the company and held that the company was entitled to refund of Security Deposits 
and balance purchase advance payments on account of failure by NRL in providing the contractually 
stipulated quantity of RPC.

In compliance of the aforementioned judgment, NRL refunded Rs.22.40 crores to the company on 
18.09.2024,covering the Security Deposit and advance payment for the undelivered material.

Note-47  - Previous year’s figures have been re arranged/ re - grouped wherever necessary in order to 
conform to this year’s presentation.
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